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INTRODUCTION

In the present business environment, the company law is the principal law
affecting the organization, administration and management of corporate business.
Initially, this law was applicable to joint stock companies only but now its scope
has widened. According to the traditional view, company law is concerned with
the organization and functioning of joint stock companies, their constitution and
their management, and eventually with the manner of their dissolution. The text
book titled “Indian Company Act” includes various important topics related to
company, incorporation and commencement of business, detail study of
memorandum of association, articles of association and prospectus, share capital,
directors, and majority powers and minority rights.

Company refers to a voluntary association formed and organized to carry
on a business. This is an organization or collection of individuals, whether natural
persons, legal persons or both. One Person Company means a company which
has only one member. It shall also be important to note that Section 3 classifies
OPC as a Private Company for all the legal purposes with only one member. All
the provisions related to the private company are applicable to an OPC, unless
otherwise expressly excluded. Private Limited Company is a type of company
that offers limited liability to its shareholders but that places certain restrictions on
its ownership. Public Limited Company is a company whose securities is traded
on a stock exchange, and can be bought and sold by anyone. Formation of a
Company is the term for the process of incorporation of a business. It is also
referred to as company registration. Both these terms are also used when
incorporating a business. Under Indian company law and most international laws,
a company or corporation is considered to be an entity that is separate from the
people who own or operate the company. Electronic filing, otherwise known as
e-Filing, allows authorized users to file a document with the different government
authorities directly from a computer using the Internet.

Book building refers to the process of generating, capturing and recording
investor demand for shares during an IPO or other securities during their issuance
process in order to support efficient price discovery. The issuer appoints a major
investment bank to act as a major securities underwriter or book runner.

Memorandum of Association is a document that regulates a company’s
external activities and must be drawn up on the formation of a registered or
incorporated company. Name Clause contains the name by which the company
will be established. As you know, the approval of the proposed name is taken in
advance from the Registrar of the companies. Article of Association is a document
that specifies the regulations for a company’s operations. The articles of association
define the company’s purpose and lays out how tasks are to be accomplished
within the organization, including the process for appointing directors and how
financial records will be handled. Certificate of Incorporation is the legal document
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which makes the company formation valid or brings the company into existence.
Prospectus refers to a formal legal document, which is required by and filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission that provides details about an investment
offering for sale to the public. A prospectus contains the facts that an investor
needs to make an informed investment decision.

In this unit, the authors described the topics related to share capital, types
of shares, transfer and transmission of shares, debentures, borrowing powers,
mortgages and charges. Share is the interest of a shareholder in the company,
measured by a sum of money for the purpose of liability in the first place and of
interest in the second, but also consisting of other rights given by the articles.
Capital includes the money, property and other valuables which collectively
represents the wealth of an individual or business. Classical economics regards
capital as a factor of production, distinguishing between financial capital and
physical capital. The cost of capital is a term used in the field of financial investment
to refer to the cost of a company’s funds (both debt and equity) or, from an
investor’s point of view “the shareholder’s required return on a portfolio of all the
company’s existing securities”. Equity capital is money given for a share of ownership
of the company. Equity can be provided by individual investors, sometimes known
as “angels”, venture capital companies, joint venture partners and the sweat equity
and capital contribution of the founders of the company. Preference share is a
stock with dividends that are paid to shareholders before common stock dividends
are paid out. Equity share refers to the stock or capital stock of a business entity
which represents the original capital paid into or invested in the business by its
founders. Debenture refers to a certificate of agreement of loans which is given
under the company’s stamp and carries an undertaking that the debenture holder
will get a fixed return and the principal amount whenever the debenture matures.

Company administration is a collection of resources that includes company
filing, company records, company meetings and the responsibilities of company
secretaries. The duty of an administrator depends on the company that the
administrator works for. A managing director or MD is a director of a company
given special powers by its articles of association. MD is the person at the head of
the executive structure of an undertaking by virtue of his membership of the Board
of Directors, or by virtue of powers delegated to him by that body. A meeting is a
gathering of two or more people that has been convened for the purpose of achieving
a common goal through verbal interaction, such as sharing information or reaching
agreement. An annual general meeting is a meeting that official bodies, and
associations involving the public including companies with shareholders, are often
required by law. An Extraordinary General Meeting, commonly abbreviated as
EGM, is a meeting of members of an organization, shareholders of a company, or
employees of an official body, which occurs at an irregular time. Agenda refers to
the business to be transacted at the meeting. In the case of meeting of members,
there would be a few matters to be discussed. Therefore, the agenda is built into
the notice itself.
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Majority power is a decision rule that selects alternatives which have a
majority, i.e., more than half the votes. It is the binary decision rule used most
often in influential decision-making bodies, including all the legislatures of democratic
nations. Minority rights are based on the recognition that minorities are in a vulnerable
situation in comparison to other groups in society, namely the majority population,
and aim to protect members of a minority group from discrimination, assimilation,
prosecution, hostility or violence, as a consequence of their status.

Oppression means lack of morality and fair dealings in the affairs of the
company which may be prejudicial to some members of the company. The term
mismanagement refers to the process or practice of managing ineptly, incompetently
or dishonestly. However, it is to be noted that the terms are not defined under the
Companies Act and is left to the discretion of the court to decide on the facts of
the case whether there is oppression or mismanagement of minority or not.

Dr. K. Jayalakshmamma
Dr. K.R. Mahesh Kumar
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UNIT 1 COMPANY

Structure
1.0 Introduction
1.1 Objectives
1.2 Company – Definition
1.3 Characteristics of Company
1.4 Highlights of Companies Act, 2013
1.5 Types of Company
1.6 Formation of Company
1.7 Promotion of Company
1.8 Incorporation of Company
1.9 Commencement of Business

1.10 Book Building
1.11 Answers to ‘Check Your Progress’
1.12 Summary
1.13 Key Terms
1.14 Self-Assessment Questions and Exercises
1.15 Further Reading

1.0 INTRODUCTION

Company is a voluntary association of persons formed for the purpose of doing
business having a distinct name and limited liability. It is a judicial person having a
separate legal entity distinct from the members who constitute it, capable of rights
and duties of its own and endowed with the potential of perpetual succession. It is
an association or collection of individual real persons and/or other companies,
who provide some form of capital. This group has a common purpose or focus
and an aim of gaining profits. The group or association of persons can be made to
exist in law and then a company itself is considered as “legal person”. The name
company arose because, at least originally, it represented or was owned by more
than one real or legal person.

A joint stock company is a type of corporation or partnership involving two
or more individuals that own shares of stock in the company. Certificates of
ownership are issued by the company in return for each financial contribution, and
the shareholders are free to transfer their ownership interest at any time by selling
their share holdings to others.

In modern corporate law, the existence of a joint stock company is often
synonymous with incorporation and limited liability. As a consequence, joint stock
companies are commonly known as corporations or limited companies.

The company is managed on behalf of the shareholders by the Board of
Directors, elected at an Annual General Meeting. The shareholders can also accept
or reject an Annual Report and audited set of accounts. Individual shareholders
can sometimes stand for directorships within the company, should a vacancy occur,
but this is uncommon. The shareholders are usually liable for any of the company
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debts that exceed the company’s ability to pay. However, the limit of their liability
only extends to the face value of their shareholding.

1.1 OBJECTIVES

After going through this unit, you will be able to:
Explain the definition, characteristics and types of company.
Describe the formation of company.
Discuss the promotion and incorporation of company.
Explain the commencement of business.

1.2 COMPANY – DEFINITION

History of Company

The history of company stretches back to Roman times, and deals principally with
associations of people formed to run a business, but also for charitable or leisure
purposes. A corporation is one kind of company, which means an entity that has
separate legal personality from the people who carry out its activities or have
rights to its property. Originally, corporations were solely able to be established
through an act of the state, e.g., through royal charter or an Act of Parliament.

In medieval Europe, churches became incorporated, as did local
governments, such as the Pope and the City of London Corporation. The point
was that the incorporation would survive longer than the lives of any particular
member, existing in perpetuity. The alleged oldest commercial corporation in the
world, the Stora Kopparberg mining community in Falun, Sweden, obtained a
charter from King Magnus Eriksson in 1347. In medieval times, traders would do
business through common law constructs, such as partnerships. Whenever people
acted together with a view to profit, the law deemed that a partnership arose.
Early guilds and livery companies were also often involved in the regulation of
competition between traders.

Renaissance and Mercantilism

Many European nations chartered corporations to lead colonial ventures, such as
the Dutch East India Company or the Hudson’s Bay Company, and these
corporations came to play a large part in the history of colonialism and mercantilism.
Acting under a charter sanctioned by the Dutch government, the Vereenigde Oost-
Indische Compagnie or the Dutch East India Company, defeated Portuguese forces
and established itself in the Moluccan Islands in order to profit from the European
demand for spices. Investors in the VOC were issued paper certificates as proof
of share ownership, and were able to trade their shares on the original Amsterdam
stock exchange. Shareholders are also explicitly granted limited liability in the
company’s royal charter.

As England sought to build a mercantile Empire, the government created
corporations under a Royal Charter or an Act of Parliament with the grant of a



Company

NOTES

Self-Instructional
             Material   7

monopoly over a specified territory. The best-known example, established in 1600,
was the British East India Company. Queen Elizabeth I granted it the exclusive
right to trade with all countries to the east of the Cape of Good Hope. Corporations
at this time would essentially act on the government’s behalf, bringing in revenue
from its exploits abroad. Subsequently, the company became increasingly integrated
with British military and colonial policy, just as most UK corporations were
essentially dependent on the British navy’s ability to control trade routes.

18th-century Companies
A similar chartered company, the South Sea Company, was established in 1711 to
trade in the Spanish South American colonies, but met with less success. The
South Sea Company’s monopoly rights were supposedly backed by the Treaty of
Utrecht, signed in 1713 as a settlement following the War of Spanish Succession,
which gave the United Kingdom an ascent to trade in the region for thirty years. In
fact, the Spanish remained hostile and let only one ship a year enter. Unaware of
the problems, investors in the UK, enticed by extravagant promises of profit from
company promoters bought thousands of shares. By 1717, the South Sea Company
was so wealthy (still having done no real business) that it assumed the public debt
of the UK government. This accelerated the inflation of the share price further, as
did the Bubble Act 1720, which (possibly with the motive of protecting the South
Sea Company from competition) prohibited the establishment of any companies
without a Royal Charter. The share price rose so rapidly that people began buying
shares merely in order to sell them at a higher price, which in turn led to higher
share prices. This was the first speculative bubble the country had seen, but by the
end of 1720, the bubble had “burst”, and the share price sank from £1000 to
under £100. As bankruptcies and recriminations ricocheted through government
and high society, the mood against corporations, and errant directors, was bitter.

Company in India
The existence of company form of organization can be traced to the period of
Roman Empire and British rule in 16th and 17th century. The Joint Stock
Companies came into existence in India during the 17th century, and later in 1850
the first Companies Act was passed in our country and the concept of limited
liability was first introduced in India in the year 1957. The growth of companies all
over the world is prominent since industrial revolution and geographical discoveries.

The historical East India Company was a typical example of a Joint Stock
Company followed by Chartered Bank of India, Chartered Bank of Australia;
and many more companies with huge investments and large scale operations evolved
till Companies Act of India was finalized in 1956. The Companies Act, 1956
governs the establishment, operations and expansions of any company in India.

Meaning of Company
Company refers to a voluntary association formed and organized to carry on a
business. This is an organization or collection of individuals, whether natural persons,
legal persons or both.

Company refers to a company having a joint stock or capital that is divided
into units of ownership interest, such as shares which may be transferred without
consent of the other shareholders.
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Definitions of Company

According to H.L. Haney, “A Joint Stock Company is a voluntary association of
individuals for profit, having its capital divided into transferable shares the ownership
of which is the condition of membership”.

According to Indian Company Act 2013, ‘‘A registered association which
is an artificial legal person, having an independent legal, entity with perpetual
succession, a common seal for its signatures, a common capital comprised of
transferable shares and carrying limited liability.’’

1.3 CHARACTERISTICS OF COMPANY

Features of a Company

The features of a joint stock company are:
1. Artificial Person: A company is an artificial person created by law. It

is created by legal process and not by natural birth. Even though it has
no natural personality, it has legal personality. Therefore, it can enter
into contracts, sue and can be sued, own property, appoint employees
and borrow money like any other natural person.

2. Common Seal: The common seal can serve as its signature. The
common seal is affixed on all important documents and contracts which
is witnessed by signature of two directors and countersigned by secretary
wherever required. The common seal is kept under the custody of
directors. Since a company is an artificial person having no physical
features like a natural person, it cannot sign. Hence, every company by
law must have a common seal on which its name is engraved.

3. Compulsory Incorporation: A company is a voluntary association of
persons formed and incorporated under the existing Corinne law. Only
when it gets certificate of incorporation, it comes into existence as a
body corporate.

4. Perpetual Succession: Since the company has a separate existence
from its members, directors and employees, their death, insolvency or
insanity will not affect its life and existence. Men may come and men
may go, but a company remains forever. It can be wound up only under
the provisions of the Act.

5. Limited Liability: Usually, the liability of members of a company is
limited to the extent of uncalled or unpaid value of shares held by them.
Their personal property cannot be seized to meet the company’s liability
beyond the above-mentioned liability.

6. Share Capital: The capital required by the company is raised by issues
shares. A share is a share in the share capital of the company. The member
who holds the shares of a company can transfer its ownership to any
other person, without the company’s permission.
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7. Separation of Ownership and Management: In company
organization, the ownership and management are separated. The
shareholders who are the owners do not take active part in the everyday
affairs of the company. Instead, they elect their representatives known
as Directors, who with the help of managers and employees manage the
company. Thus, there is division of labour and specialization.

8. Legal Entity: Since the company is created by law, it has separate
legal existence compared to its members. Therefore, the members cannot
be personally held responsible for the acts of the company.

9. Large Membership: The company is owned by a larger number of
members – maximum of 200 in the case of private limited company and
unlimited number of members in the case of a public limited company.

Advantages of a Company

The advantages of a company are:
1. Limited Liability: Shareholder’s liability is limited to the face value of

the shares held by them. The members are liable only to the extent of
unpaid value of share. If the shares are fully paid up, then the member is
not liable for any debts of the company.

2. Continuity and Stability: A company has a long and stable life. Its
existence is not affected by death, insolvency or insanity of its members.

3. Professional Management: The company appoints experienced,
competent and experts to manage the business. Their services lead to
managerial and administrative efficiency and accuracy.

4. Large Capital: A company can collect huge capital for the business
through shares and debentures, public deposits, loans, etc. due to huge
capital the company can conduct business on a large scale.

5. Economies of Scale: As the company operates on a large scale, it
enjoys economies in production, distribution, management and financing.

6. Bargaining Power: Compared to other forms of commercial
organization, a joint stock company has strong bargaining power in buying
as well as in selling of goods because of its large-scale production.

7. Legal Status: The Company enjoys a distinct legal entity separate from
its members. Being a legal creation it enjoys permanent existence.

8. Large Membership: A joint stock company (especially a public
company) has large number of members. Large membership brings in
large amount of funds which can be invested in company’s expansion
and diversification.

9. Transferability of Shares: Shares of a Joint Stock Company (especially
public companies) are freely transferable. A member who wants to sell
his shares can easily do so in the stock market. This encourages the
public and other to invest in shares.
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10. Employment: Joint stock company provides employment to a large
number of people directly and indirectly. This leads to higher national
income for the country and higher standard of living for the people.

11. Government Revenue: Joint stock company provides revenue to the
government in the form of taxes charged directly and indirectly.

12. Research and Development: Joint stock company undertakes R&D
continuously, thus bringing about new and improved products which
benefits people.

13. Economic Development: Because of Joint stock companies, there is
all-round development of trade, commerce and industry. The society in
general gains the benefit of the industrial development.

Disadvantages of a Company

The disadvantages of a Joint Stock Company are:
1. Lacks Flexibility: The working of a Joint Stock Company is less

flexible as compared to other organizations. For every small thing, they
either have to follow a detailed procedure or obtain sanctions from
various authorities. This results in lack of flexibility.

2. No Business Secrecy:  This form of organization lacks business secrecy
because it is compulsory for the company to publish accounts and other
records.

3. Excessive Government Regulation: The company is subject to
excessive government control. It has to follow the numerous provisions
of the Indian Companies Act. This makes working difficult.

4. Difficult Formation: Formation of a Joint Stock Company is an
expensive and time-consuming process as a number of legal formalities
have to be undertaken in order to register the company.

5. Delay in Decision-making: Due to excessive government control
and a democratic set-up, all decisions are taken in meetings and some
decisions require shareholder’s approval. All this leads to delay in
decision-making.

6. Lack of Contact with Customers: Due to large-scale operations, a
company finds it difficult to maintain direct contact with its customers.
This may lead to poor sales promotion.

7. Lack of Contact with Employees: The top management may not
have personal contact with their employees. This may cause friction and
disputes amongst the management and workers which may affect the
worker’s morale.

8. Conflicts of Interest: There may arise a conflict of interest amongst
the various parties (shareholders, management, workers, etc.) in a joint
stock company. This conflicting interest undoubtedly harms the
company’s interest.

9. Not suitable for all types of business: This type of an organization is
not suitable for business where personalized services are required.
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10. Exploitation of Shareholders: Sometimes, the Board of Directors
may misappropriate the funds and mislead the shareholders by window
dress report. The directors may even manipulate the share trading on
the stock exchange. Thus, shareholders can be exploited by corrupt
directors.

1.4 HIGHLIGHTS OF COMPANIES ACT, 2013

As Passed by the Lok Sabha on 18.12.12, by the Rajya Sabha on 08.08.13
and Received Assent from the President on August 29, 2013

The promulgation of the new law is a step towards globalization and is a successful
attempt to meet the changing environment, and is progressive and futuristic duly
envisaging the technological and legal developments. Increase in number of
companies from approximately 30,000 in the year 1956 to 11,00,000 in the year
2013.

Highlights:

Incorporation of Company

(i) Incorporation of a One Person Company has been permitted. One
person can form a private limited company.

(ii) Number of permissible members in private company has been raised to
200 as against existing limit of 50 members.

(iii) Limit of number of members in an association or partnership (without
incorporation) to be increased up to 100.

(iv) Small company is introduced for lesser regulatory framework.

(v) Objects clause in the Memorandum of Association of a company not
required to be divided into main, ancillary and other objects. Only the
objects for which the company is incorporated along with matters
considered necessary for its furtherance to be mentioned. The company
cannot provide for other object clause.

Share Capital and Debentures

(i) Shares, other than sweat equity, cannot be issued at a discount.

(ii) Reduction of share capital is subject to the approval of Tribunal.

(iii) A company may issue preference shares redeemable after 20 years for
infrastructure projects as may be specified and redeemed as may be
prescribed on an annual basis at the option of such preference
shareholders.

(iv) Buyback provisions eased. Companies can buy back its shares even if
it has defaulted in repayment of deposit or interest payable thereon,
redemption of debentures or preference shares or payment of dividend
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to any shareholder or repayment of any term loan or interest payable
thereon to any financial institution or bank, provided that such default
has been remedied and three years have lapsed after such default ceased
to subsist.

(v) Debenture trustee to be appointed only when a company issues
prospectus or makes an offer or invitation to the public or to its members
exceeding five hundred for subscription to its debentures.

Acceptance of Deposit by Companies

(i) NBFCs not to be covered by the provisions relating to acceptance of
deposits. They will be governed by the Reserve Bank of India rules on
acceptance of deposits.

(ii) Deposit insurance is required to be provided as prescribed.

(iii) Deposits can be secured and unsecured.

(iv) The concept of small depositors is dispensed with.

(v) The Tribunal may allow further time taking into consideration the financial
condition of the company to issue directions for repayment of the deposits
or interest thereon in case of default in such repayments.

Management and Administration

(a) Forms and Certification

(i) E-Governance proposed for various company processes like
maintenance and inspection of documents in electronic form, option of
keeping of books of accounts in electronic form, financial statements to
be placed on company’s website, holding of board meetings through
video conferencing/other electronic mode and voting through electronic
means.

(ii) For all the companies (except one person companies and small
companies) with prescribed paid-up capital and turnover, whether private
or public, listed or unlisted, annual return has to be signed by a company
secretary in practice.

(b) Meetings

(i) One Person Company is not required to hold any Annual General
Meeting.

(ii) Notice of general meeting need to be sent to all the directors of the
company.

(iii) For special business to be transacted in the General Meeting, explanatory
statement should comprise of specified information.
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(iv) Company should observe that secretarial standards are followed while
making minutes.

(c) Secretarial Audit

(i) All Listed companies to annex secretarial audit report obtained from a
Practicing Company Secretary to the Board’s report.

(ii) Board to respond to qualifications, made by the Secretary, in the Board’s
report.

(d) Annual Documents

(i) Requirement of compliance certificate done away with and in its place
scope of annual return has been enlarged.

(ii) The annual return, filed by a listed company, or by a company having
such paid-up capital and turnover as may be prescribed, shall be certified
by a company secretary in practice in the prescribed form, stating that
the annual return discloses the facts correctly and adequately and that
the company has complied with all the provisions of this Act.

(iii) Director’s responsibility statement shall include additional statement
related to compliance to all applicable laws, and in case of listed
companies, it shall include statement related to internal financial control.

(iv) Benefit of private companies to file their balance sheet and profit and
loss account separately has been withdrawn.

Appointment and Variations regarding Directors and Key Managerial
Personnel

(a) Appointment

(i) Certain Companies, as may be prescribed, to mandatorily appoint
Company Secretary.

(ii) Appointment of at least one women director on the board of prescribed
classes of companies has been made mandatory.

(iii) Appointment of at least one director resident in India, i.e., a director
who has stayed in India for at least 182 days in the previous calendar
year, is made mandatory for all companies.

(b) Key Managerial Personnel

(i) Company Secretary included within the definition of Key Managerial
Personnel.

(ii) No company can have both Managing Director and Manager at the
same time.
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(iii) Every company belonging to such class or description of companies as
may be prescribed, to have managing director, or chief executive officer
or manager and in their absence, a whole-time director, company
secretary and chief financial officer.

(iv) Individual limits for remuneration enhanced in the Act.

(c) Status of Independent Director

(i) Nominee director cannot be regarded as Independent Director.

(ii) Maximum term of Independent Director has been restricted to five years
at once subject to a maximum of two such terms.

(iii) The independent director is not entitled to stock option and may receive
remuneration by way of fee and profit related commission as approved
by members.

(iv) Role or functions of independent directors is expanded.

(d) Directorships

(i) Maximum number of directors has been increased from twelve (12) to
fifteen (15) directors. Further, no Central Government approval is
required to increase the maximum number of directors beyond fifteen
(15). Shareholders of companies may do so by passing a special
resolution.

(ii) A person can hold directorship of up to 20 companies, of which not
more than 10 can be public companies.

Meeting of Board and its Powers

(i) A notice of not less than 7 days in writing is required to call a board
meeting.

(ii) Certain powers which earlier could be exercised by the Board with the
approval of general meeting by way of ordinary resolution.

(iii) Every Listed Company and such other company as may be prescribed
shall have an Audit Committee.

Accounts and Audit

(i) Books of accounts can be kept in electronic form also.

(ii) The term balance sheet and profit and loss accounts are collectively
termed as financial statement.

(iii) The Act provides for reopening or recasting of Books of Accounts at
the instance of regulatory authorities. The financial statements can be
revised at specified situations.

(iv) No listed companies shall appoint–
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(a) An individual as auditor for more than one term of five consecutive
years, and

(b) An audit firm as auditor for more than two terms of five consecutive
years.

(v) Shareholders are at liberty to decide by passing resolution that audit
partner and the audit team be rotated every year.

(vi) Auditor shall not provide directly or indirectly the specified services to
the company, its holding and subsidiary companies.

(vii) No approval of central government is required for appointment of cost
auditor.

(viii) Financial year will be uniform for all companies, i.e., April-March.

Inspection and Investigation

(i) The provision for establishment of Serious Fraud Investigation Office
(SFIO) by the Central Government is another significant feature of the
Act.

(ii) SFIO is empowered to arrest in respect of certain offence involving
fraud.

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR)

(i) Formation of CSR Committee has been made mandatory for a company
having net worth of ̀  500 crore or more or turnover of ̀  1,000 crore or
more or net profit of ̀  5 crore or more during any financial year.

(ii) Such company shall spend, in every financial year, at least 2% of the
average net profits of the company made during three immediately
preceding financial years, in pursuance of its Corporate Social
Responsibility Policy (CSRP).

Compromises, Arrangement and Amalgamation

(i) The Act allows cross-border mergers.

(ii) Separate provision for merger between two small companies or holding
and wholly owned subsidiary.

(iii) Any valuation of shares/assets, etc. required to be performed by a
Registered Valuer.

National Company Law Tribunal (NCLT)

(i) NCLT replaces the High Court, CLB. The same shall consist of Judicial
and Technical members, as Central Government may deem necessary,
to exercise and discharge the powers and functions conferred including
approval of merger, corporate reorganization, capital reduction, extension
of financial year, etc.
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(ii) Every proceeding presented before the Tribunal shall be dealt with and
disposed of within 3 months from the date of commencement of
proceeding before the tribunal.

1.5 TYPES OF COMPANY

Kinds of Companies

Fig. 1.1: Kinds of Companies

1. ‘One Person Company’ (OPC)

2. Private Company

3. Public Company

4. Company Limited by Shares

5. Holding Company

6. Subsidiary Company

7. Government Company

8. Associate Company

9. Small Company

10. Foreign Company
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11. Global Company

12. Body Corporate

13. Listed Company
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1. ‘One Person Company’ (OPC)

The revolutionary new concept of ‘One Person Company’ (OPC) has been
introduced by the Companies Act, 2013. This concept of OPC was first
recommended by the expert committee of Dr. J.J. Irani in 2005. OPC provides a
whole new bracket of opportunities for those who look forward to start their own
ventures with a structure of organized business. OPC will give the young
businessman all benefits of a private limited company which categorically means
they will have access to credits, bank loans, limited liability, legal protection for
business, access to market, etc. all in the name of a separate legal entity.

The Concept of ‘One Person Company’ (OPC)

One Person Company is defined in Sub-section 62 of Section 2 of the Companies
Act, 2013 which reads as follows:

‘One Person Company means a company which has only one member.’
It shall also be important to note that Section 3 classifies OPC as a Private

Company for all the legal purposes with only one member. All the provisions related
to the private company are applicable to an OPC, unless otherwise expressly
excluded.

The only exception provided by the Act to an OPC is that according to the
rules only “Naturally-born” Indian who is also a resident of India is eligible to
incorporate an OPC, meaning thereby the advantages of an OPC can only be
obtained by those Indians who are naturally born and also a resident of India. At
the same, it shall also be worth mentioning that a person cannot form more than 5
OPCs.

OPC and its Formation

An OPC is incorporated as a private limited company, where there is only one
member and prohibition in regard to invitation to the public for subscription of the
securities of the company.

Special Features of ‘One Person Company’ (OPC)

The salient features of an OPC include the following:
 (i) An OPC can be formed under any of below categories:

(a) Company limited by guarantee.
(b) Company limited by shares.

(ii) An OPC limited by shares shall comply with following requirements:
(a) Shall have minimum paid up capital of INR 1 lakh.
(b) Restricts the right to transfer its shares.
(c) Prohibits any invitations to public to subscribe for the securities of

the company.
An OPC is required to give a legal identity by specifying a name under

which the activities of the business could be carried on. The words ‘One Person
Company’ should be mentioned below the name of the company, wherever the
name is affixed, used or engraved.
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The member of an OPC has to nominate a nominee with the nominee’s
written consent, and file it with the Registrar of Companies (RoC). This nominee
in the event of death or in event of any other incapacity shall become a member of
an OPC. The member of an OPC at any time can change the name of the nominee
providing a notice to the RoC in such manner as prescribed. On account of death
of a member, the nominee is automatically entitled for all shares and liabilities of
OPC.

Exemptions Available to One Person Company – Legal Provisions
An OPC has certain privileges and exemptions, which are not available to private
companies, are as follows for a reference:

(i) Signatures on Annual Returns – Section 92 of the Companies Act,
2013
It is provided in section 92 of The Companies Act, 2013 that the annual returns in
the case of One Person Company shall be signed by the company secretary or
where there is no company secretary, then by the director of the company.

(ii) Holding Annual General Meetings – Section 122 of the Companies
Act, 2013

Section 122(1) of The Companies Act, 2013, provides that the provisions of
Sections 98, 100 to 111 (both inclusive) are not applicable to One Person Company.
Therefore, provisions relating to General Meetings, Extraordinary General Meeting
and Notice Convening to General Meeting are not applicable to One Person
Company. However, for fulfilling the purposes of Section 114 of the Companies
Act, 2013, where any business is required to be transacted at an Annual General
Meeting, or other General Meeting of the company by means of an ordinary or
special resolution, it shall be sufficient if the resolution is communicated by the
member of the company and entered in the minutes book which is required to be
maintained u/s 118 and signed and dated by the member and such date shall be
deemed to be the date of meeting under the purposes of Companies Act, 2013.

(iii) Board Meetings and Directors – Sections 149, 152 and173 of the
Act

One Person Company needs to have one director. It can have maximum of 15
directors which can also be increased by passing a special resolution as in case of
any other company. For the purposes of holding board meetings, in case of a
OPC which has only One director, it shall be sufficient compliance if all resolutions
required to be passed by such a company at a board meeting are entered in a
minute book – signed and dated by the member and such date shall be deemed to
have the date of the board meeting for all the purposes under Companies Act,
2013.

(iv) Signatures on Financial Statements – Sections 134 and 137 of the
Act
The OPC shall file with the RoC a copy of financial statements duly adopted by its
members along with all the documents which are required to be attached to such
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financial statement, within 180 days from the closure of the financial year along
with cash flow statements. The financial statement shall be signed by only one
director and the annual return shall be signed by the company secretary and the
director, and in case if there is no company secretary, then only by the director.

(v) Contracts by One Person Company – Section 193 of the Act
The new Companies Act, 2013 gives special attention to the contracts which will
be entered by One Person Company.

If the company fails to comply with the provisions as to providing the
information to the RoC, then it shall be liable for punishment of fine which will be
not less than twenty thousand rupees and extend to one lakh rupees and the
imprisonment for a term which may extend up to 6 months.

OPC Different from Sole Proprietorship
The concept of OPC allows a single person to run a company limited by shares,
and Sole Proprietorship means an entity where it is run and owned by one individual,
and where there is no distinction between the owner and the business. The distinction
between both the structures is as follows:

(i) Limited Liability
Fundamentally, the basic difference between a sole proprietorship and an OPC is
the way and manner in which the liability is treated in an OPC. OPC is different
from sole proprietorship because it is a completely separate entity and that is the
distinction between the promoter and the company. The liability of the shareholder
will be limited to the unpaid subscription money in his name. On the other hand,
the liability in a sole proprietorship, the person/owner is alone liable for the claims
which will be made against the business.

(ii) Tax Bracket
Though the concept of an OPC has been incorporated in the Companies Act,
2013, but the concept of same does not exist in tax laws as yet. As a result, an
OPC can be put in the same bracket of taxation as other private companies.
According to Income Tax Act, 1961, a private limited company is under the bracket
of 30% on total income with an additional surcharge of 5% if the income exceeds
10 million with an addition to 3% of education cess.

(iii) Succession
In an OPC, there is a nominee designated by the member. The nominee shall be a
Natural Born citizen of India and who resides in India. The nominee shall in the
event of death of the member become a member of the company and will be
responsible for the running of the company. But in the case of sole proprietorship,
this can only happen through an execution of WILL which may or may not be
challenged in the court of law.
(iv) Compliances

A One Person Company has to file annual returns, etc. just like a normal company
and would also need to get its accounts audited in the same manner. On the other
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hand, a sole proprietorship would only need to get audited under the provisions of
Section 44AB of the Income Tax Act, 1961 once its turnover crosses the certain
threshold.

The Impact of OPC in Indian Entrepreneurship

Though the concept of an OPC is still very new in Indian entrepreneurship and
thus very revolutionary, it will take time for such a new concept to be incorporated
with complete efficiency, but as and when the time will pass, an OPC will have a
sparkling future and it will be embraced as a most successful business concept.
The reason behind it is the incorporation of same is less paperwork, one person
can form a company without any additional shareholder, and if the member is
willing to add shareholders, all he needs to do is to modify the Memorandum of
Association and file it before RoC. Small entrepreneurs will grow in Indian
entrepreneurship, be it weaver, traders, artisans, small to mid level entrepreneurs,
OPC is a bright future for them to grow and to get recognition globally. Foreign
investors will be dealing with one member to establish a corporate relationship
and not with a score of shareholders/directors where there are more chances for
disparity in ideas, concepts, etc. for a business to grow. Any foreign company
who wishes to establish in India through an Investment, through a merger or through
a Joint venture will have to just lock the deal with the member of an OPC, and the
venture will be expected to start sooner with more effective results. In upcoming
years the impact of an OPC will be remarkable and it is a promising future for
Indian entrepreneurship. Expected, there will be good foreign investments, joint
ventures, mergers, etc. An OPC is doing well in European countries. In United
States, Australia, etc., the same is resulting in strengthening the economy of the
countries. In India, when the expert committee of Dr. J.J. Irani proposed the
concept of an OPC, it was solely aimed for the structured organized business,
with a different legal entity altogether and to organize the private sector of the
entrepreneurship, which indeed is expected to be done, along with a significant
growth in Indian economy benefiting the country on the global level.

The Ministry of Corporate Affairs is yet to issue the commencement
notification for the provisions dealing with One Person Company. This concept of
One Person Company is set to organize the unorganized sector of proprietorship
firms and other entities which will be convenient to regulate and manage if the
same is in the form of One Person Company. It will also be favorable for boosting
of foreign funding from the investors who are keen to expand their ventures in
India. One Person company is next big thing in India, and it will be favorable for
the economic conditions in India through its small to medium sized entrepreneurship.
An OPC will have the accessibility to target the markets, executing of business
places in a corporate framework, loans, banks, etc. directly, there will be no
middleman conjuring the profits.
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2. Private Company

Private Limited Company is a type of company that offers limited liability to its
shareholders but that places certain restrictions on its ownership. These restrictions
are spelled out in the company’s articles of association or bye-laws and are meant
to prevent any hostile takeover attempt. Prohibits any invitation by prospectus or
otherwise to the general public to subscribe to any of its shares or debentures.
A private company must use the word ‘Private Limited’ after its name.

Companies Act, 2013 has brought massive changes for private companies
as barring a very few, all the exemptions which were available to private companies
under the Companies Act, 1956 have been withdrawn in the Companies Act,
2013. In this article, we attempt to throw light on the impact of Companies Act,
2013 on private companies by means of comparison of the significant provisions
relating to Private Companies under the Companies Act, 1956 and Companies
Act, 2013.

Comparison of Provisions Relating to Private Companies under
Companies Act, 1956 and Companies Act, 2013

Basis of Comparison Companies Act, 1956 Companies Act, 2013

Definition

Commencement
of business

Further issue of
shares

Maximum number of
members restrbicted to 50.
Express clause in the
definition was there
“prohibits any invitation or
acceptance of deposits from
persons other than its
members, directors or their
relatives” [Section 3(1)(iii)].

Under Companies Act,
1956, a Private company
can commence its
operations immediately after
incorporation. Only public
companies have to seek
certificate of commencement
of business (Section 149).

Provisions relating to rights
issue and preferential
allotment are not applicable
to a private company
[Sections 81 and 81(1A)].

Maximum number of
members restricted to 200.
No specific clause on
prohibition of acceptance of
deposits is there in the
definition. [Section 2(68)].

Under Companies Act, 2013,
even a Private company
cannot commence its
business or make any
borrowings unless it files
with RoC a statement that the
subscription money and
minimum paid-up capital has
been brought in (Section 11).

A private company can make
further allotment only by
means of Rights issue, ESOP
or private placement/
preferential allotment and
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Acceptance of
deposits from
relatives of
directors

Shares with
differential
voting rights

Appointment
of KMP

Loans to
Directors

Resident
Director

A private company can accept
deposits/loans from relatives of
directors by virtue of
exemption available in the
definition of private company
[Section 3(1)(iii)].

Provisions relating to issue of
shares with differential voting
rights are not applicable to a
private company [Section 86].

Under CA, 1956, irrespective
of the capital, Private
Companies are not mandated
to appoint MD/WTD/Manager,
etc. except Whole-time
Company Secretary in case of
companies having paid-up
capital of ` 5 crores or more
[Section 269 and 383A].

Restrictions relating to giving
of loans, advances or providing
securities, guarantees to
directors and other interested
entities are not applicable to a
private company [Section
295].

No requirement to have
director resident in India.

needs to comply with the all
the provisions relating to these
types of allotment [Section
62].

A private company is
prohibited to accept unsecured
loans/deposits from relatives
of directors [Section 73 read
with draft rules issued
thereunder].

A private company has to
comply with the provisions
contained in Section 43 read
with the rules issued
thereunder to issue shares
with differential voting rights
[Section 43].

All companies, including
private companies, having
paid-up capital of ` 5 crores
or more are required to have
the following whole-time
KMP: (1) MD/CEO/Manager/
WTD, (2) Company Secretary,
and (3) CFO [Section 203].

All companies, including
private companies, are
restricted from giving loans,
advances or providing
securities, guarantees to
directors and other interested
entities barring few exceptions
[Section 185].

All companies, including
private companies, must have
at least one director who has
stayed in India for a minimum
period of 182 days during the
previous calendar year
[Section 149].
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Consent to act
as Director

Appointment
of two or
more directors
by single
resolution

Limit on
number of
directorship

Corporate
Social
Responsibility

Contents of
Financial
Statements

In case of private companies,
consent to act as director is not
mandatory to be filed with ROC
[Section 264].

Provision relating to appointment
of directors to be voted on
individually is not applicable to a
private company which is not a
subsidiary of a public company
[Section 263].

Private companies are not
counted for the purpose of
determining the limit of 15
companies in which a person
can act as a director at any given
time [Section 275].

No requirement to spend on
CSR activities.

(a) Balance Sheet, (b) Statement
of Profit and Loss, (c) Cash
Flow Statement (applicable only
to listed companies and
companies having turnover in
excess of `  50 crores or
borrowings in excess of ` 10
crores) AS-3 and listing
agreement.

A person appointed as a director
shall not act as a director unless
he gives his consent to hold the
office as director and such
consent has been filed with the
Registrar within thirty days of
his appointment [Section 152].

At a general meeting of a
company, a motion for the
appointment of two or more
persons as directors of the
company by a single resolution
shall not be moved unless a
proposal to move such a motion
has first been agreed to at the
meeting without any vote being
cast against it [Section 162].

A person can act as director in
a maximum of 20 companies at
any given point of time out of
which not more than 10 should
be public companies [Section
165].

All companies, including private
companies, who are meeting
eligibility criteria fixed in this
regard, are required to constitute
a CSR committee consisting of
at least 3 directors out of which
at least one must be independent
director and spend at least 2%
of average net profits on CSR
activities [Section 135].

(a) Balance Sheet, (b) Statement
of Profit and Loss, (c) Cash
Flow Statement (except for
OPC and Small Company) and
(d) Statement of Changes in
Equitye. Notes to accounts.
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Consolidation
of Accounts

Maximum
term of
auditor

Number of
companies
an auditor
can audit

Signing of
annual return

Provisions
regarding
general
meetings

Authentication
of financial
statements of
the company

Consolidation is not mandated
under the Companies Act,
1956 for any company.
Listing agreement requires
consolidation for listed
companies having subsidiaries
[Clause 32 of Listing
agreement and AS-21].

Appointment of auditor
happens on yearly basis at
AGM.
No limit on maximum number
of years (Section 224).

For private companies, no
limit is there as Section
224(1B) is not applicable to
private companies.

Director + CS/Manager. If no
CS/Manager, then MD +
Director. If no MD, then two
directors (Section 161).

Private companies can
exempt themselves from the
applicability of Sections 171 to
186 by mentioning so in its
AOA. These sections deal
with length of notice for
General Meetings, explanatory
statement, etc.

By two directors including
Managing Director, if there is
one and Company Secretary,
if there is one (Section 215).

(a) Appointment of auditor will be
for 5 years term in each
appointment subject to
ratification every year in AGM.
(b) Individual auditor can serve
maximum 5 years and Firm for
maximum 10 years followed
cooling off period of 5 years
(Section 139).

(a) 20 companies in total.
(b) Private companies cannot
appoint a person as auditor if he
is already auditor for 20 other
companies (Section 141).

Private Company being a Small
Company – CS. If no CS, then
one Director. Private Company,
other than Small Company – CS
+ Director. If no CS, then PCS
+ Director (Section 92).

All requirements regarding
general meetings as specified in
the Act are applicable to Private
Companies. No exemption can be
sought basis of AOA.

Chairperson, if he is authorized
by board or 2 Directors out of
which one shall be Managing
Director. The Chief Executive
officer, if he is a Director of the
company, The chief financial
officer and the company
secretary of the company,
wherever they are appointed.
(Section 134).

(a) All companies having
subsidiary (ies) need to prepare
consolidated accounts.
(b) Subsidiary includes associate
and joint ventures [Section 129].
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3. Public Company

Public Limited Company is a company whose securities is traded on a stock
exchange and can be bought and sold by anyone. Public companies are strictly
regulated, and are required by law to publish their complete and true financial
position so that investors can determine the true worth of its stock (shares).

With the enactment of Companies Act 2013 (CA, 2013) the existing
Companies Act, 1956 (CA, 1956) will be replaced. Through the Ministry of
Companies Affairs (MCA) notification dated 12.09.2013, 98 sections in CA,
2013 have been notified with immediate effect.

One of the important sections which are notified is:
CA, 1956 – Section 4 – “Meaning of Holding Company and Subsidiary” –

Sub-section (7) – A Private Company, being a subsidiary of a body corporate
incorporated outside India, which, if incorporated in India, would be a public
company within the meaning of the Act, shall be deemed for the purposes of this
Act to be subsidiary of a public company if the entire share capital in that company
is not held by that body corporate whether along or together with one or more
other bodies corporate incorporated outside India.

It implies that if the entire (100%) shareholding of a Indian private company
is held by a public limited company incorporated outside India together with the
other foreign company(ies), if any, then it will be treated as private company
according to Indian companies’ laws.

Companies Act 2013, has been replaced with CA, 2013 – Section 2(71)
“Public Company” means a company which –

(a)  is not a private company.
(b) has a minimum paid-up share capital of 5 lakh rupees or such higher

paid-up capital, as may be prescribed:
Provided that a company which is a subsidiary of a company, not being a

private company, shall be deemed to be public company for the purposes of the

Inter-corporate
investment/
loans/
guarantee

Signing of
Director’s
Report

Provisions of Section 372A
regarding Inter Corporate
Investments/Loans/Guarantee
are not applicable.

By Chairman of the Board if
he is authorized by board or
by such number of directors
of the board as are required
to sign the balance sheet and
the profit and loss account of
the company by virtue of sub-
sections (1) and (2) of section
215 (Section 217).

Except subsection (1) of
Section 186, other provisions on
inter-corporate investments/
loans/gurantees are applicable.

Chairperson, if he is authorized
by Board or two Directors out
of which one shall be Managing
Director or by the Director
where there is one Director
(Section 134).
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Act even where such subsidiary company continues to be a private company in its
articles.

Through section 4(7), if a company in India being 100% subsidiary of a
Public Company incorporated outside, was availing privilege of being a Private
company in context of Indian Companies Law, which has been lifted/removed
from CA, 2013. Thus Indian Company, now being deemed public company (refer
section 2(71) above), will have to comply with additional sections in CA, 2013 in
future which are already notified through notification dt. 12.09.2013, as follows:

Further, there are few important sections which are applicable to every
company and are used in day-to-day operations are as follows:

1. Section 180 – Restriction on Power of Board Corresponding to Section
293 in CA, 1956
This sections implies that the company (private and public both) will have to obtain
the shareholder’s approval by passing a special resolution in its general meeting if
the borrowing limit of the company exceeds the paid up share capital plus free
reserves.
2. Section 185 – Loan to Directors Corresponding to Section 295 in CA,
1956
No company, whether public or private can give any loan or provide any security
or guarantee in connection with a loan to a director or any other person in whom
he is interested, except as provided below:

Company can give loan to its Managing director/Whole-time director without
approval of shareholders where the loan is given as a part of the condition of
service extended by the company to all its employees or where loan is approved
by way of passing the special resolution.

Interested Director means:

(a) Any director of the lending company, or of a company which is its holding
company or any partner or relative of any such director.

(b) Any firm in which any such director or relative is a partner.
(c) Any private company of which any director is a director or member.
(d) Anybody corporate at a general meeting of which not less than 25% of

the voting power is exercised or controlled by any such director, or by
two or more such directors, together

(e) Anybody corporate, board of director, MD or manager, whereof is
accustomed to act in accordance with the directions or instructions of
the Board, or of any director or directors, of the lending company.

Consequence: Further, if any loan/guarantee/security provided in
contravention to this section, the company shall be punishable with fine which shall
not be less than ̀  5.00 lakhs to ̀  25.00 lakhs and the director or other person to
whom such loan/guarantee/security is provided, shall be punishable with
imprisonment up to 6 months or with fine ̀  5.00 to ̀  25.00 lakhs.
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3. Section 192 – Restriction on Non-cash Transactions Involving Directors
– New Provision
A company shall not enter into any arrangement by which a director of the company
or of its holding company or any person connected with him can acquire assets for
the consideration other than cash.

Where the Director or connected person is a director of its holding company,
then resolution from Holding Company will also be required.

The notice for approval in general meeting under this section in both the
company and its holding company shall include particulars of the arrangement
along with the asset value calculated by the registered valued.

4. Company Limited by Guarantee

A private company limited by guarantee is an alternative type of corporation used
primarily for non-profit organizations that require legal personality. A guarantee
company does not usually have a share capital or shareholders, but instead has
members who act as guarantors. The guarantors give an undertaking to contribute
a nominal amount (typically very small) in the event of the winding up of the
company. It is often believed that such a company cannot distribute its profits to its
members but (depending on the provisions of the articles) this is not actually true.
However, a company limited by guarantee that distributes its profits to members
would not be eligible for charitable status.

Every member promises or guarantees to pay a fixed sum of money (specified
in the memorandum) at the time of liquidation of the company for payment of
company’s liabilities. Such companies are formed without a share capital for non-
trading (non-profit) purpose to promote culture, art, science, religion, charity, sports,
etc. Such companies depend upon their existence on entrance and subscription
fees as they do not have share capital.

Companies limited by guarantee are widely used for charities, community
projects, clubs, societies and other similar bodies. Most guarantee companies are
not-for-profit companies, that is, they do not distribute their profits to their members
but either retain them within the company or use them for some other purpose.
Most such companies need their articles to be drafted for that particular
organization, and this is the main specialized work to be undertaken.

Use a Guarantee Company

The main reason for a charity, community project, etc. to be a company limited by
guarantee is to protect the people running the company from personal liability for
the company’s debts, just as a business may be set up as a company limited by
shares for the same reason. Sometimes, funding bodies such as local authorities,
insist on an organization being registered as a company limited by guarantee.

Limited Liability
If a charity, community project, club, etc. is not registered as a limited company,
then the people running it (typically the management committee, etc.) can be made
personally liable for its unpaid debts. This can be a real risk. Some charities,
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community groups, sports clubs, etc. can be substantial enterprises, with liabilities
that cannot easily be turned off. They may have leasehold premises, employ people,
have equipment on finance contracts, etc. If the income does not meet these
outgoings, the charity, etc. may become insolvent, and the people running it (though
not usually the members at large who are not on the committee) can be made
personally liable for the shortfall. This can happen because of unforeseen and
unfortunate circumstances, such as the sudden withdrawal of financial support
from a body such as the local authority.

With a company, on the other hand, the company itself is a separate legal
entity and it, not the people who own or run it, is liable for its debts. In a company
limited by shares, the shareholder’s liability is limited to the amount the shareholder
has agreed to pay for his or her shares.

Different about a Guarantee Company

A company limited by guarantee is much like an ordinary private company limited
by shares. It is registered at Companies’ House, must register its accounts and an
annual return each year, has directors, etc. A major difference is that it does not
have a share capital or any shareholders, but members who control it.

Members, Not Shareholders
In a company limited by guarantee, there are no shareholders, but the company
must have one or more members. Subject to any special provisions in the company’s
articles, the members will be entitled to attend general meetings and vote, and in
most companies that means they can appoint and remove the directors, and have
ultimate control over the company. Many clubs operate on this basis. The members
meet at the Annual General Meeting and elect a committee to manage the club on
their behalf, and subject to the rules in the club’s constitution. If the club is a
company, the same rules will apply and will be set out in the company’s articles.
By and large, the company law provisions relating to general meetings, resolutions,
etc. in ordinary’ share companies apply to companies limited by guarantee.

Just as in a company limited by shares which may have different classes of
shares, it is possible to have different classes of members in a guarantee company.
There may be non-voting members, e.g., or members who have restricted rights
in some other way. In a sports club, e.g., there may be junior members (those
under a certain age) who cannot vote or social members, who pay a lower
subscription but cannot, use the sports facilities.

Directors
A company limited by guarantee, as a private company, must have at least one
director. Most guarantee companies have several. The directors may be given
some other title, such a committee, management committee, board of managers,
trustees, governors, etc. Whatever title they may be given, if they are in day-to-
day control of the company they are in law directors of that company. Their powers
will depend on the terms of that particular company’s articles, but typically they
are given very wide powers of management. Just as in a company limited by
shares, these powers are conferred on the directors collectively, when they are
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sitting as a board and passing resolutions for the management of the company.
They may, of course, set up sub-committees, etc. and delegate powers to them,
and may give particular directors special responsibilities, such as treasurer,
membership secretary etc.

In some companies, some or even all the directors may be appointed by
one or more outside bodies, such as charities or local authorities who are backing
the project. Some directors may be elected by particular interest groups.

No Share Capital

The fact that a company limited by guarantee cannot (now) have a share capital
limits its fund-raising capacity, simply because it cannot issue shares to those who
back it and join it. For this reason, some projects that are not essentially profit-
motivated are set up as companies limited by shares. Many such companies impose
subscriptions and/or a joining fee. A guarantee company can borrow money and
may issue debentures or debenture (loan) stock.

As there are no shareholders, it is not possible to own a company limited by
guarantee in the way that a company with a share capital is owned by its
shareholders. The members of the guarantee company control it, in the same way
as shareholders control a share company, but they do not have any shares or other
security in the company that they can sell to another.

‘Not for Profit’

A company limited by guarantee is not prohibited from distributing its profits by
the Companies Act or any other law, but it is commonplace for restrictions to be
put on profit distribution in the company’s articles. Such restrictions will usually
apply both to profits while the company is running and to the distribution of assets
(after paying creditors) when the company is wound up. In many cases, but by no
means all, these restrictions are reinforced by a prohibition on any payment of
salaries or fees to the directors.

4. Company Limited by Shares
A private company limited by shares means that the company has shareholders
and that the liability of the shareholders to creditors of the company is limited to
the capital originally invested, i.e., the nominal value of the shares and any premium
paid in return for the issue of the shares by the company. A shareholder’s personal
assets are thereby protected in the event of the company’s insolvency but money
invested in the company will be lost.

In such companies, the liability of the members is limited to the extent of the
unpaid value on shares. In the event of winding up of the company, the members
need to pay the unpaid value of the shares.

Private Limited Company

A Private Limited Company is formed by a minimum of two to a maximum of fifty
people, who make financial contributions to the business and have limited liability.
They are limited by the monetary value of the shares they hold. The private limited
company does not offer its shares to the general public. This means that such
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shares cannot be traded on a public stock exchange such as the Nigerian Stock
Exchange. Also, it does not make its accounts public nor publish audited reports
in the dailies, but sends the reports to the registrar of companies as required by the
law. This is important as sending it to the registrar confirms that it is not selling its
shares to the public. These are the major features of the private limited company
that mark it different from the public limited company.

Advantages of the Private Limited Company

(i) Shareholders are only limited by the value of the shares they hold.
(ii) Shareholders jointly bear the business’ risks together.
(iii) As a separate legal entity (an imaginary person), the company can sue

and be sued in its own name.
(iv) The company enjoys some privacy as its books of accounts are not

made public.
(v) The death or withdrawal of a shareholder does not bring the business to

an end.
(vi) The private limited company has more sources of capital compared to

the sole proprietorship and partnership forms of business organizations.
This is because it has a higher limit of fifty people who can co-own the
business and make financial contributions, compared to the limit of twenty
people in the partnership and one person in the sole proprietorship.

(vii) A greater number of shareholders means a greater pool of knowledge,
ideas, skills, abilities and expertise. This is an advantage to the private
limited company compared to the sole proprietorship and the
partnership.

(viii) Growth and expansion can be achieved since there are more sources of
capital.

Disadvantages of the Private Limited Liability Company

(i) There are delays in decision making, and putting into action the decisions
made. This is because issues are first discussed by the board of directors
who are responsible for the day-to-day operations and accountable to
the shareholders.

(ii) Disagreements between or among members of the company, if not
properly handled, can bring the company to an end.

(iii) The starting up and running of a private limited company requires huge
capital.

(iv) A shareholder cannot transfer his shares without the approval of other
shareholders of the company.

(v) Profits are not distributed according to work efforts put into the business
by members. This means that members who have more shares, but do
not work hard like others towards achieving the company’s goals may
earn more dividends.
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Public Limited Company

A Public Limited Company is formed by a minimum of seven and above people,
who make financial contributions to the business and are limited by the monetary
value of the shares they hold. The public limited company has a larger number of
shareholders compared to the private limited company and can offer its shares to
the general public on the stock exchange. Also, its book of accounts is made
public and its audited reports published in the dailies. Like the private limited
company, it sends audited reports to the registrar of companies as required by the
law. These are the major features of the public limited company that mark it different
from the private limited company.

Other Different Features

(i) Capital is raised from the sale of the company’s shares on the stock
exchange, through loans and an overdraft from financial institutions,
ploughed back profits/retained earnings and credit facilities from business’
suppliers.

(ii) A shareholder can transfer his shares to another shareholder or a third
party without the approval of other shareholders.

(iii) The suffix ‘Public limited company’ (Plc.) is added at the end as part of
the name of a public limited company.

(iv) A board of directors headed by a chairman is elected by the shareholders
to run the organization.

(v) The death of any of the stakeholders (i.e., the shareholders, directors,
company secretary and any other) does not bring the business to an
end. The public limited company has an unlimited life span.

(vi) The public limited company can sue and be sued.
(vii) Shareholders jointly bear the business’ risks.

In the public limited liability company, the shareholders elect members of
the board of directors who are responsible for the day-to-day operations of the
company, alongside the managing director or any other person as the chairman.
These directors are accountable to the shareholders, and are also responsible for
determining how much of the profits generated that will be distributed as dividends
to the shareholders. Also, the company must have a company secretary (as required
by law) who is either a lawyer who specializes in company law or a professional
from the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators (ICSA).

Advantages of the Public Limited Liability Company
(i) Shareholders are only limited by the value of the shares they hold.
(ii) As a separate legal entity (an imaginary person), the company can sue

and be sued outside of its owners.
(iii) Members of the public have access to information on the company since

the company’s books of accounts are published for all to see. This helps
them make better decisions concerning the company such as whether
or not to buy shares from the company.
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(iv) The death or withdrawal of a stakeholder does not bring the business to
an end.

(v) The public limited company has a greater pool of capital (sources of
capital). This is because it has no limits to the number of people who
can be shareholders, and can sell its shares to the public on the stock
exchange. Also, the company has a greater capacity to raise loans from
financial institutions (such as banks) and through debentures.

(vi) The company has a greater pool of knowledge, ideas, skills, abilities,
technology and expertise.

(vii) The company has a greater pool of capital and can therefore grow and
expand easily.

(viii) Shares can be transferred to a shareholder or a third party without the
approval of the other shareholders, directors or any other person.

(ix) The owners of the business are not the same people who run the business.
This allows the owners the time to do other things they desire to do.

(x) Shareholders receive dividends (i.e., a part of the earnings of the
company that is distributed to shareholders).

(xi) Employment opportunities are easily made open to members of the public.
(xii) Employees of the company can become co-owners (shareholders) by

buying the company shares.

Disadvantages of the Public Limited Company
(i) Starting up a public limited company requires very huge capital.
(ii) The shareholders who basically bought shares are considered the legal

owners of the business, where as they are not the actual founders of the
business.

(iii) Shareholders do not have direct control over the business since the
business is run by the board of directors, alongside the managing director
or chairman of the board. For this reason, shareholders sometimes have
disagreements with management where they do not share the same
interests. This is usually the case where shareholders are not pleased
with the percentage of profit distributed to them as dividends at a given
time.

(iv) Decision-making is usually very slow. This is because issues are first
tabled by the board of directors for approval, before action takes place.

(v) Conflicts may arise between management (board members) and the
company’s employees.

(vi) The requirements for setting up a public limited liability company are
complex.

(vii) Close government regulation.
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5. Holding Company

A holding company refers to a company which does not produce goods or services
itself; rather, its purpose is to own shares of other companies. Holding companies
allow the reduction of risk for the owners and can allow the ownership and control
of a number of different companies. It is a company which controls another company
by holding a minimum 51% of shares and thereby controlling the composition of
the board of the company. In recent times, Indian markets has seen a few holding
companies being listed on the bourses with subsidiaries whose accounts the parents
can consolidate. A few that come to mind are:

(i) Grasim – Ultratech
(ii) Sterliet – Hindustan Zinc
(iii) Network 18 – TV18 and GBN
(iv) UB Holdings – cannot consolidate accounts but holds chunks of United

Breweries and United Sprits.
A holding company is a parent company that owns enough voting stock in a

subsidiary to dictate policy and make management decisions. This is generally
done through influence of the company’s board of directors. This does not mean
that the holding company owns all of the subsidiary’s stock, or even a majority of
it. However, holding companies that control 80% or more of the subsidiary’s voting
stock gain the benefits of tax consolidation, which include tax-free dividends for
the parent company and the ability to share operating losses.

Advantages of Holding Companies
The advantages of holding companies are follows:

(i) Smaller investment: The ability to control operations with a small
percentage of ownership because of smaller investment.

(ii) Risk share with subsidiaries: Holding companies can take risks
through subsidiaries.

(iii) Easy expansion: Expansion can happen through simple stock purchases
in the public market, which avoids the difficult step of gaining approval
from the subsidiary’s board of directors.

Disadvantages of Holding Companies

(i) If less than 80% of the subsidiary is owned by the parent, the holding
company pays multiple taxes on the federal, state and local levels.

(ii) A holding company can be forced to dissolve more easily than a single
merged operation.

(iii) A holding company may expand through the use of leverage or debt,
building a complex corporate structure that can include unrealized values,
and creating a risk if interest rates on debt or the valuation of the assets
posted as collateral for loans change dramatically.
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6. Subsidiary Company

A company which another company holds a minimum of 51% of share capital,
i.e., holding company is known as subsidiary company. As long as the parent
company has more than 50% of the voting stock in the subsidiary, it has control.
In the case of a foreign subsidiary, the company under which the subsidiary is
incorporated must adhere to the laws of the country in which the subsidiary
operates, although the parent company still carries the foreign subsidiaries financial
on its books (consolidated financial statements).

Subsidiary companies in India are common form of doing business in India.
Subsidiary company is a kind of company which is part of a larger company. For
the purpose of taxation and regulation, subsidiary is separate legal entity. The one
of the common ways to control subsidiary company is holding of share by the
parent company. These shares give parent the necessary vote to determine the
composition of the board of subsidiary and also exercise control.

Setting Up Subsidiary Company in India

Foreign Company can form subsidiary company in India and can own 100%
shareholding in all sectors except certain negative sector or industries as prescribed
in FDI and management can be Foreign National or Representative of Foreign
National.

Foreign Company does not require any approval to set up a subsidiary
company in India if their business is not in the negative sector. Otherwise, they
need to take Government approval, i.e., Approval from Foreign Investment
Promotion Board.

Pertinent Issues Related with Setting up Subsidiary Company in India
like:

(i) Where to locate the Subsidiary Company in India.
(ii) Corporate structure.
(iii) Initial shareholding agreement.
(iv) Initial director agreement.
(v) Selection of managing director.
(vi) Selection of board of director.
(vii) Corporate control of subsidiary.
(viii) Intellectual property ownership.
(ix) Intellectual property delegation.
(x) Operational implication and related issue.

Subsidiary Incorporation Task and Schedule
A number of the tasks can be done in parallel after incorporation occurs. Acting in
parallel will keep the total time as short as possible.



Company

NOTES

Self-Instructional
             Material   35

1. First Step – Incorporation takes 15 days time

(i) Engage service provider to complete incorporation process.
(ii) Enter into agreement between parent company, service provider and

initial Indian directors and shareholders.
(iii) Checking of name availability and name reservation.
(iv) Prepare and file charter documents (Memorandum of Association and

Articles of Association) with registration fee and stamp duty.
(v) Appointment of initial directors.
(vi) Issuance of shares to initial shareholders.
(vii) Print share certificates and prepare minute book.
(viii) Register company and pay registration and filing fees.

2. Next Steps

(i) Open bank account within 15-30 days of start.
(ii) Tax Registrations, including application for permanent account number

and tax within 45 days of Tax Deduction number.
(iii) Registrations under professional tax, sales tax, and Shops and

Establishment laws within 30 days of start.
(iv) Register with Software Technology Park (STP) within 45 to 90 days of

start.
(v) Approval of Customs Department for bond and facility license and

import/export codes within 60-90 days of star.
(vi) Transfer of shares held by initial Indian shareholders to the parent within

45 days of start company/nominees.
Total Time = 60 – 90 days

7. Government Company
A government company means any company in which not less than 51% of the
paid-up share capital is held by the Central Government and/or by any State
Government(s) or partly by the Central Government and partly by one or more
State Government.

Such companies have to follow all provisions of the Indian Companies Act,
1956. It has to be registered under the Indian Companies Act, 1956.

Examples: Hindustan Machine Tools, Oil and Natural Gas Commission,
etc.

A public enterprise incorporated under the Indian Companies Act, 1956 is
called a government company. These companies are owned and managed by the
central or the state government. According to Indian Companies Act, 1956, a
government company means “any company in which not less than 51% of the
paid-up share capital is held by the central or by state government and partly by
the central government and includes a company which is a subsidiary of Government
Company”. These companies are registered as private limited companies though
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their management and their control vest with the government. This is a type of
organization where both the government and private individuals are shareholders.
Sometimes, these companies are called as a mixed ownership company.

The following are some of the essential features of a government company:
(i) It is formed under the provisions of the Indian Companies Act, 1956.
(ii) The total share capital or 51% or more of share capital is held by the

government.
(iii) It enjoys the status of a legal entity and therefore it can use or be sued

by others.
(iv) The finance of a government company is obtained from the government

and from private share holders.
(v) The employees are governed by the rules prescribed for the company

by the board of directors.
(vi) It is not subject to budgeting, accounting, and audit rules applicable to a

government department.
(vii) The directors are nominated by the government depending upon

participation of private capital.

8. Associate Company
Associate Company is a corporation whose parent company possesses only a
minority stake in the ownership of the corporation. An associate company is partly
owned by another company or group of companies. The parent company or
companies do not consolidate the associate company’s financial statements. The
parent company typically owns 20% to 50% of the voting shares; if more than
50% of the shares are owned by a parent company, it creates a subsidiary (where
the parent company consolidates the financial statements). Typically, the parent
company records the associate company’s value as an asset in its balance sheet.

Associate companies are not fully consolidated. Consolidated financial
statements are the combined financial statements of a parent company and its
associated company or subsidiaries. Rather than being consolidated, the revenue
and profits from associate companies appear separately on the parent company’s
profit and loss (P&L) statements. Associate companies are sometimes created in
host countries in the case of foreign direct investments to reduce any negative
stigma connected to the foreign ownership.

9. Small Company
“Small company” means a company, other than a public company, whose paid-up
share capital does not exceed ` 5 million or such higher amount as may be
prescribed (not exceeding ̀  50 million); or whose turnover as per its last profit
and loss account does not exceed ̀  20 million or such higher amount as may be
prescribed (not exceeding ̀  200 million)

 Small Company cannot be a holding or subsidiary company. 2013 Act
provides additional flexibility to small companies and OPC. Some of the relaxations
provided to a small company and OPC are as indicated below:
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(i) Cash flow statement is not required.
(ii) Annual Return can be signed by CS or one director if there is no CS
(iii) Board meeting is required to be held at least once in each half of a

calendar year and the gap between the 2 meetings is not less than 90
days.

10. Foreign Company

“Foreign Company” is defined to mean any company or a body corporate
incorporated outside India and which has a place of business in India whether by
itself or through an agent, physically or through electronic mode; and conducts any
business activity in India in any other manner.

The expression ‘place of business’ is defined to include a share transfer or
registration office.

(i) As per FEMA, no person resident outside India shall, without prior
approval of RBI establish in India, a branch or a liaison office or any
other place of business.

(ii) A foreign company is required to register with RoC within 30 days from
the date of its establishing a place of business in India.

According to section 591, foreign companies are the:

(a) Companies incorporated outside India which, after the commencement
of this Act, establish a place of business within India; and

(b) Companies incorporated outside India which have, before the
commencement of this Act, established a place of business within India
and continue to have an established place of business within India at the
commencement of this Act.

Initial Obligations of the Foreign Company:

A foreign company shall within 30 days of establishing a place of business in India
deliver to the RoC, the following documents:

(a) A certified copy of the charter, statutes, or memorandum and articles, of
the company or other instrument constituting or defining the constitution
of the company; and, if the instrument is not in the English language, a
certified translation thereof;

(b) The full address of the registered or principal office of the company;
(c) A list of the directors and secretary of the company;
(d) The name and address or the names and addresses of some one or

more persons resident in India, authorized to accept on behalf of the
company service of process and any notices or other documents required
to be served on the company; and

(e) The full address of the office of the company in India which is to be
deemed its principal place of business in India.
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The filing shall be done at two places with the principal Registrar of companies
at New Delhi, and with the RoC of the state having jurisdiction where the principal
place of the business of the company is situated. Certification of documents shall
be in accordance with Rule 16 of the Companies (Central Government’s) Rules
and Forms, 1956.

Continual Obligation of Foreign Companies: The following are the
regular obligations of the foreign companies:

(a) Return of Alterations: A foreign company shall within 30 days of
change/alteration of any of the following file a return of alteration
containing the particulars of the changes:
(i) The charter, statutes, or memorandum and articles of a foreign

company or other instrument constituting or defining the constitution
of the company; or

(ii) The registered or principal office of a foreign company; or
(iii) The directors or secretary of the company
(iv) The name or address of any of the persons authorized to accept

service on behalf of the company; or
(v) The principal place of business of the company in India,
(vi) The governing section is section 593 of the Companies Act.

(b) Accountings: Section 594 requires a foreign company to maintain
books of accounts of its India and world business and three copies it
has to be mandatory filed with the ROC every year within 9 months
from the closure of the financial year. These accounts should be
accompanied by a list of place of businesses in India. In respect of the
Indian business of the foreign company, the profit and loss account,
balance sheet and other accounting record should be prepared.

(c) Stating of the Name: Section 595 of the companies act, 1956 obligates
a foreign company to conspicuously exhibit on the outside of every office
or place of business where it carries on business in India, its name and
country of incorporation, in letters easily legible in English characters
and also in the local language (where it is situated). It must cause both
these details also to be stated in all letter heads, business letters, bill
heads and letter papers and in all notices and other official publications
of the company.

(d) Service of Notice: Any process, notice, or other document shall be
deemed to be sufficiently served on the foreign company if the notice or
document is addressed to any person whose name has been delivered
to the Registrar under the foregoing provisions of this Part and left at, or
sent by post to, the address which has been so delivered.

(e) Notice of Ceasing the Place of Business in India: If any foreign
company ceases to have a place of business in India, it shall forthwith
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give notice of the fact to the Registrar, and as   from the date on which
notice is so given, the obligation of the company to deliver any document
to the Registrar shall cease, provided it has no other place of business in
India.

11. Global Company

A global company refers to a company that operates in more than one country or
that operates in foreign countries. It can also be referred to as a multinational
company or a transnational company. Global companies plan activities on a global
basis. By operating in more than one country benefits from savings or economies
on activities such as R&D, marketing, operations and find the optimal method of
entry. Businesses can enter the global market by exporting, licensing, joint venture
or direct investment. Global corporations operate in two or more countries and
face many challenges in their quest to capture value in the global market. Global
companies have invested and are present in many countries. They market their
products through the use of the same coordinated image/brand in all markets.
Generally, one corporate office that is responsible for global strategy.

12. Body Corporate

Body corporate broadly means a corporate entity which has a legal existence.
The term “body corporate” is defined in Section 2(11) of the Companies

Act, 2013. This includes a private company, public company, one personal
company, small company, limited liability partnerships, foreign company, etc.

“Body corporate” or “corporation” also includes a company incorporated
outside India.

However, body corporate does not include:
 (i) A co-operative society registered under any law relating to co-operative

societies; and
(ii) Any other body corporate (not being a company as defined in the

Companies Act 2013), which the Central Government may, by
notification, specify in this behalf.

13. Listed Company

A company is said to be “listed”, “quoted” or “have a listing” if its shares can be
traded on a stock exchange. To be more accurate, it is the securities that are
listed, not the company. The phrase “listed company” is widely used to mean a
company that has listed ordinary shares. It is possible (although not common) for
a company to have listed debt securities but not listed shares. Listing in more than
one market is possible through secondary listings, or through the more complex
approach of dual listing. A group of companies may also have separately listed
subsidiaries, associates and tracking stocks.

Top 10 Listed Companies in India
1. Indian Oil Corporation Ltd.
2. Oil and Natural Gas Corporation Ltd.
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3. Reliance Industries Ltd.
4. Tata Motors Ltd.
5. Bharat Petroleum Corporation Ltd.
6. Tata Steel Ltd.
7. State Bank of India

8. Hindalco Industries Ltd.

9. Hindustan Petroleum Corporation Ltd.

10. ICICI Bank Ltd.

Check Your Progress

1. Discuss the concept of Company.
2. State the characteristics of Company.
3. Discuss various types of Company.

1.6 FORMATION OF COMPANY

Formation of a Company is the term for the process of incorporation of a business.
It is also referred to as company registration. These terms are both also used
when incorporating a business. Under Indian company law and most international
law, a company or corporation is considered to be an entity that is separate from
the people who own or operate the company. There are following four stages in
the formation of the public company:

1. Promotion: The first stage in the formation of a company is promotion.
Promotion is the discovery of business opportunity and organization of
funds, property and ability in business for the purpose of making profit.
Promotion is always made through the promoters, and promoters are
those persons who actually promote (Sponsor) the company.

2. Incorporation: The second step for establishment of a company is to
get the company incorporated or registered. The promoters prepare
and file number of documents to register the company.

3. Capital Subscription: A private company can commence business
on receipt of certificate of incorporation. However, a public company
has to fulfill another requirement of subscription to obtain the certificate
of commencement of business. Following are the requirement of
subscription.

4. Commencement of Business: Commencement of Business includes
prospectus or statement in lieu of prospectus, declaration of fulfillment
of minimum subscription, declaration of fulfillment of directors; contract
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to purchase qualification shares and statutory declaration of compliance
of legal conditions precedent on certificate of commencement of business.

Steps in Formation of Joint Stock Company
The various steps in formation of Joint Stock Company are:

Fig. 1.2: Steps in Formation of Joint Stock Company

Stage - 1: Promotion Stage
The promoters do the basic work for the start of a commercial or an industrial
business on corporate basis. Promotion is the discovery of ideas and organization
of funds, property and skill, to run the business for the purpose of earning income.
Following steps are involved in the stage of promotion.

1. Idea about Business

Before starting the business, promoters have to think about the nature and
production of company’s business.

2. Investigation

After deciding the nature of business, promoters go in preliminary investigation
and make out plans as regard to the availability of capital, means of transportation,
labour, electricity, gas, water, etc.

3. Assembling various Factors

After making initial investigation, the promoter starts accumulating various factors
in order to assemble them. They arrange license, copyrights, employment of
necessary employees, etc.

4. Financial Sources

The promoters also decide the capital sources of the company and they work out
the ways through which capital can be generated.

5. Preparation of Essential Documents

In addition to above discussed matters, the promoters also prepare following
essential documents for the formation of company:

(i) Memorandum of company
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3. Subcription Stage

4. Commencement Stage
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(ii) Articles of company
(iii) Prospectus of company

Stage - 2: Incorporation Stage

The second stage for establishment of a company is to get it incorporated.

1. Filling of Document

Following documents are to be submitted by the promoters in the Registrar’s
office:

(a) Memorandum of Association:  A document indicating name, address,
objects, authorized capital, etc. of a company.

(b) Articles of Association: A document containing laws and rules for
internal control and management of a company.

(c) List of Directors: A list of the names, occupations, addresses, along
with the declaration of directors.

(d) Written Consent of Directors: A written consent showing their
willingness to act as directors, to be sent to the Registrar.

(e) Declaration of Qualifying Shares: A declaration certificate showing
that the directors have taken up qualifying shares and have paid up the
money or pay it in near future to the registrar.

(f) Prospectus: Promoters have to file a prospectus with the registrar.
(g) Statutory Declaration: A statutory declaration is to be sent to the

Registrar that all legal formalities have been completed.

2. Payment of Registration Fee

For the registration of company, the registration fee is also paid to the Registrar,
e.g., application and documents filing fee Registration fee Stamp fee on
Memorandum and Articles of Association.

3. Certificate of Incorporation

If the registrar finds all the documents right and thinks that all formalities have been
fulfilled, then he issues the certificate of incorporation to promoters.

Stage - 3: Subscription Stage
After getting certificate of incorporation, the next stage is to make arrangement for
raising capital. For any kind of business, the company raises its capital through
following sources:

(i) By Issuing Shares
(ii) By Issuing Debentures
(iii) By Savings

Stage - 4: Commencement Stage
For the commencement of business, every public company has to obtain the
certificate of commencement which requires the fulfillment of following conditions:
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1. Issue of Prospectus

A company has to issue prospectus for selling shares and debentures to public.
2. Allotment of Shares

The shares and debentures are allotted according to the pro visions of memorandum,
when applications are received from the public.
3. Minimum Subscription

It is also certified that the shares have been allotted up to an amount, not less than
the minimum subscription. After verifying the foregoing documents, the Registrar
issues a certificate of commencement of business to public company.

1.7 PROMOTION OF COMPANY

Promotion Stage

Promotion of a business simply refers to all those activities that are required to be
undertaken to establish a new business unit for manufacturing or distribution of
any product or provide any service to the people. It starts with conceiving an idea
of business or discovers an opportunity for doing a business, assess its feasibility
and then take the necessary steps to launch the business unit. This involves
ascertaining as to whether all the basic requirements such as land, building, raw
material, machine, equipments, etc. are available or not. If they are available one
can assemble them, arrange the necessary funds and set up the business unit to
give shape to the initial idea of establishing the business. The whole process is
called business ‘promotion’ and the person who does it is called the ‘promoter’.

Position of a Promoter

The promoter is neither a trustee nor an agent of the company because there is no
company yet in existence. The correct way to describe his legal position is that he
stands in a fiduciary position towards the company about to be formed.

Lord Cairns has correctly stated the position of promoter in Erlanger v.
New Semberero Phophate Co., “The promoters of a company stand undoubtedly
in a fiduciary position. They have in their hands the creation and moulding of the
company. They have the power of defining how and when and in what shape and
under what supervision, it shall start into existence and begin to act as a trading
corporation.”

From the fiduciary position of promoters, the two important results follow:
1. A promoter cannot be allowed to make any secret profits. If it is found

that in any particular transaction of the company, he has obtained a
secret profit for himself, he will be bound to refund the same to the
company.

2. The promoter is not allowed to derive a profit from the sale of his own
property to the company unless all material facts are disclosed. If he
contracts to sell his own property to the company without making a full
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disclosure, the company may either repudiate/rescind the sale or affirm
the contract and recover the profit made out of it by the promoter.

Roles and Functions of a Promoter
The main functions of a promoter are as follow:

1. Discovering of idea for establishing a company.
2. Make detailed investigation about the demand for the product, availability

of power, labour, raw material, etc.
3. Find out suitable persons who are willing to act as first directors of the

company and are ready to sign on the Memorandum of Association.
4. Selecting of bank, legal advisor, auditors and underwriters for the

company.
5. To prepare essential documents of the company
6. To prepare draft of the Memorandum of Association, Articles of

Association, Prospectus of the company and get them printed.
7. To submit all the documents, required for incorporation with the Registrar.
8. To arrange for advertisement of prospectus of the company in the

newspapers.
9. To meet all the preliminary expenses for floating of a company.

10. To make contracts with vendors, underwriters and managing director
of the company.

11. To raise the required finances and get the company going.
12. To make proper arrangement for the office of the company.

Rights of Promoters

The rights of promoters are as follows:
1. Right to receive preliminary expenses.
2. Right to receive remuneration for their services.
3. Right to receive the proportionate money from co-promoters.

Liability of the Promoters

The liabilities of promoters are as follows:
1. To disclose the liability and pay the secret profits if promoters have

earned.
2. Liability is up to the completion of contracts.
3. Liability on statutory mistakes or fraud in the prospectus.
4. His property becomes liable for payment even after his death.

Types of Promoters

The task of business promotion may be carried out by an individual, a firm, a body
corporate or a banker. Based on the nature of their operation, the promoters can
be classified into the following categories:
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(a) Professional Promoters: These promoters are specialists in promoting
new business ventures. They do it on a whole-time basis as their
occupation or profession. They initiate all the steps in establishing new
enterprises and find out the persons who can finance it. After completing
all the formalities, they pass on the management to their owners or
shareholders and then move to another new venture.

(b) Financial Promoters: These promoters float companies only during
favorable conditions in the securities market. They have the financial
capacity and look forward to opportunities for new investment.

(c) Technical Promoters: These promoters are technical experts in
different fields. They make use of their specialized knowledge, experience
and training in promoting new business. They generally charge fees for
their services.

(d) Entrepreneurial Promoters: They are the people who conceive new
ideas of business, take necessary steps to set up the business unit to
give it a shape and ultimately control and manage it. Most promoters in
India (like Tata, Birla and Ambani) fall in this category.

(e) Specialized Institutions: There are certain financial institutions which
provide financial assistance and guidance in launching new ventures and
often collaborate with new entrepreneurs to promote new business. They
also provide management and technical expertise to the existing
enterprises.

(f) Government: Both the central and state governments also act as
promoters in most cases where the new business is floated either in
public sector or joint sector which involve huge amount of capital and
risk. HMT, ONGC, SAIL and BHEL are glaring examples of units set
up by the government.

Steps Involved in Promotion of a Company
The task of promotion usually involves the following four steps or phases.

Fig. 1.3: Steps Involved in Promotion of a Company

Discovery of a Business Idea

Investigation and Verification

 Assembling

 Financing the Proposition

Step: 1

Step: 2

Step: 3

Step: 4
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1. Discovery of a Business Idea

The process of business promotion begins with conception of an idea of business
opportunity. The idea may come from non-availability of any product to satisfy the
existing need of people or inability of an existing product to satisfy the changing
need of the people or a new invention that can create a new product. For example,
during early 1940s, there was no “Walkman”. The marketing executive of an
electronic company found people busy in hearing music holding a big radio on
their shoulders while travelling. This particular scene perturbed the marketing
executive and he thought how nice would it be if the radio could be reduced to a
very small size which can be kept in pocket and a wire be connected to the ear.
This idea gave birth to the new product “Walkman”.

2. Investigation and Verification

Once the idea has been conceived, a thorough investigation is made to establish
the soundness of the proposition, taking into consideration its technical feasibility
and commercial viability. As in the case of ‘Walkman, if there was no technology
by which the size of the radio could be reduced to small size or no technology to
transmit the sound from the radio to the ear through earphone, the proposition of
producing the “Walkman” would have been impossible.

All these investigations on technical feasibility, commercial viability and
profitability are presented in a report called “project report” or “feasibility report”.
This feasibility report is the primary or basic document that helps in procuring
licenses and arranges the necessary finance from financial institutions and other
investors.

3. Assembling

Once the promoter is convinced of the feasibility and profitability of the proposition,
he takes steps in assembling or making arrangements for all the necessary
requirements such as land, building, machinery, tools, capital, etc. Decision is to
be made regarding size, location and layout etc. for the plant, and make contracts
with suppliers for raw materials, enter into agreement with the dealers to purchase
equipments, make agreement with bankers to finance and take initial steps for the
setting up of a company.

4. Financing the Proposition

At this stage, financial plans are prepared with respect to the amount of capital
required, the nature of capital structure i.e., the proportion of capital to be raised
from owner’s fund and that from borrowing from banks and others, and how and
when to raise the share capital from the general public. Agreements are made with
merchant bankers, and stock brokers who are to assist the capital issue and so
on.
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1.8 INCORPORATION OF COMPANY

Incorporation Stage
A sole proprietorship or partnership firm can be formed to carry out its business
even without any registration. But a joint stock company cannot be formed or
permitted to run its business without registration. In fact, a company comes into
existence only when it is registered with the Registrar of Companies.

Steps in Incorporation of a Company

For this purpose, the promoter has to take the following steps:

(a) Approval of Name

It has to be ensured that the name selected for the company does not match with
the name of any other company. For this, the promoter has to fill in a “Name
Availability Form” and submit it to the Registrar of Companies along with necessary
fees. The name must include the words(s) ‘Limited’ or ‘Private limited’ at the end.
Once it is approved, the promoter can proceed with other formalities for the
incorporation of the Company.

(b) Filing of Documents

After getting the name approved, the promoter makes an application to the Registrar
of Companies of the State in which the Registered Office of the company is to be
situated for registration of the company. The application for registration must be
accompanied by the following documents:

(i) Memorandum of Association (MOA) defines the objectives of the
company and incorporation: (a) Approval of name, (b) Filing of
documents and (c) Payment of filing and registration fees states about
the range of activities or operation. It must be duly stamped, signed and
witnessed.

(ii) Articles of Association (AOA) contains the rules and regulations regarding
the internal management of the company. It must be properly stamped,
duly signed by the signatories to the Memorandum of Association and
witnessed.

(iii) A list of persons who have agreed to become Directors with their
addresses, etc.

(iv) Written consent of the proposed Directors to act in that capacity, duly
signed by each Director.

(v) The notice about the exact address of the Registered Office of the
company. It may, however, be filed within 30 days of incorporation or
registration.

(vi) A copy of the name approval letter received from the Registrar of
Companies.

(vii) A statutory declaration that all the legal requirements of the Companies
Act in regard to incorporation have been complied with.
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(c) Payment of Filing and Registration Fees

Along with the above documents, necessary filing fees and registration fees at the
prescribed rates are also to be paid. The Registrar will scrutinize all the documents
and if he finds them in order, he will issue a Certificate of Incorporation. The
moment the certificate is issued, the company comes into existence. So, this
certificate may be called as the Birth Certificate of a Joint Stock Company.

Advantages of Incorporation

Incorporation offers certain advantages to a company as compared with all other
kinds of business organizations. They are:

1. Independent Corporate Existence: The outstanding feature of a
company is its independent corporate existence. By registration under
the Companies Act, a company becomes vested with corporate
personality, which is independent of, and distinct from its members. A
company is a legal person. The decision of the House of Lords in
Salomon v. Salomon & Co. Ltd. (1897 AC 22) is an authority on this
principle: One S incorporated a company to take over his personal
business of manufacturing shoes and boots. The seven subscribers to
the memorandum were all his family members, each taking only one
share. The Board of Directors composed of S as managing director
and his four sons. The business was transferred to the company at
40,000 pounds. S took 20,000 shares of 1 pound each n debenture
worth 10,000 pounds. Within a year the company came to be wound
up and the state of affairs was like this: Assets (6,000 pounds), Liabilities
– Debenture creditors (10,000 pounds) and Unsecured creditors (7,000
pounds).

2. Limited Liability: Limitation of liability is another major advantage of
incorporation. The company, being a separate entity leading its own
business life, the members is not liable for its debts. The liability of
members is limited by shares; each member is bound to pay the nominal
value of shares held by them and his liability ends there.

3. Perpetual Succession: An incorporated company never dies. Members
may come and go, but the company will go on forever. During the war,
all the members of a private company, while in general meeting, were
killed by a bomb. But the company survived, not even a hydrogen bomb
could have destroyed it (K/9 Meat Supplies (Guildford) Ltd., Re, 1966
(3) All E.R. 320).

4. Common Seal: Since a company has no physical existence, it must act
through its agents and all such contracts entered into by such agents
must be under the seal of the company. The common seal acts as the
official seal of the company.

5. Transferable Shares: When joint stock companies were established,
the great object was that the shares should be capable of being easily
transferred. Sec. 82 gives expression to this principle by providing that
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“the shares or other interest of any member shall be movable property,
transferable in the manner provided by the articles of the company.”

6. Separate Property: The property of an incorporated company is vested
in the corporate body. The company is capable of holding and enjoying
property in its own name. No members, not even all the members, can
claim ownership of any asset of company’s assets.

7. Capacity for Suits: A company can sue and be sued in its own name.
The names of managerial members need not be impleaded.

8. Professional management: A company is capable of attracting
professional managers. It is due to the fact that being attached to the
management of the company gives them the status of business or
executive class.

Disadvantages of Incorporation

1. Lifting of Corporate Veil: Though for all purposes of law a company
is regarded as a separate entity it is sometimes necessary to look at the
persons behind the corporate veil.
(a) Determination of character: The House of Lords in Daimler

Co Ltd. v. Continental Tyre and Rubber Co. held that a company
though registered in England would assume an enemy character if
the persons in de facto control of the company are residents of an
enemy country.

(b) For benefit of revenue: The separate existence of a company
may be disregarded when the only purpose for which it appears to
have been formed is the evasion of taxes (Sir Dinshaw Maneckjee,
Re/Commissioner of Income Tax v. Meenakshi Mills Ltd.).

(c) Fraud or improper conduct: In Gilford Motor Co v. Horne, a
company was restrained from acting when its principal shareholder
was bound by a restraint covenant and had incorporated a company
only to escape the restraint.

(d) Agency or trust or government company: The separate existence
of a company may be ignored when it is being used as an agent or
trustee. In State of UP v. Renusagar Power Co., it was held that
a power generating unit created by a company for its exclusive
supply was not regarded as a separate entity for the purpose of
excise.

(e) Under statutory provisions: The Act sometimes imposes personal
liability on persons behind the veil in some instances like, where
business is carried on beyond six months after the knowledge that
the membership of company has gone below statutory minimum
(sec. 45), when contract is made by misdescribing the name of the
company (sec. 147), when business is carried on only to defraud
creditors (sec. 542).
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2. Formality and Expense: Incorporation is a very expensive affair. It requires
a number of formalities to be complied with both as to the formation and
administration of affairs.

3. Company Not a Citizen: In State Trading Corporation of India v. CTO,
the SC held that a company though a legal person is not a citizen neither
under the provisions of the Constitution nor under the Citizenship Act.

1.9 COMMENCEMENT OF BUSINESS

In case of a private limited company, it can immediately start its business as soon
as it is registered. In case of public limited company a certificate, known as certificate
of commencement of businesses must be obtained from the Registrar of Companies
before starting its operation. For this purpose, it has to file a statement with the
following declarations to the Registrar of Companies that:

(a) a prospectus has been filed with the Registrar of Companies.
(b) the shares have been allotted up to the amount of the minimum

subscription.
(c) the Directors have taken up or purchased the minimum number of shares

required to qualify them to be Director.
(d) no money is liable to become refundable to the applicants by reason of

failure to obtain permission for shares to be traded in a recognized stock
exchange.

(e) a statutory declaration by a Director or the Secretary of the company
stating that the requirements relating to the commencement of business
have been duly complied with.

E-filing
Electronic filing otherwise known as e-Filing allows authorized users to file a
document with the different government authorities directly from a computer using
the Internet.

It is one of the most user-friendly, accountable, accurate and secures
innovation. Electronic filing, or e-filing, of tax returns first clicked in India as part
of a proposal for Web-based electronic tax administration system for service tax.
Considering the ease and the comfort for taxpayers across the country and also
technology lending a helping hand, the both the Central and State governments
decided to extend e-filing of tax returns to the other types of taxes, including
income-tax, excise and VAT.

It aids in easy reference to previous filings, updating of techniques with
upcoming changes in the Statutes, etc. It leads to release of the burdensome and
cumbersome job of maintaining physical papers and documents which are often
exposed to threats like loss of data due to mutilation or wear and tear, unauthorized
usage, misplacement, etc.
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Various e-Filing Websites for Different Returns:

(i) Income Tax
(ii) Ministry of Corporate Affairs
(iii) Central Excise and Service Tax
For filing returns relating to VAT, Professional Tax, etc., the respective

websites maintained by the respective State Governments must be referred.

Procedure of e-Filing

In order to carry out e-filing on Ministry of Corporate Affairs (MCA) 21 have
facility to download the e-form and fill it in an offline mode. Every form has the
facility to pre-fill the data available in MCA21 system. Once the e-form is filled,
you would need to validate the e-form using Pre-scrutiny button. You would then
have to affix the relevant digital signatures and save the form. You would need to
be connected to the internet to carry out the pre-fill and pre-scrutiny functions.
The step by step process is given below. The filled up e-form as per relevant
instruction kit needs to be uploaded on the MCA21 portal. On successful upload,
the service request number would be generated and you would be directed to
make payment of the statutory fees. The step by step process is given below.
Once the payment has been made the status of your payment and filing status can
be tracked on the MCA21 portal by using the ‘Track Your Payment Status’ and
‘Track Your Transaction Status’ link respectively.

Steps to Proceed to Do e-Filing

Follow the steps given below to proceed to do e-Filing:
1. Select a category to download an e-Form from the MCA21portal (with

or without instruction kit).
2. At any time, you can read the related instruction kit to familiarize yourself

with the procedures (you can download the instruction kit with e-Form
or view it under Help menu).

3. You have to fill the downloaded e-Form.
4. You have to attach the necessary documents as attachments.
5. You can use the Pre-fill button in e-Form to populate the grayed out

portion by connecting to the Internet.
6. The applicant or a representative of the applicant needs to sign the

document using a digital signature.
7. You need to click the Check Form button available in the e-Form. System

will check the mandatory fields, mandatory attachment(s) and digital
signature(s).

8. You need to upload the e-Form for pre-scrutiny. The pre-scrutiny service
is available under the Services tab or under the e-Forms tab by clicking
the Upload e-Form button. The system will verify (pre-scrutinize) the
documents. In case of any inadequacies, the user will be asked to rectify
the mistakes before getting the document ready for execution (signature).
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9. The system will calculate the fee, including late payment fees based on
the due date of filing, if applicable.

10. Payments will have to be made through appropriate mechanisms –
electronic (credit card, Internet banking) or traditional means (at the
bank counter through challan).
(a) Electronic payments can be made at the Virtual Front Office (VFO)

or at PFO.
(b) If the user selects the traditional payment option, the system will

generate 3 copies of pre-filled challan in the prescribed format.
Traditional payments through cash, cheques can be done at the
designated network of banks using the system generated challan.
There will be five banks with estimated 200 branches authorized
for accepting challan payments.

11. The payment will be exclusively confirmed for all online (Internet)
payment transactions using payment gateways.

12. Acceptance or rejection of any transaction will be explicitly
communicated to the applicant (including facility to print a receipt for
successful transactions).

13. MCA21 will provide a unique transaction number, the Service Request
Number (SRN) which can be used by the applicant for enquiring the
status pertaining to that transaction.

14. Filing will be complete only when the necessary payments are made.
15. In case of a rejection, helpful remedial tips will be provided to the

applicant.
16. The applicants will be provided an acknowledgement through e-mail or

alternatively they can check the MCA portal.

How to File Paper Attachments with the e-Form?

You have to first get the paper attachments scanned and saved as a soft copy in
PDF format. Then attach the same in the attachment section of the e-Form by
clicking the appropriate ‘Attach’ button.

How to Upload/Submit the Scanned Documents?

You can upload /submit the scanned documents by attaching the same with the
e-form and submitting on the MCA Portal.
How to Ensure that the Size of Scanned PDF Documents is Not Excessive?
To ensure that the size of scanned PDF document is within the permissible size
limits, it is recommended that scanning should be done in ‘black and white’ mode
at 200 dpi resolution and should not exceed 2.5 MB.
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How to Sign an e-Form?

An e-Form can be signed by the authorized signatory/representative using the
Digital Signature Certificate (DSC). Click the red color signature box in the
e-Form to affix the digital signature. To avoid increase in size of the e-Form beyond
permissible limit of 2.5 MB, always affix the DSC using the ‘Sign and Save As’
option.

How to Make Payment Electronically?

Payments can be made electronically through credit cards/debit cards or internet
banking. During the e-filing process, the system will prompt you to make payment.
You can choose the mode of payment and make the payment accordingly.

How to Make Offline Payment?

If you are not having a credit card or Internet banking facility, you can make
payment at the counter of an authorized bank through the pre-filled challan
generated by the system after e-filing.

For payments of value above ̀  50,000, stakeholders would have the option
either to make the payment in electronic mode, or paper challan. However such
payments would also be made in electronic mode w.e.f .1st October, 2011.

For the purpose of collection of payments, numerous branches in all major
cities and towns of the following five banks have been authorized:

(i) State Bank of India
(ii) Punjab National Bank
(iii) Indian Bank
(iv) ICICI Bank
(v) HDFC Bank
Details of the branches of the above banks offering this facility are given on

‘List of Authorized Banks’ link on the MCA21 portal.
On successful e-filing and payment, you can view the status of your

transaction using the “Track your transaction status” link and you would be required
to enter the SRN No. Once the form has been approved by the concerned official
of the Ministry, you will receive an email regarding the same and the status of the
form will get changed to Approved. In case the status is other than approved, you
would need to take the necessary action as detailed below:

Is the Transaction Status of Your SRN ‘Required Resubmission’?

In this case, you are required to re-submit your e-Form to rectify the defect(s)/
incompleteness pointed out by the concerned MCA office, before the due date
mentioned in the status of your SRN. If you fail to re-submit your e-Form within
prescribed period, you will be required to file the e-Form afresh with payment of
fee and additional fee, as applicable.
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Is the Transaction Status of Your SRN ‘Waiting for User Clarification’?

In this case. you are required to file e-Form 67 (Addendum), to rectify the defects
pointed out or furnish further information/document(s) called for by the concerned
MCA office. As per revised regulation 17, if you fail to furnish requisite information/
document within prescribed period, you will be required to file the e-Form afresh
with payment of fee and additional fee, as applicable.

Has Your SRN being Marked as ‘Defective’?
In case of STP forms, for example annual forms 20B, 23AC, 23ACA, etc., if
there is any defect or incompleteness, same is marked by the RoC as ‘Defective’.
You are required to file such form afresh after rectifying the defects/incompleteness
with payment of fee and additional fee, as applicable.

Is the Transaction Status of Your SRN ‘Invalid and NBTR’?
In such cases where an e-Form has not been re-submitted or the requisite
information/document(s) has not been provided through e-Form 67 (Addendum)
within prescribed period, the status of SRN is marked as ‘Invalid and Not Been
Taken on Record (Invalid and NBTR)’ and in case of an application as ‘Invalid
and Transaction Cancelled’. You are required to file such form afresh with payment
of fee and additional fee, as applicable.
Is the Transaction Status of Your SRN ‘Pending for Approval under
Regulation 17(6)’?
It means that the e-Form is pending for the want of requisite approval from Central
Government, Regional Director, Company Law Board or any other competent
authority.

How to View Public Documents Facility on the MCA Portal?

To avail the same, you can register yourself on the MCA portal and click on the
‘View Public Documents’ link to view the documents of the specific companies
available for viewing to public pertaining to specific company(ies). Once you select
the company(ies), you will be prompted to make the payment of ` 50/- per
company. On receipt of the payment, the system will allow you to view the
documents pertaining to the selected company from the ‘My Documents’ link
after logging on to the portal. You will be able to view the documents for a period
of three hours from the time you start viewing. Documents such as balance sheets,
annual returns for the preceding two years and permanent documents like MoA
and AoA are available in the digital form for the companies falling under RoC
going live on the MCA portal.

How to Apply for Certified Copies of the Documents?

You can avail this service by using the Get Certified Copies service. Once you
make the necessary payment, your request will be routed to the concerned person.
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Common Errors Committed while Availing Services on MCA Portal

Payment of challan not done before the expiry date: If payment of challan is not
made before the expiry date, the transaction gets cancelled and applicant needs to
file the e-Form again on MCA portal to generate a fresh challan for payment.

(i) Payment of fees (via challan) through other option: Once a challan
is generated, its payment has to be made in an authorized bank branch.
Payment against e-Filing should not be made using any mode of payment
on MCA portal, e.g., Miscellaneous Fee option, as in such a case, the
payment made does not get linked with the original Filing Transaction/
SRN.

(ii) Duplicate payment: Always check the payment status of original/
previous SRN before trying to make payment again for the same
transaction. If the payment status is ‘Paid’, do not pay again.

(iii) Verification of status of e-Filing: The SRN No. is the key for
verification of status of e-Filing. Please note down the SRN generated
by the system before making the payment/for the purpose of checking
the payment/transaction status.

(iv) Inspection of public documents: On confirmation of payment, a link
is made available under ‘My documents’ tab to view the documents
online. This link will be valid for seven days – you can view these
documents anytime within 7 days of appearing those under ‘My
Documents’. However, online viewing is provided for continuous three
hours maximum, once you begin this activity.

(v) e-Form version used is not latest: Always download a fresh e-Form
for e-Filing from the MCA portal.

(vi) Modify or sign the e-Form numerous times which increases the
size of the e-form: While signing the e-form click on ‘Sign and Save
As’ option to affix the DSC to keep the size of the e-Form minimum.

(vii) Uploading e-Form in case of “Required Resubmission” : If the
transaction status is “Required Resubmission”, the e-Form needs to be
filled again correctly and filed against the original SRN. Do not use
‘Addendum’ option as transaction through ‘addendum’ will not be
processed against ‘Resubmission’. ‘Addendum’ facility is used for
providing additional information, if any, to RoC.

(viii) Mistaking the status “Required Resubmission” as rejection of
the e-form and take no action: If the status of SRN is “Required
Resubmission”, then file the e-Form again by giving SRN of original
filing and uploading e-Form by clicking ‘Resubmit’ button under ‘e-
Form upload’ link. After re-submission, the status of SRN will change
and e-Form will be available for processing at RoC office.

Registrar of Companies (RoC)

Registrars of Companies (RoC) appointed under Section 609 of the Companies
Act covering the various States and Union Territories are vested with the primary
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duty of registering companies floated in the respective states and the Union
Territories and ensuring that such companies comply with statutory requirements
under the Act. These offices function as registry of records, relating to the companies
registered with them, which are available for inspection by members of public on
payment of the prescribed fee. The Central Government exercises administrative
control over these offices through the respective Regional Directors.

Certificate of Commencement of Business

The date of incorporation of a company may not be the date of commencement of
business. A private company and a public limited company not having share capital
are not required to comply with any other formalities and may commence its business
activities immediately after obtaining the certificate of incorporation from the
concerned Registrar of Companies.

A private limited company, which has converted into public limited company,
is also not required to obtain certificate of commencement of business.

Requirement for Obtaining Commencement of Business Certificate
A public limited company having share capital cannot commence business until it
has obtained the certificate to commence business (COB) from the concerned
Registrar of Companies. Normally, a new company will comply with the required
formalities and obtain the commencement of business certificate (COB) from the
Registrar as soon as possible after formation because it cannot commence any
business activities or exercise its borrowing powers without it.

Action required on the part of the company to obtain commencement of
business certificate (Refer Section 149).

1. Where a Company Not Issues Prospectus for Public Subscription

For obtaining a certificate to commence business, the following actions are required
to be taken:

(i) The company shall file with the Registrar a statement in lieu of prospectus
(SLP) (signed by every director) electronically at the MCA portal in the
form given in Schedule III to Act together with the e-Form 62 and shall
pay the prescribed fee by online or offline as per Schedule X of the
Companies Act, 1956.

(ii) The directors should pay the value of the shares to the extent money is
payable in cash with application/allotment;

(iii) A duly certified declaration shall be filed electronically at the MCA portal
in the e-Form 20 and a stamped copy shall be simultaneously filed with
the Registrar signed by a director/secretary or by secretary in practice
where there is no secretary, to the effect that the requirements of section
149(2) have been complied with.

(iv) The company shall not allot any share or debenture at least for three
days after filing of statement in lieu of prospectus with the Registrar
[Section 70(1)].
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(v) The company shall pay the prescribed filing fee by online or offline under
Schedule X on SLP and on e-Form 20 to the Registrar of Companies.
The Registrar of Companies shall then issue the requisite certificate of
commencement of business.

Note: It was decided in the case of Malabar Iron & Steel Works Ltd. v.
Registrar of Companies (1963) that COB cannot be issued if the company has
not complied with the provisions of section 149(1), even though it has issued a
SLP u/s 70.

2. Where a Company Issues Prospectus for Public Subscription
Where a company issues a prospectus immediately after its formation, it need not
file a statement in lieu of prospectus. The following points have to be ensured in
this connection:

(i) Shares arranging the amount at least equal to the amount of minimum
subscription under section 69 have been allotted [Section 149(1)(a)].

(ii) Every director has paid to the company, in respect of shares taken or
contracted to be taken by them subject to payment in cash, a sum equal
to at least the amount payable on application and allotment on the shares
offered to public for subscription [Section 149(1)(b)].

(iii) Application has to be made to the recognized stock exchange for obtaining
permission for dealing in shares/debentures.

(iv) Filing of following documents electronically with the ROC is necessary:
(a) prospectus; (b) e-Form 19 duly certified by a director/secretary or
by secretary in whole-time practice where there is no secretary declaring
that all the conditions as stated in (i) to (iii), above have been duly fulfilled
and stamped copy shall be physically delivered simultaneously to the
Registrar.

(v) Payment of prescribed filing fee under Schedule X on prospectus and
e-Form 19 by online or off line system. The Registrar of Companies
shall thereupon issue the requisite certificate of commencement of
business.

Certificate to Commence Business is Conclusive Evidence

The Registrar, on perusal of the declaration in e-Form 19 or 20 and the statement
in lieu of prospectus, as may be applicable, shall certify that the company is entitled
to commence business and to exercise borrowing powers. The certificate shall be
the conclusive evidence that the company is entitled to commence its business
[Refer Section 149(6)].

Status of Contracts

Status of Contracts Made Before or After Incorporation but Before
Obtaining the COB
Only after obtaining the certificate of incorporation, a public company can enter
into binding contracts. After obtaining certificate of incorporation but before
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obtaining certificate for commencement of business, the company may, however,
enter into provisional contracts subject to the condition that they will be binding
only after the company has obtained the commencement certificate.

Procedure for Obtaining Certificate of Commencement of Business

In order to obtain COB, a public company shall file the following documents with
the Registrar of Companies as desired by section 149:

1. A prospectus/statement in lieu of prospectus as the case may be along
with following documents:
(a) list of the members of the company with their shareholdings;
(b) confirmation for paid up share capital to the extent of ̀  5,00,000

and proof thereof, viz., copy of bank statement, etc.;
(c) list of Directors, Manager, Secretary, Auditors and changes among

them, if any;
(d) consent of the Auditors to include their name in the Prospectus/

Statement in lieu of Prospectus;
(e) copy of the agreements for appointment of Managing Director,

Underwriters, contracts entered into by the promoters before
incorporation of the company, etc. if any;

(f) printed and certified copy of the Memorandum and Articles of
Association of the company;

(g) details of the preliminary expenses incurred by the company;
(h) power of attorney to make corrections in the Prospectus/Statement

in lieu of prospectus and to obtain certificate for commencement of
business from the Registrar of Companies;

(i)  certified copy of the resolution passed by the Board for approval of
prospectus/statement in lieu of prospectus for filing with the Registrar.

2. A duly verified declaration on stamp paper that provisions of section
149 of the Act have been complied with, by one of the directors or
secretary or, where there is no secretary, by  a secretary in whole-time
practice, in e-Form 19/20 as the case may be.

Sample Board Resolution for the Adoption of SLP

“RESOLVED THAT the draft of the Statement in Lieu of Prospectus made
in accordance with the provisions of Schedule III of the Companies Act, 1956,
Parts I, II and III, as placed before the Board duly initialed by the Chairman for
the purpose of identification be and is hereby approved and that the same be
signed by all the directors of the company and delivered to the Registrar of
Companies, Uttar Pradesh for obtaining the Certificate of Commencement of
Business.

FURTHER RESOLVED THAT Mr. Rajesh Gupta, Director of the
Company be and is hereby authorized to sign and file e-Form 20 to the Registrar
of Companies, Uttar Pradesh.
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FURTHER RESOLVED THAT the directors of the company be and is
hereby authorized to give Power of Attorney in favor of Mr. Rajesh Gupta, the
Director and/or Mr. Neeraj Mehra, Advocate to do all such acts, deeds and
things for filing of the above said Statement in Lieu of Prospectus and to make any
additions, corrections, alterations, etc. for and on behalf of the Board of directors
of the company as may be required or directed by the Registrar of Companies for
taking on record and to issue the certificate for Commencement of Business.”

e-Prospectus

The Companies Act, 2013 defines a prospectus under section 2(70). Prospectus
can be defined as “any document which is described or issued as a prospectus”.
This also includes any notice, circular, advertisement or any other document acting
as an invitation to offers from the public.

Contents of e-Prospectus

e-Prospectus is the electronic mode of document that is required by and filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) that provides details about an
investment offering to the public. e-Prospectus is filed for offerings of stocks,
bonds and mutual funds.

A prospectus is “the only window through which a prospective investor can
look into the soundness of a company’s venture”. Hence, it must specify at least
the following matters as per Schedule II:

1. The prospectus contains the main objectives of the company, the name
and addresses of the signatories of the Memorandum of Association
and the number of shares held by them.

2. The name, addresses and occupation of directors and managing directors.
3. The number and classes of shares and debentures issued.
4. The qualification share of directors and the interest of directors for the

promotion of company.
5. The number, description and the document of shares or debentures which

within the two preceding years have been agreed to be issued other
than cash.

6. The name and addresses of the vendors of any property acquired by
the company and the amount paid or to be paid.

7. Particulars about the directors, secretaries and the treasures and their
remuneration.

8. The amount for the minimum subscription.
9. If the company carrying on business, the length of time of such businesses.

10. The estimated amount of preliminary expenses.
11. Name and address of the auditors, bankers and solicitors of the company.
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12. Time and place where copies of balance sheets, profits and loss account
and the auditor’s report may be inspected.

13. The auditor’s report so submitted must deal with the profit and loss of
the company for each year of five financial years immediately preceding
the issue of prospectus.

14. If any profit or reserve has been capitalized, the particulars of such
capitalization will be stated in the prospectus.

1.10 BOOK BUILDING

Book building is a common practice in developed countries and has recently been
making inroads into emerging markets as well. Bids may be submitted on-line, but
the book is maintained off-market by the book runner and bids are confidential to
the book runner. The price at which new shares are issued is determined after the
book is closed at the discretion of the book runner in consultation with the issuer.
Generally, bidding is by invitation only to clients of the book runner and, if any,
lead manager, or co-manager. Generally, securities laws require additional disclosure
requirements to be met if the issue is to be offered to all investors. Consequently,
participation in a book build may be limited to certain classes of investors. If retail
clients are invited to bid, retail bidders are generally required to bid at the final
price, which is unknown at the time of the bid, due to the impracticability of collecting
multiple price point bids from each retail client. Although bidding is by invitation,
the issuer and book runner retain discretion to give some bidders a greater allocation
of their bids than other investors. Typically, large institutional bidders receive
preference over smaller retail bidders, by receiving a greater allocation as a
proportion of their initial bid. All book building is conducted ‘off-market’ and
most stock exchanges have rules that require that on-market trading be halted
during the book building process.

The key differences between acquiring shares via a book build (conducted
off-market) and trading (conducted on-market) are: (1) bids into the book are
confidential vs transparent bid and ask prices on a stock exchange; (2) bidding is
by invitation only (only clients of the book runner and any co-managers may bid);
(3) the book runner and the issuer determine the price of the shares to be issued
and the allocations of shares between bidders in their absolute discretion; (4) all
shares are issued or transferred at the same price whereas on-market acquisitions
provide for a multiple trading prices.

It is one of the merger process the book runner collects bids from investors
at various prices, between the floor price and the cap price. Bids can be revised
by the bidder before the book closes. The process aims at tapping both wholesale
and retail investors. The final issue price is not determined until the end of the
process when the book has closed. After the close of the book building period,



Company

NOTES

Self-Instructional
             Material   61

the book runner evaluates the collected bids on the basis of certain evaluation
criteria and sets the final issue price.

If demand is high enough, the book can be oversubscribed. In this case, the
green shoe option is triggered. Book building is essentially a process used by
companies raising capital through public offerings both initial public offers (IPOs)
and follow-on public offers (FPOs) to aid price and demand discovery. It is a
mechanism where, during the period for which the book for the offer is open, the
bids are collected from investors at various prices, which are within the price band
specified by the issuer. The process is directed towards both the institutional as
well as the retail investors. The issue price is determined after the bid closure
based on the demand generated in the process.

The “book” is the off-market collation of investor demand by the book
runner and is confidential to the book runner, issuer, and underwriter. Where shares
are acquired, or transferred via a book build, the transfer occurs off-market, and
the transfer is not guaranteed by an exchange’s clearing house. Where an underwriter
has been appointed, the underwriter bears the risk of non-payment by an acquirer
or non-delivery by the seller.

Meaning of Book Building

Book building refers to the process of generating, capturing, and recording investor
demand for shares during an IPO or other securities during their issuance process
in order to support efficient price discovery. The issuer appoints a major investment
bank to act as a major securities underwriter or book runner.

Book building is the process by which an underwriter attempts to determine
at what price to offer an IPO based on demand from institutional investors.

Need for Book Building

The abolition of the Capital Issue Control Act, 1947 has brought a new era in the
primary capital markets in India. Controls over the pricing of the issues, designing
and tenure of the capital issues were abolished. The issuers, at present, are free to
make the price of the issues. Before establishment of SEBI in 1992, the quality of
disclosures in the offer documents was very poor. SEBI has also formulated and
prescribed stringent disclosure norms in conformity to global standards. The main
drawback of free pricing was the process of pricing of issues. The issue price was
determined around 60-70 days before the opening of the issue and the issuer had
no clear idea about the market perception of the price determined. The traditional
fixed price method of tapping individual investors suffered from two defects:
(a) delays in the IPO process and (b) under-pricing of issue. In fixed price method,
public offers do not have any flexibility in terms of price as well as number of
issues. From experience it can be stated that a majority of the public issues coming
through the fixed price method are either under-priced or over-priced. Individual
investors (i.e., retail investors), as such, are unable to distinguish good issues from
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bad one. This is because the issuer company and the merchant banker as lead
manager do not have the exact idea on the fixed pricing of public issues.

Thus, it is required to find out a new mechanism for fair price discovery and
to help the least informed investors. That is why, Book Building mechanism, a new
process of price discovery, has been introduced to overcome this limitation and
determine issue price effectively. Public offers in fixed price method involve a pre
issue cost of 2-3% and carry the risk of failure if it does not receive 90% of the
total subscription. In Book Building, such cost and risks can be avoided because
the issuer company can withdraw from the market if demand for the security does
not exist.

Malegam Panel’s Recommendations

The introduction of book building in India in 1995 was on account of the
recommendations of an expert committee appointed by SEBI under Chairmanship
of Y.H. Malegam “to review the (then) existing disclosure requirements in offer
documents.” Two of the terms of reference being “the basis of pricing the issue”
and “whether substantial reduction was possible in the time taken for processing
applications by SEBI.” The committee has submitted its report with several
recommendations and the SEBI accepted the same in November 1995.

The book building route should be open to issuer companies, subject to
certain terms and conditions. Some of them are presented below:

1. The option should be available only to issues exceeding ̀  100 crore.
2. The book building issuer companies could either reserve the securities

for firm allotment or avail themselves of the book building process.
3. Draft prospectus to be submitted to SEBI could exclude information

about the offer price.
4. A book runner to be nominated from among the lead merchant bankers,

charged with specific responsibilities and the name is to be submitted to
the SEBI’s approval.

5. The requirement of 25% of the securities to be offered to the public will
be continued.

In 1997, the restriction of the facility to 75% of the issue was thought to
severely constrain the benefits arising out of price and demand discovery, and the
facility was extended to 100% of the issue, available only if the issue amount was
` 100 crore and above, compulsorily offering an additional 10% of the issue to
the public through prospectus, and reserving at least 15% of the issue size to
individual investors applying up to ten tradable lots. Further, audited financial ratios
had to be disclosed, namely, EPS, P/E, average return on net worth for the last
three years and net asset value based on last year’s balance sheet. However,
there were no takers for the 100 percent book-building facility. Based on suggestions
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made by leading merchant bankers, the following amendments were made to the
guidelines in 1999:

1. The issuer may be allowed to disclose either the issue size or the number
of securities to be offered to the public;

2. Allotment should be in demat mode only; and
3. Reservation of 15% of issue amount for individual investors need to the

public at a fixed price.

Book Building and Fixed Price Option in the IPOs

A company may raise capital in the primary capital market through initial public
offers (IPOs), rights issues and private placement. IPOs, the largest sources of
funds in the primary capital market, to the company are basically an invitation by a
company to the public to subscribe to its securities offered through prospectus.

In fixed price process in IPOs, allotments of shares to all investors are
made on proportionate basis. Institutional investors normally are not interested to
participate in fixed price public issues due to uncertainty of allotment and lack of
opportunity cost. On the other hand, they like to participate largely in book built
transactions as in this process the costs of public issue and the time taken for the
completion of the entire process are much lesser than the fixed price issues.

In Book Building, the price is determined on the basis of demand received
or at price above or equal to the floor price whereas in fixed price option the price
of issues is fixed first and then the securities are offered to the investors. In case of
Book Building process, book is built by Book Runner Lead Manager (BRLM) to
know the everyday demand whereas in case of fixed price of public issues, the
demand is known at the close of the issue.

SEBI Guidelines for Book Building

1. The book building process shall be made through an electronically linked
transparent facility.

2. The number of bidding centres shall not be less than thirty, including all
stock exchange centres and there shall be at least one electronically
linked computer terminal at all bidding centres.

3. The promoter shall deposit in an escrow account, 100% of the estimated
amount of consideration calculated on the basis of the floor price indicated
and the number of securities required to be acquired. The provisions of
clause 10 of the Securities and Exchange Board of India Regulations,
1998 shall be applicable mutatis mutandis to such escrow account.

4. The offer to buy shall remain open to the security holders for a minimum
period of three days. The security holders shall have a right to revise
their bids before the closing of the bidding.
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5. The promoter or acquirer shall appoint ‘trading members’ for placing
bids on the online electronic system.

6. Investors may approach trading members for placing offers on the online
electronic system. The format of the offer form and the details that it
must contain shall be specified.

7. The security holders desirous of availing the exit opportunity shall deposit
the shares offered with the trading members prior to placement of orders.
Alternately, they may mark a pledge for the same to the trading member.
The trading members in turn may place these securities as margin with
the exchanges/clearing corporations.

8. The offers placed in the system shall have an audit trail in the form of
confirmations which gives broker ID details with time stamp and unique
order number.

9. The final offer price shall be determined as the price at which the maximum
number of shares has been offered. The acquirer shall have the choice
to accept the price. If the price is accepted then the acquirer shall be
required to accept all offers up to and including the final price but may
not have to accept higher priced offers, subject to clause.

10. If final price is accepted, the acquirer shall have to accept offers up to
and including the final price, i.e., 240 shares at the final price of
` 130/-.

11. At the end of the book build period, the merchant banker to the book
building exercise shall announce in the press and to the concerned
exchanges the final price and the acceptance (or not) of the price by the
acquirer.

12. The acquirer shall make the requisite funds available with the exchange/
clearing corporation on the final settlement day (which shall be three
days from the end of the book build period). The trading members shall
correspondingly make the shares available. On the settlement day, the
funds and securities shall be paid out in a process akin to secondary
market settlements.

13. The entire exercise shall only be available for demat shares. For holders
of physical certificates, the acquirer shall keep the offer open for a period
of 15 days from the final settlement day for the shareholders to lodge
the certificates with custodian(s) specified by the merchant banker.

Check Your Progress

4. Explain in brief about formation of company.
5. Discuss about the advantages of incorporation of business.
6. Explain about commencement of business.
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1.11 ANSWERS TO ‘CHECK YOUR PROGRESS’

1. Discuss the concept of Company.
Company is a voluntary association of persons formed for the purpose of
doing business having a distinct name and limited liability. It is a judicial
person having a separate legal entity distinct from the members who constitute
it, capable of rights and duties of its own and endowed with the potential of
perpetual succession. It is an association or collection of individual real
persons and/or other companies, who provide some form of capital. This
group has a common purpose or focus and an aim of gaining profits. The
group or association of persons can be made to exist in law and then a
company itself is considered as “legal person”. The name company arose
because, at least originally, it represented or was owned by more than one
real or legal person.
A joint stock company is a type of corporation or partnership involving two
or more individuals that own shares of stock in the company. Certificates of
ownership are issued by the company in return for each financial contribution,
and the shareholders are free to transfer their ownership interest at any time
by selling their shareholdings to others. In modern corporate law, the
existence of a joint stock company is often synonymous with incorporation
and limited liability. As a consequence, joint stock companies are commonly
known as corporations or limited companies.

2. State the characteristics of Company.
(i) Artificial Person: A company is an artificial person created by

law. It is created by legal process and not by natural birth.
(ii) Common Seal: The common seal can serve as its signature. The

common seal is affixed on all important documents and contracts
which is witnessed by signature of two directors and countersigned
by secretary where ever required.

(iii) Compulsory Incorporation: A company is a voluntary association
of persons formed and incorporated under the existing Corinne law.

(iv) Perpetual Succession: Since the company has a separate existence
from its members, directors and employees, their death, insolvency
or insanity will not affect its life and existence men may come and
men may go but a company remains forever.

(v) Limited Liability: Usually, the liability of members of a company
is limited to the extent of uncalled or unpaid value of shares held by
them.
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3. Discuss various types of Company.
(i) ‘One Person Company’ (OPC): The revolutionary new concept

of ‘One Person Company’ (OPC) has been introduced by the
Companies Act, 2013. OPC provides a whole new bracket of
opportunities for those who look forward to start their own ventures
with a structure of organized business. ‘One Person Company means
a company which has only one member’.

(ii) Private Company: Private Limited Company is a type of company
that offers limited liability to its shareholders but that places certain
restrictions on its ownership. These restrictions are spelled out in
the company’s articles of association or bylaws and are meant to
prevent any hostile takeover attempt. Prohibits any invitation by
prospectus or otherwise to the general public to subscribe to any of
its shares or debentures. A private company must use the word
‘Private Limited’ after its name.

(iii) Public Company: Public Limited Company is a company whose
securities is traded on a stock exchange and can be bought and sold
by anyone. Public companies are strictly regulated, and are required
by law to publish their complete and true financial position so that
investors can determine the true worth of its stock (shares).

4. Explain in brief about Formation of Company.
Formation of a Company is the term for the process of incorporation of a
business. It is also referred to as company registration. These terms are
both also used when incorporating a business. Under Indian company law
and most international law, a company or corporation is considered to be
an entity that is separate from the people who own or operate the company.
There are following four stages in the formation of the public company:

(i) Promotion: The first stage in the formation of a company is
promotion.

(ii) Incorporation: The second step for establishment of a company is
to get the company incorporated or registered.

(iii) Capital Subscription: A private company can commence business
on receipt of certificate of incorporation.

(iv) Commencement of Business: Commencement of Business
includes prospectus or statement in lieu of prospectus, declaration
of fulfillment of minimum subscription, declaration of fulfillment of
directors; contract to purchase qualification shares and statutory
declaration of compliance of legal conditions precedent on certificate
of commencement of business.
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5. Discuss about the advantages of Incorporation of Business.
Incorporation offers certain advantages to a company as compared with all
other kinds of business organizations. They are:

(i) Independent Corporate Existence: The outstanding feature of a
company is its independent corporate existence.

(ii) Limited Liability: Limitation of liability is another major advantage
of incorporation. The company, being a separate entity leading its
own business life, the members is not liable for its debts. The liability
of members is limited by shares; each member is bound to pay the
nominal value of shares held by them and his liability ends there.

(iii) Perpetual Succession: An incorporated company never dies.
Members may come and go, but the company will go on forever.

6. Explain about commencement of business.
In case of a private limited company, it can immediately start its business as
soon as it is registered. In case of public limited company a certificate,
known as certificate of commencement of businesses must be obtained
from the Registrar of Companies before starting its operation. For this
purpose, it has to file a statement with the following declarations to the
Registrar of Companies.

(a) That a prospectus has been filed with the Registrar of Companies.
(b) That the shares have been allotted up to the amount of the minimum

subscription.
(c) That the Directors have taken up or purchased the minimum number

of shares required to qualify them to be Director.

1.12 SUMMARY

Company refers to a voluntary association formed and organized to carry
on a business. This is an organization or collection of individuals, whether
natural persons, legal persons or both.
One Person Company means a company which has only one member. It
shall also be important to note that Section 3 classifies OPC as a Private
Company for all the legal purposes with only one member. All the provisions
related to the private company are applicable to an OPC, unless otherwise
expressly excluded.
Private Limited Company is a type of company that offers limited liability to
its shareholders but that places certain restrictions on its ownership. These
restrictions are spelled out in the company’s articles of association or bylaws
and are meant to prevent any hostile takeover attempt. Prohibits any invitation
by prospectus or otherwise to the general public to subscribe to any of its
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shares or debentures. A private company must use the word ‘Private Limited’
after its name.
Public Limited Company is a company whose securities is traded on a
stock exchange and can be bought and sold by anyone. Public companies
are strictly regulated, and are required by law to publish their complete and
true financial position so that investors can determine the true worth of its
stock (shares).
A holding company refers to a company which does not produce goods or
services itself; rather, its purpose is to own shares of other companies.
Holding companies allow the reduction of risk for the owners and can allow
the ownership and control of a number of different companies.
A government company means any company in which not less than 51% of
the paid-up share capital is held by the Central Government and/or by any
State Government(s) or partly by the Central Government and partly by
one or more State Government.
A global company refers to a company that operates in more than one
country or that operates in foreign countries. It can also be referred to as a
multinational company or a transnational company. Global companies plan
activities on a global basis. By operating in more than one country benefits
from savings or economies on activities such as R&D, marketing, operations
and find the optimal method of entry.
Formation of a Company is the term for the process of incorporation of a
business. It is also referred to as company registration. These terms are
both also used when incorporating a business. Under Indian company law
and most international law, a company or corporation is considered to be
an entity that is separate from the people who own or operate the company.
In case of a private limited company, it can immediately start its business as
soon as it is registered. In case of public limited company a certificate,
known as certificate of commencement of businesses must be obtained
from the Registrar of Companies before starting its operation.
Electronic filing otherwise known as e-Filing allows authorized users to file
a document with the different government authorities directly from a computer
using the Internet.
It is one of the most user-friendly, accountable, accurate and secures
innovation. Electronic filing, or e-filing, of tax returns first clicked in India as
part of a proposal for Web-based electronic tax administration system for
service tax.
Book building refers to the process of generating, capturing, and recording
investor demand for shares during an IPO or other securities during their
issuance process in order to support efficient price discovery. The issuer
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appoints a major investment bank to act as a major securities underwriter
or book runner.

1.13 KEY TERMS

Company: Company refers to a voluntary association formed and organized
to carry on a business. This is an organization or collection of individuals,
whether natural persons, legal persons or both.
One Person Company (OPC): One Person Company means a company
which has only one member. It shall also be important to note that Section
3 classifies OPC as a Private Company for all the legal purposes with only
one member. All the provisions related to the private company are applicable
to an OPC, unless otherwise expressly excluded.
Private Company: Private Limited Company is a type of company that
offers limited liability to its shareholders but that places certain restrictions
on its ownership. These restrictions are spelled out in the company’s articles
of association or bylaws and are meant to prevent any hostile takeover
attempt. Prohibits any invitation by prospectus or otherwise to the general
public to subscribe to any of its shares or debentures. A private company
must use the word ‘Private Limited’ after its name.
Public Company: Public Limited Company is a company whose securities
is traded on a stock exchange and can be bought and sold by anyone.
Public companies are strictly regulated, and are required by law to publish
their complete and true financial position so that investors can determine the
true worth of its stock (shares).
Company Limited by Guarantee: A private company limited by guarantee
is an alternative type of corporation used primarily for non-profit
organizations that require legal personality. A guarantee company does not
usually have a share capital or shareholders, but instead has members who
act as guarantors.
Public Limited Company: A Public Limited Company is formed by a
minimum of seven and above people, who make financial contributions to
the business and are limited by the monetary value of the shares they hold.
The public limited company has a larger number of shareholders compared
to the private limited company and can offer its shares to the general public
on the stock exchange.
Holding Company: A holding company refers to a company which does
not produce goods or services itself; rather, its purpose is to own shares of
other companies. Holding companies allow the reduction of risk for the
owners and can allow the ownership and control of a number of different
companies.
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Government Company: A government company means any company in
which not less than 51% of the paid-up share capital is held by the Central
Government and/or by any State Government(s) or partly by the Central
Government and partly by one or more State Government.
Global Company: A global company refers to a company that operates in
more than one country or that operates in foreign countries. It can also be
referred to as a multinational company or a transnational company. Global
companies plan activities on a global basis. By operating in more than one
country benefits from savings or economies on activities such as R&D,
marketing, operations and find the optimal method of entry.
Formation of Company: Formation of a Company is the term for the
process of incorporation of a business. It is also referred to as company
registration. These terms are both also used when incorporating a business.
Under Indian company law and most international law, a company or
corporation is considered to be an entity that is separate from the people
who own or operate the company.
Commencement of Business: In case of a private limited company, it
can immediately start its business as soon as it is registered. In case of
public limited company, a certificate, known as certificate of commencement
of businesses, must be obtained from the Registrar of Companies before
starting its operation.
e-Filing: Electronic filing otherwise known as e-Filing allows authorized
users to file a document with the different government authorities directly
from a computer using the Internet.
It is one of the most user-friendly, accountable, accurate and secures
innovation. Electronic filing, or e-Filing, of tax returns first clicked in India
as part of a proposal for Web-based electronic tax administration system
for service tax.
Book Building: Book building refers to the process of generating, capturing,
and recording investor demand for shares during an IPO or other securities
during their issuance process in order to support efficient price discovery.
The issuer appoints a major investment bank to act as a major securities
underwriter or book runner.

1.14 SELF-ASSESSMENT QUESTIONS AND
EXERCISES

Short Answer Questions
1. Give the meaning of Company.
2. Define the term Joint Stock Company.
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3. What is Private Company?
4. Give the meaning of Public Company.
5. What is Company limited by Guarantee?
6. What is Company limited by Shares?
7. Give the meaning of Holding Company.
8. What is Subsidiary Company?
9. What is Associate Company?

10. What is Foreign Company?
11. What is Global Company?
12. Give the meaning of Promotion.
13. Who is a promoter?
14. What is Incorporation of Company?
15. Define prospectus.
16. What is book building?

Long Answer Questions

1. Discuss history of Company.
2. Discuss features of a Joint Stock Company.
3. Explain about Public Company.
4. Discuss about Small Company.
5. Explain about Foreign Company.
6. Discuss various liabilities of the Promoters.
7. Explain highlights of Companies Act, 2013.
8. Discuss advantages of a Joint Stock Company.
9. Discuss various kinds of Companies.

10. Discuss various functions of a Promoter.
11. Discuss various steps involved in Promotion of Company.
12. Explain the need for book building.
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UNIT 2 DETAILED STUDY OF
MEMORANDUM OF
ASSOCIATION

Structure
2.0 Introduction
2.1 Objectives
2.2 Detailed Study of Memorandum of Association
2.3 Articles of Association
2.4 Distinction between Memorandum of Association and Articles of Association
2.5 Prospectus
2.6 Statement in Lieu of Prospectus
2.7 Answers to ‘Check Your Progress’
2.8 Summary
2.9 Key Terms

2.10 Self-Assessment Questions and Exercises
2.11 Further Reading

2.0 INTRODUCTION

The Memorandum of Association is the principal document in the formation of a
company. It is called the charter of the company. It contains the fundamental
conditions upon which the company is allowed to be incorporated or registered. It
defines the limitations of the powers of the company. The purpose of memorandum
is to enable the shareholders, creditors and those who deal with the company to
know what its permitted range of activities or operations is. It defines the relationship
of the company with the outside world.

2.1 OBJECTIVES

After going through this unit, you will be able to:
Explain the detail study of Memorandum of Association
Describe the Articles of Association
Discuss the Prospectus

2.2 DETAILED STUDY OF MEMORANDUM OF
ASSOCIATION

Meaning of Memorandum of Association
Memorandum of Association is a document that regulates a company’s external
activities and must be drawn up on the formation of a registered or incorporated



Detailed Study of
Memorandum...

NOTES

Self-Instructional
74 Material

company. The memorandum of association gives the company’s name, names of
its members (shareholders) and number of shares held by them, and location of its
registered office.

Clauses of the Memorandum of Association

The Memorandum of Association usually contains the following six clauses:
(a) Name Clause: It contains the name by which the company will be

established. As you know, the approval of the proposed name is taken
in advance from the Registrar of the companies.

(b) Situation Clause: It contains the name of the state in which the
registered office of the company is or will be situated. The exact address
of the company’s registered office may be communicated within 30 days
of its incorporation to the Registrar of Companies.

(c) Object Clause: It contains detailed description of the objects and rights
of the company, for which it is being established. A company can
undertake only those activities which are mentioned in the object clause
of its memorandum.

(d) Liability Clause: It contains financial limit up to which the shareholders
are liable to pay off to the outsiders on the event of the company being
dissolved or closed down.

(e) Capital Clause: It contains the proposed authorized capital of the
company. It gives the classification of the authorized capital into various
types of shares (like equity and preference shares) with their numbers
and nominal value. A company is not allowed to raise more capital than
the amount mentioned as its authorized capital. However, the company
is permitted to alter this clause as per the guidelines prescribed by the
Companies Act.

(f) Subscription Clause: It contains the name and address of at least
seven members in case of public limited company and two members in
case of a private limited company, who agree to associate or join hands
to get the undertaking registered as a company. It contains a declaration
by persons who are desirous of being formed into and agree to subscribe
to the number of shares mentioned against their names.

Procedure for the Alteration of Capital Clause and Object Clause

The object clause is the most important clause in the Memorandum of Association.
It can be altered by Sec. 17(1) by passing a special resolution so as enable it.

(i) To carry on its business more economically or more efficiently:
The alteration which is contemplated in this clause seems to be an
alteration which will leave the business of the company substantially
what it was before, with only such changes in the mode of conducting it
as will enable it to be carried on more economically or more efficiently.

(ii) To attain its main purpose by new or improved means: It emphasizes
on attaining the company’s main purpose. The word “purpose” is more
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restricted than “objects”. So, the alteration must be one to carry out the
main purpose of the company rather than one of the objects of the
company.

(iii) To enlarge or change the local area of its operation.
(iv) To carry on some business which under existing circumstances may

conveniently or advantageously be combined with the objects specified
in the Memorandum.

(v) To restrict or abandon any of the objects specified in the Memorandum.
(vi) To sell or dispose of the whole or any part of the under taking or any of

the under taking of the company.

Procedure of Alteration

(i) Special resolution: A special resolution shall be passed at a General
meeting of the company with respect to alteration of the objects of the
company.

(ii) Copy of the resolution to be filed with the registrar: The company
shall file with the registrar a copy of the special resolution within one
month from the date of the resolution along with a printed copy of the
Memorandum as altered.

Procedure of Alteration of Capital Clause

Change in Capital clause which may involve increase, reduction or reorganization
of capital:

(i) Special resolution must be passed by the company

(ii) To file with registrar a notice of alteration in Form No. 5 within 30 days
of the alteration. In case of increase in authorized capital, to deposit
along with the notice requisite registration fees for the increased capital.

Check Your Progress

1. Discuss in details about Memorandum of Association.
2. Explain about Clauses of the Memorandum of Association.

2.3 ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

Articles of Association (AoA)

The Articles of Association of a company contains the various rules and regulations
for the day-to-day management of the company. These rules are also called the
bye-laws. It covers various rights and powers of its members, duties of the
management and the manner in which they can be changed. It defines the relationship
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between the company and its members and also among the members themselves.
The rules given in the AoA must be in conformity with the Memorandum of
Association.

Meaning of Articles of Association

Article of Association is a document that specifies the regulations for a company’s
operations. The articles of association define the company’s purpose and lays out
how tasks are to be accomplished within the organization, including the process
for appointing directors and how financial records will be handled.

Articles of association often identify the manner in which a company will
issue stock shares, pay dividends and audit financial records and power of voting
rights.

Contents of Articles of Association

The contents of Articles of Association are as follows:
1. Share capital, rights of shareholders, variation of these rights and payment

of   underwriting commission.
2. Lien on shares.
3. Calls on shares.
4. Transfer of shares.
5. Transmission of shares.
6. Forfeiture of shares.
7. Conversion of shares into stock.
8. General meetings and proceedings thereof.
9. Directors, their appointment, remuneration, qualifications, powers.
10. Dividend and Reserves.
11. Accounts, audit and borrowing powers.
12. Capitalization of profits.

Rules and Regulations of Articles of Association

Articles of Association of a company generally contain rules and regulations with
regard to the following matters:

(a) Preliminary contracts
(b) Use and custody of common seal
(c) Allotment, calls and lien on shares
(d) Transfer and transmission of shares
(e) Forfeiture and re-issue of shares
(f) Alteration of share capital
(g) Issue of share certificates and share warrants
(h) Conversion of shares into stock
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(i) Procedure of holding and conducting company meetings
(j) Voting rights and proxies of members

(k) Qualification, appointment, remuneration and power of Directors
(l) Borrowing powers and methods of raising loans

(m) Payment of dividends and creation of reserves
(n) Accounts and audit
(o) Winding up
A company can register its own Articles of Association or adopt Table A,

which contains a model set of rules as given in the Schedule I of the Companies
Act. After knowing about the meaning and the contents of Memorandum of
Association and Articles of Association you must be thinking, how these two documents
are different from each other. Let us have a comparison between these two.

Alteration of Articles of Association

The articles of association of a can be altered at any time subject to the following
conditions:

(i) The alteration must not be inconsistent with (i.e., against) the
Memorandum of Association, the Companies Act and any other law of
the country.

(ii) The alteration must not constitute a fraud on the minority of shareholders.
It must be made bonafide for the benefit of the Company as a whole.

(iii) The alteration must not result in breach of contract with outsiders.
(iv) The alteration must be made by passing a special resolution.
(v) A copy of the special resolution must be filed with the registrar within 30

days of passing the special resolution.
(vi) An altered or revised printed copy of the Article of Association must be

filed with the registrar within 3 months of passing the special resolution.

Check Your Progress

3. Discuss about Articles of Association.

2.4 DISTINCTION BETWEEN MEMORANDUM
OF ASSOCIATION AND ARTICLES OF
ASSOCIATION

Memorandum of Association

1. It is the fundamental document which lays down the objectives of the
company. It is also known as charter of the company.

2. It defines the relationship between the company and outsiders.
3. The Memorandum of Association is the fundamental document of the

company.
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4. The main purpose is to define the limits or scope of the company’s
activities.

5. Alteration of memorandum is complicated.
6. Every company has to prepare it Memorandum of Association.
7. It contains six clauses such as name clause, domicile clause, object clause,

capital clause, association clause, liability clause.

Articles of Association

1. It is the subordinate document which provides rules and regulation for
the internal working of the company.

2. It defines the relationship between the company and its shareholder,
directors.

3. The Articles of Association is subordinate document to Memorandum
of Association.

4. The main purpose is to provide directions for the internal management
of the company.

5. It is convenient to alter Articles of Association.
6. A public company limited by shares need not prepare its articles because

they can adopt Table A of the Companies Act.
7. It contains rules and regulations regarding internal management of the

company such as rules regarding meetings, shareholders, etc.

2.5 PROSPECTUS

Certificate of Incorporation

Certificate of Incorporation is the legal document which makes the company
formation valid or brings the company into existence. Certificate of Incorporation
mainly includes the following:

1. The name of the corporation with its abbreviation.
2. A statement of business purpose.
3. The corporation’s registered office’s address and the name of registered

agent for the address.
4. Number of the shares of stock which are authorized to be issued and a

description of the different types of stock that can be issued by the
Company if there are more than one type.

5. The name and address of the corporation’s incorporated.

Subscription Stage

After the company is incorporated, the next stage is to raise the necessary capital.
In case of a private limited company, funds are raised from the members or through
arrangement from banks and other sources. In case of a public limited company,
the share capital has to be raised from the public. This involves the following:
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(a) Preparation of a draft prospectus and get it inspected (vetted) by SEBI
to ensure that all information given in the prospectus fully complies with
the guidelines laid down by SEBI in this regard.

(b) Filing a copy of the prospectus with the Registrar of Companies.
(c) Issue of prospectus to the public by notifying in a newspaper and inviting

the public to apply for shares as prescribed in the prospectus.
(d) If the minimum subscription has been received, shares should be allotted

to the applicants as per SEBI guidelines and file a return of allotment
with the Registrar of Companies.

(e) Listing of shares in a recognized stock exchange so that the shares can
be traded there. Preferably, consent of a stock exchange for listing should
be obtained before issue of the prospectus to the public.

Prospectus

After getting the Certificate of Incorporation or Registration, a public limited
company invites the public to subscribe to its shares. This is done by issuing a
document called Prospectus.

There are two types of prospectuses for stocks and bonds: preliminary and
final. The preliminary prospectus is the first offering document provided by a
securities issuer and includes most of the details of the business and transaction in
question. Some lettering on the front cover is printed in red, which results in the
use of the nickname “red herring” for this document. The final prospectus is printed
after the deal has been made effective and can be offered for sale, and supersedes
the preliminary prospectus. It contains finalized background information including
such details as the exact number of shares/certificates issued and the precise offering
price.

In the case of mutual funds, which, apart from their initial share offering,
continuously offer shares for sale to the public, the prospectus used is a final
prospectus. A fund prospectus contains details on its objectives, investment
strategies, risks, performance, distribution policy, fees and expenses, and fund
management.

Meaning of Prospectus

Prospectus refers to a formal legal document, which is required by and filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission that provides details about an investment
offering for sale to the public. A prospectus contains the facts that an investor
needs to make an informed investment decision.

Definition of Prospectus

Under the Companies Act, a prospectus has been defined as “any document
described or issued as a prospectus and includes any notice, circular, advertisement
or other document, inviting deposits from the public or inviting offers from the
public for the subscription or purchase of shares or debentures of a company or
body corporate”.
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Objectives of Prospectus

Prospectus is issued with the following broad objectives:
(i) It informs the company about the formation of a new company.
(ii) It serves as written evidence about the terms and conditions of issue of

shares or debentures of a company.
(iii) It induces the investors to invest in the shares and debentures of the

company.
(iv) It describes the nature, extent and future prospectus of the company.
(v) It maintains all authentic records on the issue and make the directors

liable for the misstatement in the prospectus.

Contents of Prospectus

The following important matter is included in the prospectus:
(i) The prospectus contains the main objectives of the company, the name

and addresses of the signatories of the memorandum of association and
the number of shares held by them.

(ii) The name, addresses and occupation of directors and managing
directors.

(iii) The number and classes of shares and debentures issued.
(iv) The qualification share of directors and the interest of directors for the

promotion of company.
(v) The number, description and the document of shares or debentures which

within the two preceding years have been agreed to be issued other
than cash.

(vi) The name and addresses of the vendors of any property acquired by
the company and the amount paid or to be paid.

(vii) Particulars about the directors, secretaries and the treasures and their
remuneration.

(viii) The amount for the minimum subscription.
(ix) If the company carrying on business, the length of time of such businesses.
(x) The estimated amount of preliminary expenses.
(xi) Name and address of the auditors, bankers and solicitors of the company.
(xii) Time and place where copies of balance sheets, profits and loss account

and the auditor’s report may be inspected.
(xiii) The auditor’s report so submitted must deal with the profit and loss of

the company for each year of five financial years immediately preceding
the issue of prospectus.

(xiv) If any profit or reserve has been capitalized, the particulars of such
capitalization will be stated in the prospectus.

Check Your Progress

4. Explain about Contents of Prospectus.
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2.6 STATEMENT IN LIEU OF PROSPECTUS

(a) Prospectus: If a company does not want to issue a prospectus to the
public for subscription of the shares, this statement is required to be
issued to the public for necessary information. It must be signed by
every person named in it as director or by his agent authorized in writing:
The nature of the information of this document is more or less similar to
that given in the prospectus. A copy of this statement must be filed with
registrar within prescribed time. This provision does not apply to private
company.

(b) Share Certificate: A share certificate is a document issued under the
common seal of the company and it states the extent of the interest of its
holder in the company’s capital. This certificate is usually given free of
charge to every member whose name is entered in the register of
members. It indicates the name, address and other particulars of the
holder, the number of shares and the amount paid up on share held by
him.

(c) Share Warrant: This document is issued under the common seal of the
company in respect of fully paid up shares. It is a negotiable instrument
which is transferable by mere delivery. It must be stamped according to
the market value of the shares.

(d) Common Seal: Every company must have a common seal with its
registered name engraved there in legible letters. It acts as the official
signature of the company. Regulations governing the use and custody of
the seal are laid down in the Articles of Association. It is generally to be
used by the authority of the directors. It is not necessary to use it on all
documents. But the seal is required on documents when demanded by
the Company Ordinance or Articles of Association, i.e., debentures,
share certificate or share warrant.

(e) Dividend: A dividend is that portion of the company’s net profit which
is distributed among the shareholders in proportion to the number of
shares holding. It is first declared at the Board of Directors’ Meeting
which is finally approved by shareholders at the annual general meeting.
Until a dividend is declared, no shareholders can claim any return on the
capital he has invested in the: company. It must be paid out of the profits
of the company. The directors are empowered to transfer some portion
of profits to reserve fund before recommending a dividend.

(f) Minimum Subscription: It is the minimum amount of shares subscribed
by public before the directors can proceed to allotment. The amount of
minimum subscription fixed by the Memorandum or the Articles and named
in the prospectus under the heading, i.e., preliminary expenses, underwriting
commission, working capital and repayment of loans. If no such amount is
fixed then the whole of the capital offered for subscription must be
subscribed by the public. This is intended to ensure that the company will
not commence the business without adequate capital.
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(g) Transmission of shares: It signifies a change in ownership of the
securities through the operation of law in case of death or insolvency of
members. The right of member is automatically transferred to his legal
representatives after his death. Similarly, on becoming bankrupt, a
member’s shares may be transferred to trustee by operation of law. The
trustee must, however, prove to the company that he is entitled to deal
with bankrupt’s shares.

(h) Underwriting: The person who takes risk to purchase a specified
number of the shares and debentures of a newly floated company is
known as underwriter. He receives a commission in exchange of his
services which is called underwriting commission. So, the act of sale
insurance by specialized person in consideration of commission is named
as underwriting. Sometimes, underwritings does not want to take whole
risk, he may transfer a part to sub-underwriter which is arranged by
means of contract.

Distinguish between Prospectus and Statement in Lieu of Prospectus

Prospectus

1. Prospectus is a document inviting the public to subscribe to the share
capital of a company.

2. It gives wide publicity to the company and also provides share capital
to the company.

3. It is meant not only for filing with the Registrar but also for capital raising.

4. It is normally prepared by big companies for fulfilling legal obligations.

5. The prospectus gives detailed information about the company, as per
the provisions of Companies Act.

6. It is meant for public at large.

Statement in Lieu of Prospectus

1. Statement in Lieu of Prospectus is a document prepared for filing with
the Registrar. It is an alternative to the prospectus.

2. It is prepared only for completing the legal formality and not for capital

3. It is meant only for filing with the Registrar.

4. It is normally prepared by small companies just for fulfilling legal
obligation.

5. The contents are similar to that of prospectus but formed in detail.

6. It is meant for friends and relatives of directors.
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2.7 ANSWERS TO ‘CHECK YOUR PROGRESS’

1. Discuss in details about Memorandum of Association.

The Memorandum of Association is the principal document in the formation
of a company. It is called the charter of the company. It contains the
fundamental conditions upon which the company is allowed to be
incorporated or registered. It defines the limitations of the powers of the
company. The purpose of memorandum is to enable the shareholders,
creditors and those who deal with the company to know what its permitted
range of activities or operations is. It defines the relationship of the company
with the outside world.

2. Explain about Clauses of the Memorandum of Association.

The Memorandum of Association usually contains the following six clauses:

(a) Name Clause: It contains the name by which the company will be
established. As you know, the approval of the proposed name is
taken in advance from the Registrar of the companies.

(b) Situation Clause: It contains the name of the state in which the
registered office of the company is or will be situated. The exact
address of the company’s registered office may be communicated
within 30 days of its incorporation to the Registrar of Companies.

(c) Object Clause: It contains detailed description of the objects and
rights of the company, for which it is being established. A company
can undertake only those activities which are mentioned in the object
clause of its memorandum.

(d) Liability Clause: It contains financial limit up to which the
shareholders are liable to pay off to the outsiders on the event of the
company being dissolved or closed down.

(e) Capital Clause: It contains the proposed authorized capital of the
company. It gives the classification of the authorized capital into
various types of shares, (like equity and preference shares) with
their numbers and nominal value.

(f) Subscription Clause: It contains the name and address of at least
seven members in case of public limited company and two members
in case of a private limited company, who agree to associate or join
hands to get the undertaking registered as a company.

3. Discuss about Articles of Association.

The Articles of Association of a company contains the various rules and
regulations for the day-to-day management of the company. These rules
are also called the bye-laws. It covers various rights and powers of its
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members, duties of the management and the manner in which they can be
changed. It defines the relationship between the company and its members
and also among the members themselves. The rules given in the AOA must
be in conformity with the MoA.

4. Explain about Contents of Prospectus.
The following important matter is included in the prospectus:

(i) The prospectus contains the main objectives of the company, the name
and addresses of the signatories of the memorandum of association
and the number of shares held by them.

(ii) The name, addresses and occupation of directors and managing
directors.

(iii) The number and classes of shares and debentures issued.
(iv) The qualification share of directors and the interest of directors for the

promotion of company.
(v) The number, description and the document of shares or debentures

which within the two preceding years have been agreed to be issued
other than cash.

(vi) The name and addresses of the vendors of any property acquired by
the company and the amount paid or to be paid.

(vii) Particulars about the directors, secretaries and the treasures and their
remuneration.

(viii) The amount for the minimum subscription.
(ix) If the company carrying on business, the length of time of such

businesses.
(x) The estimated amount of preliminary expenses.
(xi) Name and address of the auditors, bankers and solicitors of the

company.
(xii) Time and place where copies of balance sheets, profits and loss account

and the auditor’s report may be inspected.
(xiii) The auditor’s report so submitted must deal with the profit and loss of

the company for each year of five financial years immediately preceding
the issue of prospectus.

(xiv) If any profit or reserve has been capitalized, the particulars of such
capitalization will be stated in the prospectus.

2.8 SUMMARY

Memorandum of Association is a document that regulates a company’s
external activities and must be drawn up on the formation of a registered or
incorporated company. The memorandum of association gives the
company’s name, names of its members (shareholders) and number of shares
held by them, and location of its registered office.
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Name Clause contains the name by which the company will be established.
As you know, the approval of the proposed name is taken in advance from
the Registrar of the companies.

Situation Clause contains the name of the state in which the registered office
of the company is or will be situated. The exact address of the company’s
registered office may be communicated within 30 days of its incorporation
to the Registrar of Companies.

Object Clause contains detailed description of the objects and rights of the
company, for which it is being established. A company can undertake only
those activities which are mentioned in the object clause of its memorandum.

Liability Clause contains financial limit up to which the shareholders are
liable to pay off to the outsiders on the event of the company being dissolved
or closed down.

Capital Clause contains the proposed authorized capital of the company. It
gives the classification of the authorized capital into various types of shares,
(like equity and preference shares) with their numbers and nominal value.
A company is not allowed to raise more capital than the amount mentioned
as its authorized capital. However, the company is permitted to alter this
clause as per the guidelines prescribed by the Companies Act.

Subscription Clause contains the name and address of at least seven
members in case of public limited company and two members in case of a
private limited company, who agree to associate or join hands to get the
undertaking registered as a company. It contains a declaration by persons
who are desirous of being formed into and agree to subscribe to the number
of shares mentioned against their names.

Articles of Association is a document that specifies the regulations for a
company’s operations. The articles of association define the company’s
purpose and lays out how tasks are to be accomplished within the
organization, including the process for appointing directors and how financial
records will be handled.

Certificate of Incorporation is the legal document which makes the company
formation valid or brings the company into existence.

Prospectus refers to a formal legal document, which is required by and filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission that provides details about
an investment offering for sale to the public. A prospectus contains the facts
that an investor needs to make an informed investment decision.

If a company does not want to issue a prospectus to the public for
subscription of the shares, this statement is required to be issued to the
public for necessary information. It must be signed by every person named
in it as director or by his agent authorized in writing: The nature of the
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information of this document is more or less similar to that given in the
prospectus. A copy of this statement must be filed with registrar within
prescribed time. This provision does not apply to private company.

A share certificate is a document issued under the common seal of the
company and it states the extent of the interest of its holder in the company’s
capital. This certificate is usually given free of charge to every member whose
name is entered in the register of members. It indicates the name, address
and other particulars of the holder, the number of shares and the amount
paid up on share held by him.

2.9 KEY TERMS

Memorandum of Association: Memorandum of Association is a document
that regulates a company’s external activities and must be drawn up on the
formation of a registered or incorporated company. The memorandum of
association gives the company’s name, names of its members (shareholders)
and number of shares held by them, and location of its registered office.

Name Clause: It contains the name by which the company will be
established. As you know, the approval of the proposed name is taken in
advance from the Registrar of the companies.

Situation Clause: It contains the name of the state in which the registered
office of the company is or will be situated. The exact address of the
company’s registered office may be communicated within 30 days of its
incorporation to the Registrar of Companies.

Object Clause: It contains detailed description of the objects and rights of
the company, for which it is being established. A company can undertake
only those activities which are mentioned in the object clause of its
memorandum.

Liability Clause: It contains financial limit up to which the shareholders
are liable to pay off to the outsiders on the event of the company being
dissolved or closed down.

Capital Clause: It contains the proposed authorized capital of the company.
It gives the classification of the authorized capital into various types of shares,
(like equity and preference shares) with their numbers and nominal value. A
company is not allowed to raise more capital than the amount mentioned as
its authorized capital. However, the company is permitted to alter this clause
as per the guidelines prescribed by the companies Act.
Subscription Clause: It contains the name and address of at least seven
members in case of public limited company and two members in case of a
private limited company, who agree to associate or join hands to get the
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undertaking registered as a company. It contains a declaration by persons
who are desirous of being formed into and agree to subscribe to the number
of shares mentioned against their names.
Articles of Association (AoA): Article of Association is a document that
specifies the regulations for a company’s operations. The articles of
association define the company’s purpose and lays out how tasks are to be
accomplished within the organization, including the process for appointing
directors and how financial records will be handled.
Certificate of Incorporation: Certificate of Incorporation is the legal
document which makes the company formation valid or brings the company
into existence.

Prospectus: Prospectus refers to a formal legal document, which is required
by and filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission that provides
details about an investment offering for sale to the public. A prospectus
contains the facts that an investor needs to make an informed investment
decision.

Statement in Lieu of Prospectus: If a company does not want to issue a
prospectus to the public for subscription of the shares, this statement is
required to be issued to the public for necessary information. It must be
signed by every person named in it as director or by his agent authorized in
writing: The nature of the information of this document is more or less similar
to that given in the prospectus. A copy of this statement must be filed with
registrar within prescribed time. This provision does not apply to private
company.

Share Certificate: A share certificate is a document issued under the
common seal of the company and it states the extent of the interest of its
holder in the company’s capital. This certificate is usually given free of charge
to every member whose name is entered in the register of members. It
indicates the name, address and other particulars of the holder, the number
of shares and the amount paid up on share held by him.

2.10 SELF-ASSESSMENT QUESTIONS AND
EXERCISES

Short Type Questions

1. What is Memorandum of Association?

2. Give the meaning of Name Clause.

3. What is Situation Clause?

4. What is Object Clause?

5. Give the meaning of Liability Clause.
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6. What is Articles of Association?

7. What is Certificate of incorporation?

8. Define the term Prospectus.

Long Type Questions

1. Explain in details about Memorandum of Association.

2. Explain about Clauses of the Memorandum of Association.

3. Discuss advantages of Memorandum of Association.

4. Discuss about Articles of Association.

5. Distinction between Memorandum of Association and Articles of Association.

6. Explain about contents of Prospectus.

7. Explain about statement in Lieu of Prospectus.

8. Difference between Prospectus and Statement in Lieu of Prospectus.
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3.0 INTRODUCTION

A share is the interest of a shareholder in the company, measured by a sum of
money for the purpose of liability in the first place and of interest in the second, but
also consisting of other rights given by the articles. Share is a unit of ownership that
represents an equal proportion of a company’s capital. It entitles its holder (the
shareholder) to an equal claim on the company’s profits and an equal obligation
for the company’s debts and losses.

Capital includes the money, property and other valuables which collectively
represent the wealth of an individual or business. Classical economics regards
capital as a factor of production, distinguishing between financial capital and
physical capital. Financial capital is accumulated or inherited wealth held in the
form of assets, such as stocks and shares, property and bank deposits, while
physical capital is wealth in the form of physical assets such as machinery and
plant. The term is also used to describe investment in a company as either share
capital or debt called loan capital.

Fixed capital is durable, examples being factories, offices, plant and
machinery. Circulating capital is capital that is used up quickly, such as raw materials,
components and stocks of finished goods waiting for sale. Private capital is usually
owned by individuals and private business organizations. Social capital is usually
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owned by the state and is the infrastructure of the economy, such as roads, bridges,
schools and hospitals. Human capital is what enables people to earn a living and
may be enhanced by better education, training and health care. Investment is the
process of adding to the capital stock of a nation or business.

The cost of capital is a term used in the field of financial investment to refer
to the cost of a company’s funds (both debt and equity) or, from an investor’s
point of view “the shareholder’s required return on a portfolio of all the company’s
existing securities”. It is used to evaluate new projects of a company as it is the
minimum return that investors expect for providing capital to the company, thus
setting a benchmark that a new project has to meet.

3.1 OBJECTIVES

After going through this unit, you will be able to:
Explain concept of share capital and types of shares
Describe transfer and transmission of shares
Discuss the shareholders vs. members of the company
Examine meaning and types of debentures
Explain borrowing powers, mortgages and charges

3.2 SHARES

3.2.1 Meaning of Share
The total capital of the company is divided into similar parts and each part thereof
is called a share.

A share can be defined as “a share is a fractional part of the capital of a
company which forms the basis of certain rights of a member of the company as
well as his liabilities vis-à-vis (i.e., as against) the company”.

Features of Share

The main features of shares are as follows:
1. Limited liability for shareholders: For each individual shareholders,

the maximum value at risk is the total value of their investment in the
shares of the company. This means that, unlike in a partnership ordinary
shareholders are not personally liable for the debt of a company in the
event of bankruptcy.

2. Loss absorption for other (debt) investors and other creditors: It
is important to understand that shares come last in the ranking of a
company’s capital structure and shareholders only hold a residual claim.
This means that in liquidation, shareholders only get back their money if
there is anything left over after creditors have been settled. In most
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cases, the shares are usually worthless in the event of bankruptcy or
liquidation.

3. Uncertain returns: While many companies pay out dividends to
shareholders, there is no obligation on companies to do so. Indeed,
there is no guarantee of returns in any form to shareholders. However,
in return for this degree of uncertainty and risk, shares carry higher
expected returns over the long term than most investments. This forms
the basis of the relationship between risk and return for investors in
stocks and shares.

Some other important features of share are given below:
(i) A share is not a sum of money. It is only an interest or right, measured in

a sum of money, to participate in the profits of the company during its
life and in the assets of the company when it is wound up.

(ii) A share is given a face or nominal value and is paid for in money or
money’s worth.

(iii) The person who holds the share or shares of a company is called a
shareholder or member of the company.

(iv) The title of a member to a sharp is evidenced by the share certificate
issued by the company under its common seal.

(v) Each share in a company having share capital is distinguished by its
specific or appropriate number.

3.2.2 Meaning of Capital
Capital refers to cash or goods used to generate income either by investing in a
business or a different income property. It is the net worth of a business, i.e., the
amount by which its assets exceed its liabilities.

Definition of Capital

According to Alfred Marshall, “Capital consists of all kinds of wealth, other than
free gifts of nature, which yield income”.

According to J.R. Hicks, “Capital consists of all those goods, existing at
present time which can be used in any ways so as to satisfy wants during subsequent
years”.

Characteristics/Features of Capital

The characteristics of capital are as follows:
(i) Productive Factor: Capital helps in increasing level of productivity

and speed of production.
(ii) Elastic Supply: Supply of capital depends upon capital formation

process. Capital formation depends upon savings and investment. By
accelerating capital formation, capital supply can be increased. But it is
a long-term process.
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(iii) Man-made Factor: Capital is not a gift of nature. ,it is not a primary or
natural factor, it is made by man in capital goods industry. It is secondary
as well as an artificial factor of production.

(iv) Durable: Capital is not perishable like labor. It has a long life subject to
periodical depreciation.

(v) Easy Mobility: Movement of capital from one place to another is easily
possible.

(vi) Derived Demand: As a factor of production, capital has a derived
demand to produce finished goods which have a direct demand, e.g.,
demand for raw cotton is derived from demand for cotton cloth.

(vii) Round about Production: Capital goods do not satisfy our wants
directly. But resources should be diverted towards production of capital
goods first. And thereafter such produced mean can be used to produce
consumer goods having direct demand.

(viii) Social Cost: Resources have alternative uses. Either they can be put to
production of capital goods or consumer goods. When resources are
used for producing capital goods, it means society has sacrificed
enjoyment of consumer goods. This is called social cost.

Types of Capital

There are two kinds of capital: debt and equity. Both kinds are typically used by a
company during its lifetime. Lenders have different objectives than investors and
therefore look at different factors about a company when deciding whether or not
to invest or make a loan.

Fig. 3.1: Types of Capital

(i) Debt

Debt is money borrowed, that must be repaid at a set time period and generates
income for the lender over that time period. Lending sources include not only
banks, but also leasing companies, factoring companies and even individuals.

Lending sources look primarily at two factors: how risky the loan is; and
whether the company can generate sufficient cash to pay the interest and repay
the principal. The growth potential of the company is secondary; the primary
considerations are the track record and asset base of the company. Usually, the
debt must be secured against the assets of the company and very commonly must
also be secured against the assets of the owner of the company, also called a
personal guarantee.

Types of Capital

Debt Equity
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Assets of the company are not usually given full book value in securing a
loan. In other words, if your inventory has a book value of ̀  50,000 (or it cost you
` 50,000 to produce that inventory) a lending source will only give you 50% to
75% of that value. The reason being is that the lending source is not in your business
and would have to quickly liquidate the inventory, rather than selling it at market
prices.

Accounts receivable or money that is owed to you from customers who
have previously purchased your product but not paid for it yet, are also discounted.
Using the same example, ` 50,000 worth of accounts receivable may only be
worth 60% to 70% of that value to the lending source. Customers may not pay the
full amount owed or feel they have to pay for the product at all, if an outside
lending source is demanding payment.

The lender often requests that the personal assets of the owner of the company
are pledged as a contingency and as a gesture of faith by the owner. Obviously, if
the owner of the company does not believe in his/her own company’s ability to
repay the loan, why should the lending source?

(ii) Equity
 Equity capital is money given for a share of ownership of the company. Equity can
be provided by individual investors, sometimes known as “angels”, venture capital
companies, joint venture partners and the sweat equity and capital contribution of
the founders of the company. Equity providers are more interested in the growth
potential of the company. Their objective is to invest an amount now and reap the
rewards of a 5 to 1 or even 10 to 1, payoff in three to five years. In other words,
` 100,000 now will be worth ̀  10,00,000 in three years if invested in the right
company.

Since the objectives of investors are different from lenders, the factors they
evaluate in determining whether to invest are different from lending sources. Investors
like to put money in companies that have the potential for rapid growth. Growth
potential is based on the quality of management of the company, product brand
strength, barriers of entry to competitors and size of the market for the product.

3.3 SHARE CAPITAL

Share Capital

Share capital denotes the amount of capital raised by the issue of shares, by a
company. It is collected through the issue of shares and remains with the company
till its liquidation.

Share capital is owned capital of the company, since it is the money of the
shareholder and the shareholder are the owners of the company. The total share
capital is divided into small parts and each part is called a share. Share is the
smallest part of the total capital of a company.
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Meaning of Share Capital

The term ‘share capital’ refers to the amount of capital raised (or to be raised) by
a company through the issue of shares.

Features of Share Capital

The main features of share capital are:

1. Owned capital: Share capital is owned capital of the company. It is
actually the money of the shareholders and since the shareholders are
the owner of the company. So, share capital is the owned capital.

2. Remains with the company: It remains with the company till its
liquidation.

3. Dependable sources: Share capital is the most dependable source of
finance for the joint stock companies.

4. Raises creditworthiness: It raised the credit worthiness of the company.

5. Substantial funds: It provides substantial funds to the company.

6. Available for: Share capital is easily available for expansion and
diversification of business activities.

7. Amendment: The amount of share capital can be raised by amending
the capital clause of the Memorandum of Association.

8. No charge: Share capital does not create any charge on the assets of
the company.

9. Opportunity to participate: Share capital gives its shareholders an
opportunity to participate in the company’s management with normal
rights of shareholders.

10. Benefit of bonus shares: It gives it shareholders the benefit of bonus
shares.

11. Benefit of limited liability: Share capital also gives its shareholders
the befit of limited liability as the liability of its shareholders is limited up
to the face value of each share.

12. Meaningful participation: Share capital enables its shareholders to
have a meaningful participation in the expansion of corporate sector.

Kinds of Share Capital

The various kinds or subdivision of share capital are:

1. Authorized Capital: It is the maximum amount of capital which a
company can collect or raise by selling its shares to the general public.
Authorized capital is known as nominal capital or registered capital.
For example, a company wants to sell 100 shares of ̀  10/- each, so the
total amount collected by the company is ̀  1000/-, i.e., 100 shares ×
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10 each = ̀  1,000. The capital with which a company is registered is
known as its authorized capital.

2. Issued Capital: It is that part of the authorized capital which is actually
issued to the general public. For example, a company has issued 80
shares of ̀  10/- each. So, the issued capital is ̀  800/-.

3. Unissued Capital: It is that part of the authorized capital which is not
being issued to the general public, i.e., company has not issued 20 shares
of ̀  10/- each. So, the unissued capital is ̀  200/-.

4. Subscribed Capital: It is that part of the issued capital which is actually
subscribed by the general public, i.e., company has issued 80 shares
out of which 70 shares are being bought by the general public, so the
subscribed capital is ̀  700/-, i.e., 70 shares of ̀  10/- each.

5. Unsubscribed Capital: It is that part of the issued capital which is not
subscribed by the general public, i.e., if the company has issued 80
shares out of which 70 are bought by the general public and 10 are not
being bought by them, so the unsubscribed capital is 10 × ` 10 =
`  100, i.e., 10 shares of ` 10 each.

6. Called Up Capital: It is that part of the subscribed capital which is
actually called up by the company. For instance, if a company has asked
its shareholders to pay ̀  5/- per share so on 70 shares, they have to pay
70 shares × ̀  5 each = ̀  350/-. This is the called up capital.

7. Uncalled Up Capital: It is that part of the subscribed capital which is
not being called up by the company. It may be called up as and when
the company need funds, i.e., out of ̀  10/- per share, ̀  5/- per share is
being called up by the company and ̀  2 is being uncalled up and ̀  3 is
kept as reserve that is yet to be called.

8. Reserve Capital: Reserve capital is that part of the uncalled capital
which is reserved to be called up only at the time of winding up or
liquidation of the company. It cannot be called during the lifetime of a
company. It is to be used only for meeting extraordinary situation such
as liquidation of the company. The purpose of reserve capital is to meet
the interests of the creditors at the time of winding up of the company.

9. Paid-up Capital: It is that part of the called up capital which is actually
paid up by the shareholders. For example, out of 70 shares which were
subscribed for, 60 shareholders have paid up their call money, i.e.,
60 × ` 5 = ̀  300/- is called as the paid-up capital of the company.

10. Unpaid-up Capital: It is that part of the called up capital which is not
being paid by the shareholders. For example, out of 70 shareholders,
60 shareholders have paid up their call money and 10 shareholders
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have not paid their call money. So, 10 × ` 5 = ` 50/- is called as
unpaid-up capital.

11. Call in Arrears: Unpai- up capital is also known as Calls in Arrears.

3.4 TYPES OF SHARES

3.4.1 Features of Shares
The main features of shares are as follows:

1. Limited liability for shareholders: For each individual shareholders,
the maximum value at risk is the total value of their investment in the
shares of the company. This means that, unlike in a partnership, ordinary
shareholders are not personally liable for the debt of a company in the
event of bankruptcy.

2. Loss absorption for other (debt) investors and other creditors: It
is important to understand that shares come last in the ranking of a
company’s capital structure and shareholders only hold a residual claim.
This means that in liquidation, shareholders only get back their money if
there is anything left over after creditors have been settled. In most
cases, the shares are usually worthless in the event of bankruptcy or
liquidation.

3. Uncertain returns: While many companies pay out dividends to
shareholders, there is no obligation on companies to do so. Indeed,
there is no guarantee of returns in any form to shareholders. However,
in return for this degree of uncertainty and risk, shares carry higher
expected returns over the long term than most investments. This forms
the basis of the relationship between risk and return for investors in
stocks and shares.

Some other important features of share are given below:
(i) A share is not a sum of money. It is only an interest or right, measured in

a sum of money, to participate in the profits of the company during its
life and in the assets of the company when it is wound up.

(ii) A share is given a face or nominal value and is paid for in money or
money’s worth.

(iii) The person who holds the share or shares of a company is called a
shareholder or member of the company.

(iv) The title of a member to a sharp is evidenced by the share certificate
issued by the company under its common seal.

(v) Each share in a company having share capital is distinguished by its
specific or appropriate number.
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3.4.2 Kinds of Shares
A company issue different types of shares in order to satisfy the requirements of
different classes of investors and to collect more capital. A public company can
issue only two types of shares such as:

1. Preference Shares

Preference share is a stock with dividends that are paid to shareholders before
common stock dividends are paid out. In the event of a company bankruptcy,
preferred stock shareholders have a right to be paid company assets first.
Preference shares typically pay a fixed dividend, whereas common stocks do not.
And unlike common shareholders, preference share shareholders usually do not
have voting rights.

Meaning of Preference Shares

Preference shares are shares, which have preferential rights (i.e., first priority or
preference over other kinds of shares) in respect of payment of dividend during
the existence of the company and also in respect of repayment or refund of share
capital in the event of the winding up of the company.

Feature of Preference Shares

The main features of preference share are as follows:
1. Preference share have been priority over payment of dividend and

repayment of capital.
2. Preferences shares do not hold voting rights.
3. Cumulative preference shares have been a right to claim dividend for

those years also for which there were no profits.
4. The holders of non-cumulating preference shares have no claim for the

arrears of dividend. They are paid a dividend if there are sufficient profits.
5. Redeemable preference shares neither the company can return the share

capital nor can the shareholder demand its repayment.
6. Irredeemable preference shares are the shares which cannot be redeemed

unless the company is liquidated are known as irredeemable preference
shares.

Types of Preference Shares
The preference shares can be classified into the following ways:

1. Cumulative Preference Shares

The holders of cumulative preference share are entitled to receive a fixed percentage
of dividends before anything is given, tot other classes of shareholders. Apart from
this right, in the case of these shares, if the company has no profits or inadequate
profits in any year to declare dividend, the arrears of dividend would accumulate
and become payable out of the future profits before anything is given to other
classes of shareholders.
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2. Non-cumulative Preference Shares

Non-cumulative preference shares are entitled to a fixed rate of dividend in the
first instance (i.e.., before anything is given to other types of shareholders). But
they are entitled to receive the fixed percentage of dividend in the first instance
only for the year or years when the company earns sufficient profits and dividend
is declared. In case the company has no or inadequate profits in any year to
declare dividend, then the arrears of dividend do not accumulate and become
payable out of future profits in the case of these shares.

3. Participating Preference Shares

The holders of these shares, in addition to a fixed percentage of dividend, are also
entitled to participate in the surplus profits of the company along with the equity
shareholders. Only if there is a specific or special provision in the articles of
association of the company giving the holders of these shares special rights to
participate in the surplus profits, they are also entitled to participate in surplus
assets of the company on its winding up.

4. Non-participating Preference Shares

The holders of non-participating preference shares will get only a fixed rate of
dividend, of course, in the first instance (i.e., before any dividend is paid to equity
shareholders). But they are not entitled to participate in the surplus profits of the
company.

5. Convertible Preference Shares

The holders of convertible preference shares are given the rights to convert their
shares into equity shares later on (i.e., after a certain period).

6. Non-convertible Preference Shares
The holders of non-convertible preference share are not given the right to convert
their shares into equity shares later on.

7. Redeemable Preference Shares

Redeemable preference shares are those preference shares, which can be redeemed
(i.e., returned or paid back) even during the existence of the company. These
shares can be redeemed as per the terms of issue either at a definite date after the
expiry of a stipulated (fixed) period or at the option of the company, i.e., whenever
the company wants, after giving proper notice. Redeemable preference shares
can, be redeemed by a company. But their redemption is subject to the conditions:

(i) The articles of association of the company should provide for the issue
and redemption of these shares.

(ii) Only fully paid shares can be redeemed. Partly paid shares cannot be
redeemed.

(iii) They can be redeemed only out of the profits of the company which
would be otherwise available for dividend (i.e., out of the divisible profits
of the company) or out of the proceeds of fresh issue of shares made
for the purpose of redemption.
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(iv) Any premium paid on their redemption must be paid out of the profits of
the company or out of the company’s share premium account.

8. Irredeemable Preference Shares

Irredeemable preference shares are those preference share which are not
refundable until the company is wound up.

Advantages of Preference Shares

(i) It helps in raising long term capital for a company
(ii) Mortgage property on these shares are not required.
(iii) Redeemable preference shares have the added advantages of repayment

of capital whenever there is surplus in the company.
(iv) Rate of return is guaranteed.

Disadvantages of Preference Shares

(i) Permanent burden on the company to pay a fixed rate of dividend before
paying anything on the other shares.

(ii) Not advantageous to investors from the point of view of control and
management as preferences shares do not carry voting rights.

(iii) Compared to other fixed interest bearing securities such as debentures,
usually the cost of raising the preference share capital is higher.

3.4.3 Equity Shares
Equity snares are those which are not preference shares. In other words, these are
shares, which do not enjoy any preferential right either in respect of payment of
dividend or in respect of the repayment of capital at the time of the winding up of
the company. These shares are knows as equity shares, as they are the ‘ownership
shares’ conferring the ownership of the company on the holders of these shares,
i.e., the holders of these shares are the real owners of the company.

Meaning of Equity Shares

Equity share refers to the stock or capital stock of a business entity which represents
the original capital paid into or invested in the business by its founders. It serves as
a security for the creditors of a business since it cannot be withdrawn to the detriment
of the creditors.

Advantages of Equity Shares

1. Advantages of Company
The advantages of issuing equity shares may be summarized as below:

(i) Long-term and Permanent Capital: It is a good source of long-term
finance. A company is not required to pay-back the equity capital during
its lifetime. So, it is a permanent source of capital.

(ii) No Fixed Burden: Equity shares suppose no fixed burden on the
company’s resources, because of the dividend on these shares is subject
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to availability of profits and the intention of the board of directors. They
may not get the dividend even when company has profits. Thus, they
provide a cushion of safety against unfavorable development.

(iii) Creditworthiness: Issuance of equity share capital creates no change
on the assets of the company. A company can raise further finance on
the security of its fixed assets.

(iv) Risk Capital: Equity capital is said to be the risk capital. A company
can trade on equity in bad periods on the risk of equity capital.

(v) Dividend Policy: A company may follow an elastic and rational dividend
policy and may create huge reserves for its developmental programs.

2. Advantages to Investors

Investors or equity shareholders may enjoy the following advantages:
(i) More Income: Equity shareholders are the residual claimant of the profits

after meeting all the fixed commitments. The company may add to the
profits by trading on equity. Thus, equity capital may get dividend at
high in boom period.

(ii) Right to Participate in the Control and Management: Equity
shareholders have voting rights and elect competent persons as directors
to control and manage the affairs of the company.

(iii) Capital Profits: The market value of equity shares fluctuates directly
with the profits of the company and their real value based on the net
worth of the assets of the company. An appreciation in the net worth of
the company’s assets will increase the market value of equity shares. It
brings capital appreciation in their investments.

(iv) An Attraction of Persons having Limited Income: Equity shares
are mostly of lower denomination and persons of limited recourses can
purchase these shares.

(v) Other Advantages: It appeals most to the speculators. Their prices in
security market are more fluctuating.

Disadvantages of Equity Shares

1. Disadvantages to Company

Equity shares have the following disadvantages to the company:
(i) Dilution in Control: Each sale of equity shares dilutes the voting

power of the existing equity shareholders and extends the voting or
controlling power to the new shareholders. Equity shares are transferable
and may bring about centralization of power in few hands. Certain groups
of equity shareholders may manipulate control and management of
company by controlling the majority holdings which may be detrimental
to the interest of the company.

(ii) Trading on Equity Not Possible: If equity shares alone are issued,
the company cannot trade on equity.
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(iii) Overcapitalization: Excessive issue of equity shares may result in
overcapitalization. Dividend per share is low in that condition which
adversely affects the psychology of the investors. It is difficult to cure.

(iv) No Flexibility in Capital Structure: Equity shares cannot be paid
back during the lifetime of the company. This characteristic creates
inflexibility in capital structure of the company.

(v) High Cost: It costs more to finance with equity shares than with other
securities as the selling costs and underwriting commission are paid at a
higher rate on the issue of these shares.

(vi)Speculation: Equity shares of good companies are subject to hectic
speculation in the stock market. Their prices fluctuate frequently which
are not in the interest of the company.

2. Disadvantages to Investors

Equity shares have the following disadvantages to the investors:
(i) Uncertain and Irregular Income: The dividend on equity shares is

subject to availability of profits and intention of the Board of Directors
and hence the income is quite irregular and uncertain. They may get no
dividend even three are sufficient profits.

(ii) Capital loss During Depression Period: During recession or
depression periods, the profits of the company come down and
consequently the rate of dividend also comes down. Due to low rate of
dividend and certain other factors, the market value of equity shares
goes down resulting in a capital loss to the investors.

(iii) Loss on Liquidation: In case, the company goes into liquidation, equity
shareholders are the worst suffers. They are paid in the last only if any
surplus is available after every other claim including the claim of preference
shareholders is settled. It is evident from the advantages and
disadvantages of equity share capital discussed above that the issue of
equity share capital is a must for a company, yet it should not solely
depend on it.

3.4.4 Differences between Preference Shares and Equity
Shares

There are many differences between preferences shares and equity shares are as
follows:

Preferences Shares

1. Preference shares are those shares which enjoys preference regarding
dividend and repayment of capital.

2. Preference shareholders get back their finance during lifetime of the
company and before the equity shareholders.

3. Preference shares enjoy preferential rights as regards the payment of
dividend and return of capital.
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4. Rate of dividend is fixed at the time of issue and changes are not made
in this rate in due course.

5. Preference shares do not carry normal rights, but only under exceptional
circumstances.

6. There are different types of preference shares like cumulative,
redeemable, irredeemable, participating and non-participating.

Equity Shares

1. Shares which bear the risk and provide permanent finance are called
equity shares.

2. Equity capital is not repaid during the lifetime of company.
3. Equity shares do not carry such preferential rights over preference shares.
4. Rate of dividend is not fixed but flexible. It changes every year as per

the net profit of the company.
5. Equity shares carry normal voting rights.
6. All equity shares are of one type or category. They are always

irredeemable.

3.5 TRANSFER AND TRANSMISSION OF
SHARES

As per Section 56 of the Companies Act, 2013 Read with Rule 11 of
Companies (Share Capital and Debenture) Rules, 2014

Transfer of Shares: It will be affected only if a proper instrument of transfer,
in Form SH-4, as given in sub-rule 1 of Rule 11 of Companies (Share Capital and
Debenture) Rules 2014 duly stamped, dated, and is executed by or on behalf of
the transferor and the transferee and specifies all the details like name, address,
occupation if any of the transferee. It has to be delivered to the company by either
parties within 60 days from the date of execution along with a certificate of securities
or letter of allotment of securities as available.

If the transferor makes an application for the transfer of partly paid shares,
then the company gives notice of the application Form SH-5 as given in sub-rule
3 of Rule 11 of Companies (Share Capital and Debentures) Rules 2014, to the
transferee and the transferee must give no objection to the transfer within 2 weeks
from the receipt of the notice.

Transmission of Shares: It will be affected when the application of
transmission of shares along with relevant documents is valid. Execution of transfer
deed is not required.

The following are the relevant documents for the transmission of shares:
(a) Certified Copy of Death Certificate.
(b) Self-attested Copy of PAN.
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(c) Succession Certificate/Probate of Will/Will/Letter of Administration/
Court Decree.

(d) Specimen signature of successor.
The differences between the transfer of shares and transmission of shares:

Details Transfer of Shares Transmission of Shares
What is it? Voluntary Act Operational by law
Who can initiate? Transferor or Transferee Legal heir or receiver
How is it affected? A deliberate act of Insolvency, lunacy, death or

parties  inheritance
Is there a consideration? Yes No

Is a transfer deed Yes No
compulsory?
Is stamp duty Yes. Payable on the No
compulsory? market value of shares
Who is liable? Liability of transferor Original liability of shares

ceases to exist post the continues to exist
transfer

3.6 SHAREHOLDERS VS. MEMBERS OF THE
COMPANY

When we talk about a company, the terms shareholders and members are
commonly used as synonyms, as one can become a member of the company,
except by way of holding shares. In this way, a member is a shareholder and a
shareholder is a member. The statement is true but not completely, as it is subject
to certain exceptions, i.e., a person can become the holder of shares through
transfer, but is not a member, until the transfer is entered in the register of members.

In the same way, the transferor of shares lacks shareholding but continues
as a member, until entries are made in the company’s books regarding the transfer.
Likewise, there are a few more points of difference between member and
shareholder which are elaborated in the article in a detailed manner.

Definition of Member

A person whose name is entered in the register of members of a company becomes
a member of that company. The register includes every single detail about the
member like name, address, occupation, date of becoming a member, etc. It also
includes every person who holds company’s shares and whose name is entered as
the beneficial owners in depository records.

The liabilities of members are limited to the amount of shares held by them
in the case of a company having share capital while in the case of a company
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limited by guarantee the liability of members is limited to the amount of guarantee
given by them. But, in the case of an unlimited company, the members have to
contribute from his personal assets to pay the debts.

The members cannot take part in the management of the company, i.e., the
management of the company is looked after by the Board of Directors, although
the right to appoint and remove the directors is in the hands of members.

How to Become the Member of a Company?

(a) If a person subscribes the memorandum of association of a company,
he becomes a member by signing it.

(b) If a person becomes the beneficial owner of shares whose name is
registered in the record of the depository, then also he becomes a member.

(c) If a person gets shares by way of transfer and the transfer is recorded
by the company, along with the entry of the name of the transferee in the
register of members.

(d) If a person gets shares by way of transmission and the transmission is
recorded by the company along with the entry of the name in the register
of members.

(e) If a person agrees to take the qualification shares of the company and
pay for it ,then also he becomes a member of the company.

Definition of Shareholder

An individual who owns the share of a public or a private company is known as a
‘Shareholder.’ A subscriber of shares is not regarded as the shareholder until the
shares are actually allotted to him. The shareholders are the owners of the company,
i.e., to the extent of the share capital held by them. The legal representative of the
deceased member is a shareholder, not the member, until and unless his name is
recorded in the register of members of the company. Hence, it can be said that
every shareholder is a member but every member, is not a shareholder.

The following are the rights of a shareholder:
(a) Right to transfer or sell their shares.
(b) Right to get the dividend.
(c) Right to attend the general meeting and vote.
(d) Right to take copies of Memorandum and Articles of Association.
(e) Right to receive the copy of the statutory report.

Difference between Members and Shareholders

Basis for Member Shareholder
Comparison
Meaning A person, whose name is The person, who owns the

entered in the register of shares of a company, is known
members of a company, as shareholder.



Shares

NOTES

Self-Instructional
             Material   105

is the registered member
of the company.

Defined in Section 2(55) Not defined
Share Warrant The holder of a share warrant The holder of a share warrant

is not a member. is a shareholder.
Company Every company must have a The company limited by shares

minimum number of members.  can have shareholders.
Memorandum The person who signs the After signing the memorandum,

memorandum of association a person can be a shareholder
with the company becomes only when the shares are
a member. allotted to him.

3.7 DEBENTURES

Debentures

The word ‘Debenture’ is used to signify the acknowledgement of a debt, given
under the seal of the company and containing a contract for the repayment of the
principal sum at a specified date and for the payment of interest (usually half yearly)
at a fixed rate until the principal sum is repaid and it may or may not give a charge
on the assets of the company as security for the loan.

Meaning of Debentures

Debenture refers to a certificate of agreement of loans which is given under the
company’s stamp and carries an undertaking that the debenture holder will get a
fixed return (fixed on the basis of interest rates) and the principal amount whenever
the debenture matures.

Definition of Debentures

Section 2(12) of the Companies Act states that “a debenture includes debenture
stock, bonds and any other securities of a company, whether constituting a charge
on the assets of the company or not”.

Features of Debentures

Following are the features of debentures:
1. Debenture holders of the company are the creditors of the company

and not the owners of the company.
2. Capital raised by way of debentures is required to be repaid during the

life time of the company at the time stipulated by the company. Thus, it
is not a source of permanent capital.

3. Debentures are generally secured.
4. Return paid by the company is in the form of interest which is

predetermined.
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5. Debentures are very risky from company’s point of view for raising
long-term funds.

6. Risk on the part of debenture holders is very less.
7. Debenture holders do not carry any voting rights.
8. Debentures are a cheap source of funds from the company’s point of

view.
9. Debentures are instruments in writing that acknowledge of the in debt of

the company to the holder of the instrument.
10. Debentures are always made under the seal of the company. However,

a certificate that has been signed by two or more directors of the
company but carries no seal is considered a valid debenture document.

11. The owner of the instrument is not an owner of the company but merely
it’s creditor for the amount mentioned in the acknowledgement.

12. The interest needs to be paid to the debenture holder on a specified rate
by a specified time.

13. The holder of debenture documents is entitled to get regular interest
from the company. This continues even in case where the company has
incurred losses.

14. All the debentures are redeemed on due date. In case of winding up of
the company, debenture holders are repaid after payment to shareholders
are made.

15. Debenture can be converted into equity share by the issuing company.

Check Your Progress

1. Discuss in brief about features of Share.
2. Explain about various types of Shares.
3. Discuss about Transfer and Transmission of Shares.

3.8 TYPES OF DEBENTURES

Debentures can be classified into the following ways:

1. Non-convertible Debentures (NCD): These instruments retain the
debt character and cannot be converted into equity shares.

2. Partly Convertible Debentures (PCD): A part of these instruments
are converted into equity shares in the future at notice of the issuer. The
issuer decides the ratio for conversion. This is normally decided at the
time of subscription.

3. Fully Convertible Debentures (FCD): These are fully convertible
into equity shares at the issuer’s notice. The ratio of conversion is decided
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by the issuer. Upon conversion, the investors enjoy the same status as
ordinary shareholders of the company.

4. Optionally Convertible Debentures (OCD): The investor has the
option to either convert these debentures into shares at price decided
by the issuer/agreed upon at the time of issue.

On basis of security, debentures are classified into the following ways:

5. Secured Debentures: These instruments are secured by a charge on
the fixed assets of the issuer company. So, if the issuer fails on payment
of the principal or interest amount, his assets can be sold to repay the
liability to the investors

6. Unsecured Debentures: These instrument are unsecured in the sense
that if the issuer defaults on payment of the interest or principal amount,
the investor has to be along with other unsecured creditors of the
company.

7. Registered Debentures: These are those debentures which are
registered in the register of the company. The names, addresses and
particulars of holdings of debenture holders are entered in a register
kept by the company. Such debentures are treated as non-negotiable
instruments and interest on such debentures are payable only to registered
holders of debentures. Registered debentures are also called as
debentures payable to registered holders.

8. Bearer Debentures: These are those debentures which are not
registered in the register of the company. Bearer debentures are like a
bearer check. They are payable to the bearer and are deemed to be
negotiable instruments. They are transferable by mere delivery. No
formality of executing a transfer deed is necessary. When bearer
documents are transferred, stamp duty need not be paid. A person
transferring a bearer debenture need not give any notice to the company
to this effect. The transferee who acquires such a debenture in due course
bonafide and for available consideration gets good title not withstanding
any defect in the title of the transferor. Interest coupons are attached to
each debenture and are payable to bearer.

9. Redeemable Debentures: These debentures are issued by the company
for a specific period only. On the expiry of period, debenture capital is
redeemed or paid back. Generally, the company creates a special reserve
account known as “Debenture Redemption Reserve Fund” for the
redemption of such debentures. The company makes the payment of
interest regularly. Under section 121 of the Indian Companies Act, 1956,
redeemed debentures can be re-issued.
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10. Irredeemable Debentures: These debentures are issued for an
indefinite period which is also known as perpetual debentures. The
debenture capital is repaid either at the option of the company by giving
prior notice to that effect or at the winding up of the company. The
interest is regularly paid on these debentures. The principal amount is
repayable only at the time of winding up of the company. However, the
company may decide to repay the principal amount during its lifetime.

11. Mortgage Debentures: A mortgage debenture is pone which is secured
by a mortgage on the real property of the company. If the company fails
to repay the borrowed amount at a specified period, the debenture
holder has a legal right to sell the property and recovered the loan.

12. Naked Debentures: In general, the term debenture in British usage
designates any security issued by companies other than their shares,
including, therefore, what are in the United States commonly called
bonds. When used in the United States, debenture generally designates
an instrument secured by a floating charge junior to other charges secured
by fixed mortgages or, specif., one of a series of securities secured by a
group of securities held in trust for the benefit of the debenture holders.

13. Agency Debentures: The marketplace appears to believe that GSE
Agency debentures carry an implicit guarantee from the United States
government. This is due to the GSE’s direct borrowing ability from the
US Treasury and the importance of the GSE’s Congressional charters
and missions.

The Agency debenture market is very large. At one point in the late
1990s, outstanding agency debt comprised primarily of the debt issued
by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac nearly surpassed the amount of debt
issued by the US Treasury.

Advantages of Debentures

1. Control of the company is not surrendered to debenture holders because
they do not have any voting rights.

2. Trading on equity is possible as debenture holders get a lower rate of
return than the earnings of the company.

3. Interest on debenture is an allowable expenditure under Income Tax
Act. Hence, incidence of tax on the company is decreased.

4. Debenture can be redeemed when company has surplus funds.

Disadvantages of Debentures

1. Cost of raising capital through debentures is high of high stamps duty.

2. Common people cannot buy debenture as they are of high denominations.
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3. They are not meant for companies earning greater than the rate of interest
which they are paying on the debentures.

Difference between Shares and Debentures

Basis Shares Debentures
Capital 1. A share is a part of equity 1. A debenture is a part of loan

or preference share capital capital of the company. The
of a company. The holders holder of a debenture is the
of the shares may be creditor of the company.
described as part owner
of the company.

Return 2. Return on share is known  2. Return on a debenture is
as dividend. A company known as interest and the
declares dividend only company compulsorily pays
when there are profits and it at a fixed rate whether
its rate may vary from year. there are profits or losses.

Appropriation 3. Dividend is an 3. Interest on debenture is a
appropriation of profit and charge against profits and is
is therefore debited in  therefore debited in Profit
Profit and Loss and Loss Account.
Appropriation Account.

Charge on 4. Shares do not create any 4. Debentures create a charge
Property charge on the assets of the  on the asset of the company.

company.

Redemption 5. Normally, the share capital 5. The amount of debentures
is not returned during the has to be returned after a
lifetime of the company. stipulated period of time

as per the conditions of issue.

Discount on 6. Shares can be issued at 6. There are no restrictions on
Issue discount only when the issue of debentures at a

conditions lay down discount.
Premium on 7. The premium received on 7. Premium received on issue
Issue issue of shares can be of debentures can be utilized

 utilized by the company by the company in any
subject to the conditions manner it likes.
given.

Purchase 8. A company cannot 8. A company can purchase
purchase its own shares own debentures from the
from the own market. open market.

Convertibility 9. Shares cannot be 9. Debentures can be
converted into debentures. converted into shares
according to the conditions of issue of debentures.
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Debenture Certificate
Section 113 requires the debenture certificate to be issued within 3 months of the
allotment. In case of transfer, the same must be issued within 2 months after the
application for transfer. CLB may extend the aforesaid period but not beyond 9
months, if it is satisfied that it is not possible for the company to deliver the certificate
within the said period.

Debenture Trustee and Trust Deed

The Companies (Amendment) Act, 2000 has added two new Sections,

Section 117A stipulates that a trust deed for securing any issue of debentures shall
be in such form and shall be executed within such period as may be prescribed. It
may be noted that SEBI Guidelines, 2000 specify a period of six months from the
closure of the issue for listed companies.

Inspection and copy of trust deed – Sub-section (2) of Section 117A
empowers any member or debenture holder of the company to inspect the trust
deed and obtain copies of the same on payment of the prescribed amount.

Penalty for non-compliance – If inspection of trust deed or copy of the
trust deed is not made available to any member or debenture holder of a company,
the company and every officer of the company, who is in default, shall be punishable,
for each offence, with fine which may extend to rupees five thousand hand for
each day during which the offence continues.

Appointment of Debenture Trustee (Section 117B)
A company before issue of a prospectus or a letter of offer to the public for
subscription of its debentures is required to fulfill the following conditions:

(i) To appoint one or more debenture trustee for such debentures.
(ii) To state on the face of the prospectus or letter of offer that the debenture

trustee or trustees have given their consent to be so appointed.

Debenture Redemption Reserve (DRR) (Section 117C)
Section 117C, introduced by the Companies (Amendment) Act, 2000 provides
for creation of Debenture Redemption Reserve for the purpose of redemption of
debentures. It may, however, be noted that SEBI Guidelines have since long
stipulated such requirement. The provisions of Section 117C, in this regard are:

1. In respect of debentures issued after the commencement of the
Amendment Act, 2000, the company is required to create a debenture
redemption reserve for the redemption of such debentures.

2. The company shall credit the DRR adequate amounts from out of its
profits every year until such debentures are redeemed.

3. DRR shall be utilized by the company only for the purpose of redemption
of debentures.

4. The company shall pay interest and redeem the debentures in accordance
with the terms and conditions of their issue.
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5. Failure to redeem the debentures if a company fails to redeem the
debentures on the due dates, any or all the debenture holders can make
an application to CLB. CLB, after hearing the parties concerned, may
direct, by order, the company to redeem the debentures forthwith by
payment of principal and interest due thereon.

6. Penalty for non-compliance – every officer of the company who is in
default shall be punishable with imprisonment which may extend to three
years and shall also be liable to fine which shall not be less than rupees
five thousands for every day during which the default continues.

Meaning of Bond

Bond is an instrument of indebtedness of the bond issuer to the holders. The most
common types of bonds include municipal bonds and corporate bonds. Bonds
can be in mutual funds or can be in private investing where a person would give a
loan to a company or the government.

The bond is a debt security, under which the issuer owes the holders a debt
and (depending on the terms of the bond) is obliged to pay them interest (the
coupon) or to repay the principal at a later date, termed the maturity date. Interest
is usually payable at fixed intervals (semiannual, annual, sometimes monthly). Very
often, the bond is negotiable, i.e., the ownership of the instrument can be transferred
in the secondary market. This means that once the transfer agents at the bank
medallion stamp the bond, it is highly liquid on the secondary market.

Features of Bonds
The features of bonds can be summarized as follows:

1. Bonds are debt securities issued by corporations, governments, or other
organizations and sold to investors.

2. Backing for bonds is typically the payment ability of the issuer to generate
revenue, although physical assets may also be used as collateral.

3. Because corporate bonds are typically seen as riskier than government
bonds, they usually have higher interest rates.

4. Bonds have different features than stocks and their prices tend to be
less correlated, making bonds a good diversifier for investment portfolios.

5. Bonds also tend to pay regular and stable interest, making them well-
suited for those on a fixed-income.

Types of Bond

Bonds in India are generally issued by Government bodies. Having a government
backing to the bonds provides security to the investor that these bonds will be
repaid on maturity. However, other private institutions also issue bonds depending
on their need. These are the different types of bonds available for investment in
India:

1. Central Government Bonds: These bonds are issued by the Central
Government to raise funds. These bonds are issued by the RBI on behalf
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of the Government. The primary purpose of these bonds is to finance
fiscal deficit and meet the shortfall of revenue in the Government budget.
These bonds are the safest bonds to invest in, since they are backed by
the Government and will be repaid on maturity.

2. State Government Bonds: These bonds are issued by the State
Government to meet their fiscal deficits. These bonds are listed on the
stock exchange. These bonds are also backed by the Government,
making them low risk investments.

3. Municipal and Local Authority Bonds: A municipal corporation or
a local authority may raise finance to meet funding for specific goals
such as constructing infrastructure, public water works, etc. These bonds
are also rated by credit rating agencies and it is best to go by the rating
and past records before investing.

4. Corporate Bonds: These are highly risky bonds since the maturity
depends on the track record of the company. Before investing in such
bonds, you must do a complete study into the company and its
performance.

5. Public Sector Bonds: These bonds are issued by highly rated public
sector companies for meeting their growth and expansion needs. These
bonds are relatively less risky since PSUs are under the Government.
Generally, these bonds are issued by companies where the Central
Government is the majority shareholder.

6. Tax-free Bonds: Companies such as the National Highways Association
of India (NHAI), Indian Railways Finance Corporation, HUDCO and
Rural Electrification Corporation (REC) issue these bonds. The interest
earned on these bonds is completely tax free in the hands of the investor.

Securities and Exchange Board of India (SEBI)

In 1988, the Securities and Exchange Board of India (SEBI) was established by
the Government of India through an executive resolution and was subsequently
upgraded as a fully autonomous body (a statutory Board) in the year 1992 with
the passing of the Securities and Exchange Board of India Act (SEBI Act) on 30th
January, 1992. In place of Government Control, a statutory and autonomous
regulatory board with defined responsibilities, to cover both development and
regulation of the market and independent powers has been set up. Paradoxically,
this is a positive outcome of the Securities Scam of 1990-91.

Securities and Exchange Board of India (SEBI) framed its Disclosure and
Investor Protection Guidelines (DIP Guidelines) in 1992. DIP guidelines provide
a comprehensive framework for issuances by companies.

The basic objectives of the Securities and Exchange Board of India:
(i) To protect the interests of investors in securities.
(ii) To promote the development of securities market.
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(iii) To regulate the securities market.
(iv) For matters connected therewith or incidental thereto.

Eligibility Norms for Companies Issuing Securities

Conditions for Issue of Securities
The companies issuing securities offered through an offer document shall satisfy
the following at the time of filing the draft offer document with SEBI 30 and also at
the time of filing the final offer document with the Registrar of Companies/Designated
Stock Exchange).
Filing of Offer Document
No issuer company shall make any public issue of securities, unless a draft
Prospectus has been filed with the Board through a Merchant Banker, at least 30
days prior to the filing of the Prospectus with the Registrar of Companies (ROC):

(i) Provided that if the Board specifies changes or issues observations on
the draft Prospectus (without being under any obligation to do so), the
issuer company or the Lead Manager to the Issue shall carry out such
changes in the draft Prospectus or comply with the observations issued
by the Board before filing the Prospectus with ROC.

(ii) Provided further that the period within which the Board may specify
changes or issue observations, if any, on the draft Prospectus shall be
30 days from the date of receipt of the draft Prospectus by the Board.

Fast Track Issues
(i) In case of a public issue of securities by a listed company satisfying all

the requirements specified in this clause, the date of filing of red herring
prospectus (in case of a book built issue) or prospectus (in case of a
fixed price issue) with ROC; and

(ii) In case of a rights issue of securities by a listed company satisfying all
the requirements specified in this clause, where the aggregate value of
such securities, including premium, if any, exceeds ̀  50 lakhs, the date
of filing of letter of offer with Designated Stock Exchange.

(iii) “Average market capitalization of public shareholding” shall mean the
sum of daily market capitalization of “public shareholding” for a period
of one year up to the end of the quarter preceding the month in which
the proposed issue was approved by the Board/shareholders, as the
case may be, divided by the number of trading days. For this purpose,
“public shareholding” shall have the same meaning as assigned to it in
clause 40A of the Listing Agreement.

Companies Barred Not to Issue Security
No company shall make an issue of securities if the company has been prohibited
from accessing the capital market under any order or direction passed by the
Board.
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Application for Listing
No company shall make any public issue of securities unless it has made an
application for listing of those securities in the stock exchange. Provided that in
case of an unlisted company making an Initial Public Offer, the company shall
make an application for listing of those securities on at least one stock exchange
having nationwide trading terminals.
Public Issue by Listed Companies
A listed company shall be eligible to make a public issue of equity shares or any
other security which may be converted into or exchanged with equity shares at a
later date:

(i) Provided that the aggregate of the proposed issue and all previous
issues made in the same financial year in terms of size (i.e., offer through
offer document + firm allotment + promoters’ contribution through the
offer document), issue size does not exceed 5 times its pre-issue net
worth as per the audited balance sheet of the last financial year.

(ii) Provided (further) that in case there is a change in the name of the
issuer company within the last 1 year (reckoned from the date of filing
of the offer document), the revenue accounted for by the activity
suggested by the new name is not less than 50% of its total revenue in
the preceding 1 full-year period.)

Exemption from Eligibility Norms

(i) A banking company including a Local Area Bank (hereinafter referred
to as Private Sector Banks) set up under sub-section (c) of Section 5 of
the Banking Regulation Act, 1949 and which has received license from
the Reserve Bank of India; or

(ii) A corresponding new bank set up under the Banking Companies
(Acquisition and Transfer of Undertaking) Act, 1970 Banking Companies
(Acquisition and Transfer of Undertaking) Act, 1980, State Bank of
India Act 1955 and State Bank of India (Subsidiary Banks) Act, 1959
(hereinafter referred to as “public sector banks”); or

(iii) An infrastructure company whose project has been appraised by a Public
Financial Institution (PFI) or Infrastructure Development Finance
Corporation (IDFC) or Infrastructure Leasing and Financing Services
Ltd. (IL&FS) or a bank which was earlier a PFI; and Not less than 5%
of the project cost is financed by any of the institutions referred to in
sub-clause (a), jointly or severally.

Credit Rating for Debt Instruments

No issuer company shall make a public issue or rights issue of convertible debt
instruments), unless the following conditions are also satisfied, as on date of filing
of draft offer document with SEBI and also on the date of filing a final offer document
with RoC/Designated Stock Exchange:
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(i) Credit rating is obtained from at least one credit rating agency registered
with the Board and disclosed in the offer document.

(ii) The company is not in the list of willful defaulters of RBI.
(iii) The company is not in default of payment of interest or repayment of

principal in respect of debentures issued to the public, if any, for a period
of more than 6 months.

(iv) Where credit ratings are obtained from more than one credit rating
agencies, all the ratings, including the unaccepted ratings, shall be
disclosed in the offer document.

SEBI Guidelines for IPOs

1. IPOs of Small Companies: Public issue of less than rupees five crores
has to be through OTCEI and separate guidelines apply for floating and
listing of these issues.

2. Size of the Public Issue: Issue of shares to general public cannot be
less than 25% of the total issue, in case of information technology, media
and telecommunication sectors this stipulation is reduced subject to the
conditions that:
(a) Offer to the public is not less than 10% of the securities issued.
(b) A minimum number of ̀  20 lakhs securities is offered to the public.
(c) Size of the net offer to the public is not less than ̀  30 crores.

3. Promoter Contribution:
(a) Promoters should bring in their contribution including premium fully

before the issue.
(b) Minimum promoter’s contribution is 20-25% of the public issue.
(c) Minimum lock-in period for promoter’s contribution is five years.
(d) Minimum lock-in period for firm allotments is three years.

4. Collection Centers for Receiving Applications:
(a) There should be at least 30 mandatory collection centers, which

should include invariably the places where stock exchanges have
been established.

(b) For issues not exceeding ̀  10 crores (including premium, if any),
the collection centers shall be situated at:
(i) The four metropolitan centres, viz., Bombay, Delhi, Calcutta,

Madras.
(ii) At all such centres where stock exchanges are located in the

region in which the registered office of the company is situated.
5. Regarding Allotment of Shares:

(a) Net Offer to the General Public has to be at least 25% of the Total
Issue Size for listing on a stock exchange.
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(b) It is mandatory for a company to get its shares listed at the regional
stock exchange where the registered office of the issuer is located.

(c) In an issue of more than ̀  25 crores the issuer is allowed to place
the whole issue by book building.

(d) Minimum of 50% of the net offer to the public has to be reserved
for Investors applying for less than 1000 shares.

(e) There should be at least 5 investors for every 1 lakh of equity offered
(not applicable to infrastructure companies).

Quoting of Permanent Account Number or GIR No. in application for
allotment of securities is compulsory where monetary value of Investment
is ` 50,000/- or above.
Indian development financial institutions and Mutual Fund can be allotted
securities upto 75% of the Issue Amount.
A Venture Capital Fund shall not be entitled to get its securities listed on
any stock exchange till the expiry of 3 years from the date of issuance of
securities.
Allotment to categories of FIIs and NRIs/OCBs is upto a maximum of
24%, which can be further extended to 30% by an application to the
RBI – supported by a resolution passed in the General Meeting.

6. Timeframes for the Issue and Post-issue Formalities
The minimum period for which a public issue has to be kept open is
3 working days and the maximum for which it can be kept open is
10 working days. The minimum period for a rights issue is 15 working
days and the maximum is 60 working days.
A public issue is affected if the issue is able to procure 90% of the
total issue size within 60 days from the date of earliest closure of the
Public Issue. In case of oversubscription, the company may have
the right to retain the excess application money and allot shares
more than the proposed issue, which is referred to as the ‘green-
shoe’ option.
A rights issue has to procure 90% subscription in 60 days of the
opening of the issue.
Allotment has to be made within 30 days of the closure of the Public
Issue and 42 days in case of a rights issue.
All the listing formalities for a public Issue has to be completed within
70 days from the date of closure of the subscription list.

 7.  Dispatch of Refund Orders:
Refund orders have to be dispatched within 30 days of the closure
of the Public Issue.
Refunds of excess application money, i.e., for unallotted shares have
to be made within 30 days of the closure of the Public Issue.
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8. Other Regulations Pertaining to IPO:
Underwriting is not mandatory but 90% subscription is mandatory for
each issue of capital to public unless it is disinvestment in which case it is
not applicable.
If the issue is undersubscribed then the collected amount should be
returned back (not valid for disinvestment issues).
If the issue size is more than ̀  500 crores, voluntary disclosures should
be made regarding the deployment of the funds and an adequate
monitoring mechanism to be put in place to ensure compliance.
(a) There should not be any outstanding warrants or financial instruments

of any other nature, at the time of initial public offer.

(b) In the event of the initial public offer being at a premium and if the
rights under warrants or other instruments have been exercised
within the twelve months prior to such offer, the resultant shares will
not be taken into account for reckoning the minimum promoter’s
contribution and further, the same will also be subject to lock-in.

(c) Code of advertisement specified by SEBI should be adhered to.

(d) Draft prospectus submitted to SEBI should also be submitted
simultaneously to all stock exchanges where it is proposed to be
listed.

9. Restrictions on Other Allotments:

(a) Firm allotments to mutual funds, FIIs and employees not subject to
any lock-in period.

(b) Within twelve months of the public/rights issue no bonus issue should
be made.

(c) Maximum percentage of shares, which can be distributed to
employees, cannot be more than 5% and maximum shares to be
allotted to each employee cannot be more than 200.

10. Relaxations to Public Issues by Infrastructure Companies: These
relaxations would be applicable to Infrastructure Companies as defined
under Section 10(23G) of the Income Tax Act, 1961, provided their
projects are appraised by any Developmental Financial Institution (DFI)
or IDFC or IL&FS. The projects must also have a participation of at
least 5% of the project cost (in debt and/or equity) by the appraising
institution.

(a) The infrastructure companies will be exempted from the requirement
of making a minimum public offer of 25% of its securities.

(b) The requirement of 5 shareholders per ` 1 lakh of offer is also
waived in case of offerings by infrastructure companies.
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(c) For public issues by infrastructure companies, minimum subscription
of 90% would no longer be mandatory provided disclosure is made
about the alternate source of funding which the company has
considered, in the event of under subscription in the public issue.

(d) Infrastructure companies are permitted to freely price the offerings
in the domestic market provided that the promoter companies along
with Equipment Suppliers and other strategic investors subscribe
to 50% of the equity at the same or a higher price than what is
being offered to the public. Adequate disclosures about the
justification for the pricing will be required to be made in the offer
documents.

(e) The Infrastructure Companies would be allowed to keep their issues
open for 21 days. The relaxation would give infrastructure companies
sufficient time to mobilize funds for their issues.

(f) Infrastructure Companies would not be required to create and
maintain a Debenture Redemption Reserve (DRR) in case of
Debenture Issues.

SEBI Guidelines on the Issues of Bonus Shares

There are no guidelines for issuing bonus shares by the private companies or
unlisted public companies have been issued by the SEBI.

The requirements of the guidelines of SEBI are given below:

(a) Right of FCD/PCD Holders: No company shall pending the
conversion of FCDs/PCDs issue any shares by way of bonus unless
similar benefit is extended to the holders of FCDs/PCDs, through
reservation of shares in proportion to such convertible part of FCDs/
PCDs. The shares so reserved may be issued at the time of conversion
of such debentures on the same terms on which the rights or bonus
issues were made.

(b) Out of Free Reserves: The bonus issue shall be made out of free
reserves built out of genuine profits or share premium collected in cash
only.

(c) Revaluation of Fixed Assets: Reserves created by revaluation of fixed
assets should not be capitalized. If assets are subsequently sold and the
profits are realized, such profits could be utilized for capitalization.

(d) Bonus Issue Not to be in Lieu of Dividend: The declaration of
bonus issue, in lieu of dividend, should not be permitted.

(e) Fully Paid Shares: Bonus issue shall not be made, unless the partly
paid shares, if any, existing are made fully paid up.
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(f) No Default in Respect of Deposit/Debentures: The company should
not have defaulted in payment of any interest or principal in respect its
fixed deposits and interest on debentures or redemption of debentures.

(g) Statutory Dues of the Employees: The company should not be
defaulted in payment of its statutory dues to the employees such as
contribution to PF, gratuity, bonus, minimum wages, workmen’s
compensation, retrenchment, payment to contract labor, etc.

(h) Implementation of Proposal: The bonus issue shall be implemented
within a period of 15 days after the date of approval of the BoD it does
not require the shareholders’ approval for capitalization of profits or
reserves for making bonus issue as per the AoA of the company.

SEBI Guidelines for Buyback of Shares

The SEBI guidelines for buyback of shares are:

(i) The companies are permitted to buy back the shares through six moves:
(a) Tender offers, (b) Open offers, (c) Employee stock option, (d) Dutch
auction, (e) Reverse rights issue and (f) Repurchase of odd loss.

(ii) The companies are not permitted to buyback through negotiated deals,
spot transactions and private placement.

(iii) The buyback should be done only in cash and an escrow account will
have to be maintained by the merchant bankers.

(iv) Promoters have been debarred from participating if the company opts
to buy back shares through stock exchange route.

(v) Number company is allowed to withdraw the buyback offer once it is
announced.

SEBI Guidelines for Issue of Debentures

SEBI (Securities and Exchange Board of India) has issued several guidelines
pertaining to issue of various kinds of debentures. Under SEBI guidelines, the
following points are laid down relating to issue of various kinds of debentures:

(a) Issue of FCD (Fully Convertible Debenture) having a conversion period
of more than 36 months will not be permissible, unless conversion is
made optional with “put” and “call” option.

(b) Compulsory credit rating will be required if conversion is made for FCDs
after 18 months.

(c) Premium amount on conversion and time of conversion shall be
predetermined and stated in the prospectus. The interest rate of above
mentioned debenture will be determined at the time of issue.

(d) Issues of debentures with maturity of 18 months or less are exempted
from the requirement of appointment of debenture trustee or creating a
Debentures Redemption Reserve (DRR).
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(e) Any conversion in part or whole of the debenture will be optional at the
hands of the debenture holder, if the conversion takes place at or after
18 months from the date of allotment, but before 36 months.

(f) In case of NCDs/PCDc, credit rating is compulsory where maturity
exceeds 18 months.

(g) Premium amount at the time of conversion for PCD (Partially Convertible
Debenture) shall be pre-determined and stated in the prospectus.
Maturity amount, period of redemption, on redemption for the PCDs/
NCDs shall be indicated in the prospectus.

(h) In case, the non-convertible portion of PCD/NCD one to be rolled
over with or without changes in the interest rate, a compulsory option
should be given to those debenture holders who want to withdraw and
encash from the debenture program.

(i) Before rollover of any NCDs or non-convertible portion of the PCDs,
fresh credit rating shall be obtained within a period of six months prior
to the due date of redemption and communicated to debenture holders
before roll over and fresh trust deed shall be made.

(j) Letter of information regarding roll over shall be vetted by SEBI with
regard to the credit rating debenture holder resolution, option for
conversion and such other items which SEBI may prescribe from time
to time.

(k) SEBI may prescribe additional disclosure requirement from time to time
after due notice.

However, if the company is required to get the shareholders’ approval
as per AoA of the company for capitalization of profits or reserves, the
bonus issue shall be implemented within 2 months from the date of the
meeting of the BoD.

Demat Account

Demat Account is an account offered by a bank in its capacity as a depository
participant. It is a safe and convenient means of holding securities just like a bank
account for funds. The demat account reduces brokerage charges, makes pledging/
hypothecation of shares easier, enables quick ownership of securities on settlement
resulting in increased liquidity, avoids confusion in the ownership title of securities
and provides easy receipt of public issue allotments.

Benefits of Demat Account

The various benefits of demat account are as follows:

1. Benefit to the Investor

The depository system reduces risks involved in holding physical certificates, e.g.,
loss, theft, mutilation, forgery, etc. It ensures transfer settlements and reduces
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delay in registration of shares. It ensures faster communication to investors. It
helps avoid bad delivery problems due to signature differences, etc. It ensures
faster payment on sale of shares. No stamp duty is paid on transfer of shares. It
provides more acceptability and liquidity of securities.

2. Benefits to Brokers

It reduces risks of delayed settlement. It ensures greater profit due to increase in
volume of trading. It eliminates chances of forgery or bad delivery. It increases
overall trading and profitability. It increases confidence in their investors.

3. Benefit to the Company

The depository system helps in reducing the cost of new issues due to lower
printing and distribution costs. It increases the efficiency of the registrars and transfer
agents and the secretarial department of a company. It provides better facilities for
communication and timely service to shareholders and investors.

Difference between Bank Account and Demat Account

Sr. No. Bank Account Demat Account

1. Funds Securities

2. Safekeeping of money Safekeeping of shares

3. Transfer of money (without Transfer of shares (without
actually handling money) actually handling shares)

4. A bank of choice A DP of choice (can be a bank)

5. Not mandatory Mandatory (effective from April
01, 2006)

6. Interest income is subject to No interest accruals on
the applicable rate of interest securities held in demat account

7. The maintenance is specified for No such requirement
certain bank accounts

8.  Available  Not available

Definition of Dematerialization

Dematerialization is the process of converting physical shares (share certificates)
into an electronic form. Shares once converted into dematerialized form are held
in a Demat account.

Dematerialization Process

An investor having securities in physical form must get them dematerialized, if he
intends to sell them. This requires the investor to fill a Demat Request Form (DRF)
which is available with every DP and submit the same along with the physical
certificates. Every security has an ISIN (International Securities Identification
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Number). If there is more than one security, then the equal number of DRFs has to
be filled in. The whole process goes on in the following manner:
Steps in Dematerialization Process:

Fig. 3.2: Steps in Dematerialization Process

Demat Account Opening Charges

Demat account opening charges can be divided into four main categories. Demat
Account Opening Charges, Maintenance charges, Custodian Charges and
transaction charges. Demat account cost may vary from DP to DP.

1. Demat Account Opening Charges: This is one-time fee. Although it
depends on depository participant whether he asks for demat account
opening charges or not. There are many banks and stock trading broker
firms where no fees is charged but there are some banks or stock trading

1. Investor surrenders the physical certificates to
the DP for dematerialisation

2. DP informs the Depository about the request

3. DP submits the certificates to the registrar of
the Issuer Company

4. Registrar communicates with the Depository to
confirm the request

5. Dematerialisation of the certificates is done by
the registrar

6. Accounts are updated by the Registrar and the
depository is informed about the completion of

dematerialisation

7. Accounts are updated by the Depository and
DP is informed about the same

8. Demat account of the investor is updated by DP
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brokers who may charge a nominal fee for the stamp paper for which
you have to process the contract with the broker.

2. Demat Account Maintenance Charges: These charges are also
known as Demat Account Maintenance Charges. Demat account annual
maintenance cost is required to pay at the starting of the year. However,
some brokers may charge a cost every month or quarter.

3. Custodian Charges: Custodian fee is charged on the number of shares
in the account on a monthly basis.

4. Transaction Charges: The Transaction fee is charged on debiting shares
from your DP account. However, some DPs, charge a flat fee per
transaction, some DPs charge according to the transaction value, subject
to minimum amount. Transaction charges also differ for transaction of
shares. Some DPs charge only on debit of shares while others charge
on debit as well as on selling of shares.

Advantages of Demat Account

(i) A demat account helps avoid problems typically associated with physical
share certificates.

(ii) It is safe and convenient way of holding securities (equity and debt
instruments both).

(iii) Transactions involving physical securities are costlier than those involving
dematerialized securities. Therefore, charges applicable to an investor
are lesser for each transaction.

(iv) Securities can be transferred at an instruction immediately.
(v) Increased liquidity, as securities can be sold at any time during the trading

hours (between 9:55 AM to 3:30 PM on all working days) and payment
can be received in a very short period of time.

(vi) No stamp duty charges.
(vii) Risks like forgery, thefts, bad delivery, delays in transfer etc. associated

with physical certificates, are eliminated.
(viii) Pledging of securities in a short period of time.
(ix) Reduced paperwork and transaction cost.
(x) Any change in address or bank account details can be electronically

intimated to all companies in which investor holds any securities, without
having to inform each of them separately.

Disadvantages of Demat

(i) Trading in securities may become uncontrolled in case of dematerialized
securities.

(ii) It is incumbent upon the capital market regulator to keep a close watch
on the trading in dematerialized securities and see to it that trading does
not act as a detriment to investors.
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(iii) For dematerialized securities, the role of key market players such as
stock-brokers needs to be supervised as they have the capability of
manipulating the market.

(iv) Multiple regulatory frameworks have to be conformed to, including the
Depositories Act, Regulations and the various byr-laws of various
depositories.

(v) Agreements are entered at various levels in the process of
dematerialization. These may cause anxiety to the investor desirous of
simplicity.

3.9 BORROWING POWERS

Borrowing power of a company under the Companies Act is a restricted and
guided power. On the one hand, the Act acknowledges the need of companies to
receive money as borrowings for trading purposes from time to time.

Every business requires a lot of financial amounts to operate effectively.  A
business becomes healthy only if it has a number of financing options available to
capitalize on the assets which are a foundation of every business. Companies
need money for a lot of reasons like buying new capital, funds the existing capital,
expand the business, etc. Hence, companies borrow money to facilitate the
efficacious running of their business which cannot be solely run on profit generated.

Meaning of Borrowing

Borrowing can be defined as a means through which Companies arrange financial
funds through external sources like bank loans, shareholders, public investment,
etc.

Power of Board to Borrow Money

1. Powers of Board: The board of directors is a body of people who
supervise the management of affairs in a company and represent the
shareholders of the company. The board of directors has been disposed
of powers by the Act to exercise power to borrow money on behalf of
the company. The same has to be done. They also have the power to
issue debentures, securities in respect of loans. But when dealing with
banks like RBI, SBI or any other established bank, the arrangement of
loans is done based on overdraft or cash credit.

2. Restrictions on Power: The board of directors under Section 180
have some restrictions where they have to pass a special resolution to
borrow money. The money to be borrowed should be more than the
paid-up share capital and free reserves apart from temporary loans
obtained by the company’s bankers. The board is prohibited from
borrowing money in terms of temporary loans and for more than six
months which include short-term, cash credit arrangements, the
discounting of bills.
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3. Special Resolution: The special resolution has to be passed by all
board members in General Meeting. The amount to be borrowed is
specified on the resolution which has to be duly approved by all people
in or required people in the company.

4. Limits on Borrowing: There is a limit on borrowings of the company
which has to be complied with unless the lender proves that it was in
good faith and without knowledge that the limit imposed in Section 180.

Ultra Vires or Unauthorized Borrowings

There is a limit that has been set under which companies can borrow money in the
Act. If the companies go beyond and exceed the limit to borrow money specified
by the articles of the Act, it is ultra vires borrowings. It is generally unauthorized
borrowing as it is beyond the authority of the directors. The relationship of a
debtor and creditor is not created in an ultra-vires borrowing.

The concept of ultra vires originated in the famous case of Ashbury Railway
Carriage and Iron Co. Ltd. v. Riche where it was decided that the contract
between company and Richie was null and void as it was ultra vires. The borrowings
are generally inoperative.

It is essential to protect the interest of shareholders and creditors. In one of
the cases, it was held by the Bombay High Court held, “A shareholder can maintain
an action against the directors to compel them to restore to the company the funds
of the company that have by them been employed in transactions that they have no
authority to enter into, without making the company a party to the suit”.

In the case of ultra vires or unauthorized borrowings, the company will be
liable to repay, it is shown that the money had gone into the company’s pocket.
The same was laid down in Krishan Kumar & Others v. State Bank of India.

Consequences of Ultra Vires Borrowings

If the borrowings are ultra vires, there are some consequences for the same which
company has to tolerate:

1. Injunction: The lender has been given authority under law to restrain
the company for using the money lent. The members can restrain it from
doing so by getting an injunction from the court.

2. Subrogation: It refers to a situation when one individual or group is
substituted in respect of a debt or loan which also led to the transfer of
duties. The lender is entitled to treat his loan as intra-vires to the extent
to which the money was so applied. He can sue the company by virtue
of the principle of subrogation.

3. Liability of Directors: As the Board of directors has been entitled to
issue borrowings and they have to responsibly use their authority, it will
attract personal liability for the directors.
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Types of Borrowings

1. Long-term Borrowings: Liabilities that represent money borrowed
from banks or other lenders to fund the on-going operations of a business
and that will not come due within one year.
Long term borrowings or debt are those which are borrowed for more
than one year and generally extend up to 5 years.

2. Short-term Borrowings: These reflect the total carrying amount as of
the balance sheet date of debt having initial terms less than one year or
the normal operating cycle, if longer. These borrowings have to be paid
off within a year. It is a temporary support for business and meeting the
working capital needs is the main purpose.

3. Medium-term Borrowings:The borrowings are undertaken between
short-term borrowings and long-term borrowings which is up to 2-5
years.

4. Secured Borrowings: These are the borrowings against collateral which
is security.

5. Unsecured Borrowings: Under this, the debt consists of financial
obligation. There is no collateral issued against the unsecured borrowings.

6. Private Borrowings: The company takes a loan from banks and other
private institutions.

7. Public Borrowings: It consists of all institutions which are for public
exchange.

3.10 MORTGAGES AND CHARGES

When a customer secures an advance on the security of specific immovable
property, the charge created thereon is called a mortgage. Section 58 of the Transfer
of Property Act, 1882, defines a mortgage as, The transfer of an interest in a
specific immovable property for the purpose of securing the payment of money
advanced or to be advanced by way of loan, on existing or future debt, or the
performance of an engagement which may give rise to pecuniary liability. The
instrument through which it is affected is called a mortgage deed, the customer
(transferor) is called the mortgagor and the bank (transferee) is called the
mortgagee. The payment so secured which includes both the principal money and
the interest thereon is called the mortgage money.

1. Simple Mortgage: In case of simple mortgage, the mortgagor does
not give possession of property, but binds himself personally to pay the
mortgage money. He agrees expressly or impliedly that in case he fails
to make the payment according to the contract, then the mortgagee
shall have right to cause the mortgage property to be sold and proceeds
of sale to be applied, as far as may be necessary, in payment of the
mortgage money. The mortgagee himself cannot sell the property, but
has to seek intervention of the court.
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2. Mortgage by Conditional Sale: Under this form of mortgage, the
mortgager ostensibly (on the face of it) sells the mortgaged property
with any one of the following conditions:
(a) On default of payment of mortgage money, the sale shall become

absolute.
(b) On payment being made on a certain date, the sale shall become

void.
(c) When the payment is made, the buyer shall transfer the property to

the seller.
3. Usufructuary Mortgage: Unlike the simple mortgage which is non-

possessory, in case of usufructuary mortgage, the mortgagor delivers
possession of the mortgaged property. The mortgagee is also entitled to
receive rents and profits accruing from the property and appropriate the
same in lieu of interest or in payment of mortgaged money or both.
When the debt is so discharged or repaid, the mortgagor is entitled to
recover possession of his property. There is no personal liability on the
mortgagor.

4. English Mortgage: In case of English mortgage, there is transfer of
ownership on the condition that the mortgagee will re-transfer the same
on the payment of mortgage money. Further, the mortgagor personally
undertakes to repay the mortgaged money. In case of default, the
mortgagee has the right to sell the property without seeking permission
of the court in the special circumstances mentioned in section 69 of the
Transfer of Property Act.

5. Mortgage by Deposit of Title Deeds (Equitable Mortgage): This
mortgage is affected by deposits of title deeds of the property by the
debtor in favor of the creditor to create a security thereon. This type of
mortgage is called equitable mortgage in English law. In India, it is restricted
to the cities of Delhi, Mumbai, Kolkata and Chennai or any other town
which the concerned state government may notify in the official gazette
in this behalf. No registration is necessary and delivery can be either
actual or constructive. There is personal liability of the mortgagor to
pay, and the mortgagee can sell the property with the sanction of the
court if the mortgaged money is not repaid.

6. Anomalous Mortgage: A mortgage which is not simple mortgage,
mortgage by conditional sale, usufructuary mortgage, English mortgage
and mortgage by deposit of title deeds (equitable mortgage) is called an
anomalous mortgage. If the terms of the mortgage do not strictly adhere
to any of the above five types, e.g., in case of simple mortgage if the
mortgagee is allowed to use the mortgage property, then it will not be
called simple or usufructuary but an anomalous mortgage. Under ,the
rights and liabilities of the parties are determined by the terms agreed
upon in the mortgage deed, and in the absence of such a deed by the
local usage.
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Check Your Progress

4. Explain features of Debentures.
5. Discuss various types of Debenture.
6. Explain about borrowing powers.

3.11 ANSWERS TO ‘CHECK YOUR PROGRESS’

1. Discuss in brief about features of shares.
The main features of shares are as follows:

(i) Limited liability for shareholders: For each individual
shareholder, the maximum value at risk is the total value of their
investment in the shares of the company.

(ii) Loss absorption for other (debt) investors and other creditors:
It is important to understand that shares come last in the ranking of
a company’s capital structure and shareholders only hold a residual
claim.

(iii) Uncertain returns: While many companies pay out dividends to
shareholders, there is no obligation on companies to do so. Indeed,
there is no guarantee of returns in any form to shareholders.

2. Explain about various types of shares.
(i) Preference Shares: Preference share is a stock with dividends

that are paid to shareholders before common stock dividends are
paid out. In the event of a company bankruptcy, preferred stock
shareholders have a right to be paid company assets first. Preference
shares typically pay a fixed dividend, whereas common stocks do
not..And unlike common shareholders, preference share
shareholders usually do not have voting rights.

(ii) Equity Shares: Equity snares are those, which are not preference
shares. In other words, these are shares, which do not enjoy any
preferential right either in respect of payment of dividend or in respect
of the repayment of capital at the time of the winding up of the
company. These shares are knows as equity shares, as they are the
‘ownership shares’ conferring the ownership of the company on the
holders of these shares, i.e., the holders of these shares are the real
owners of the company.

3. Discuss about Transfer and Transmission of Shares.
Transfer of Shares: Transfer of shares will be affected only if a proper
instrument of transfer, in Form SH-4, as given in sub-rule 1 of Rule 11 of
Companies (Share Capital and Debenture) Rules 2014 duly stamped, dated,
and is executed by or on behalf of the transferor and the transferee and
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specifies all the details like name, address, occupation if any of the transferee.
It has to be delivered to the company by either parties within 60 days from
the date of execution along with a certificate of securities or letter of allotment
of securities as available.
If the transferor makes an application for the transfer of partly paid shares,
then the company gives notice of the application Form SH-5 as given in
sub-rule 3 of Rule 11 of Companies (Share Capital and Debentures) Rules
2014, to the transferee and the transferee must give no objection to the
transfer within 2 weeks from the receipt of the notice.
Transmission of Shares: It will be affected when the application of
transmission of shares along with relevant documents is valid. Execution of
transfer deed is not required.

4. Explain features of Debentures.
Following are the features of debentures:

(i) Debenture holders of the company are the creditors of the company
and not the owners of the company.

(ii) Capital raised by way of debentures is required to be repaid during
the life time of the company at the time stipulated by the company.

(iii) Debentures are generally secured.
(iv) Return paid by the company is in the form of interest which is

predetermined.
(v) Debentures are very risky from company’s point of view for raising

long-term funds.
(vi) Risk on the part of debenture holders is very less.

5. Discuss various types of Debentures.
(i) Non-convertible Debentures (NCD): These instruments retain

the debt character and cannot be converted in to equity shares.
(ii) Partly Convertible Debentures (PCD): A part of these instruments

are converted into Equity shares in the future at notice of the issuer.
The issuer decides the ratio for conversion. This is normally decided
at the time of subscription.

(iii) Fully Convertible Debentures (FCD): These are fully convertible
into Equity shares at the issuer’s notice. The ratio of conversion is
decided by the issuer. Upon conversion, the investors enjoy the same
status as ordinary shareholders of the company.

(iv) Optionally Convertible Debentures (OCD): The investor has
the option to either convert these debentures into shares at price
decided by the issuer/agreed upon at the time of issue.

On basis of security, debentures are classified into the following ways:
(iv) Secured Debentures: These instruments are secured by a charge

on the fixed assets of the issuer company. So, if the issuer fails on
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payment of the principal or interest amount, his assets can be sold
to repay the liability to the investors.

6. Explain about borrowing powers.
Borrowing can be defined as a means through which companies arrange
financial funds through external sources like bank loans, shareholders, public
investment, etc.
Borrowing power of a company under the Companies Act is a restricted
and guided power. On the one hand, the Act acknowledges the need of
companies to receive money as borrowings for trading purposes from time
to time.
Every business requires a lot of financial amounts to operate effectively.  A
business becomes healthy only if it has a number of financing options available
to capitalize on the assets which are a foundation of every business.
Companies need money for a lot of reasons like buying new capital, funds
the existing capital, expand the business, etc. Hence, companies borrow
money to facilitate the efficacious running of their business which cannot be
solely run on profit generated.

3.12 SUMMARY

A share is the interest of a shareholder in the company, measured by a sum
of money for the purpose of liability in the first place and of interest in the
second, but also consisting of other rights given by the articles. Share. This
is a unit of ownership that represents an equal proportion of a company’s
capital. It entitles its holder (the shareholder) to an equal claim on the
company’s profits and an equal obligation for the company’s debts and
losses.
Capital includes the money, property and other valuables which collectively
represent the wealth of an individual or business. Classical economics regards
capital as a factor of production, distinguishing between financial capital
and physical capital. Financial capital is accumulated or inherited wealth
held in the form of assets, such as stocks and shares, property and bank
deposits, while physical capital is wealth in the form of physical assets such
as machinery and plant. The term is also used to describe investment in a
company as either share capital or debt called loan capital.
Fixed capital is durable, examples being factories, offices, plant and
machinery. Circulating capital is capital that is used up quickly, such as raw
materials, components and stocks of finished goods waiting for sale. Private
capital is usually owned by individuals and private business organizations.
Social capital is usually owned by the state and is the infrastructure of the
economy, such as roads, bridges, schools and hospitals. Human capital is
what enables people to earn a living and may be enhanced by better
education, training and health care. Investment is the process of adding to
the capital stock of a nation or business.
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The cost of capital is a term used in the field of financial investment to refer
to the cost of a company’s funds (both debt and equity), or from an investor’s
point of view “the shareholder’s required return on a portfolio of all the
company’s existing securities”. It is used to evaluate new projects of a
company as it is the minimum return that investors expect for providing
capital to the company, thus setting a benchmark that a new project has to
meet.
Debt is money borrowed, that must be repaid at a set time period and
generates income for the lender over that time period. Lending sources
include not only banks, but also leasing companies, factoring companies
and even individuals.
Equity capital is money given for a share of ownership of the company.
Equity can be provided by individual investors, sometimes known as
“angels”, venture capital companies, joint venture partners and the sweat
equity and capital contribution of the founders of the company. Equity
providers are more interested in the growth potential of the company. Their
objective is to invest an amount now and reap the rewards of a 5 to 1 or
even 10 to 1, payoff in three to five years. In other words, ̀  100,000 now
will be worth ̀  10,00,000 in three years if invested in the right company.
Share capital denotes the amount of capital raised by the issue of shares, by
a company. It is collected through the issue of shares and remains with the
company till its liquidation.
Share capital is owned capital of the company, since it is the money of the
shareholder and the shareholder are the owners of the company. The total
share capital is divided into small parts and each part is called a share.
Preference share is a stock with dividends that are paid to shareholders
before common stock dividends are paid out. In the event of a company
bankruptcy, preferred stock shareholders have a right to be paid company
assets first. Preference shares typically pay a fixed dividend, whereas common
stocks do not. And unlike common shareholders, preference share
shareholders usually do not have voting rights.
Equity share refers to the stock or capital stock of a business entity which
represents the original capital paid into or invested in the business by its
founders. It serves as a security for the creditors of a business since it cannot
be withdrawn to the detriment of the creditors.
Debenture refers to a certificate of agreement of loans which is given under
the company’s stamp and carries an undertaking that the debenture holder
will get a fixed return (fixed on the basis of interest rates) and the principal
amount whenever the debenture matures.
Bond is an instrument of indebtedness of the bond issuer to the holders.
The most common types of bonds include municipal bonds and corporate
bonds. Bonds can be in mutual funds or can be in private investing where a
person would give a loan to a company or the government.
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The bond is a debt security, under which the issuer owes the holders a debt
and (depending on the terms of the bond) is obliged to pay them interest
(the coupon) or to repay the principal at a later date, termed the maturity
date.
Demat Account is an account offered by a bank in its capacity as a depository
participant. It is a safe and convenient means of holding securities just like a
bank account for funds. The demat account reduces brokerage charges,
makes pledging/hypothecation of shares easier, enables quick ownership
of securities on settlement resulting in increased liquidity, avoids confusion
in the ownership title of securities and provides easy receipt of public issue
allotments.

3.13 KEY TERMS

Share: Share is the interest of a shareholder in the company, measured by
a sum of money for the purpose of liability in the first place and of interest in
the second, but also consisting of other rights given by the articles.
Capital: Capital includes the money, property and other valuables which
collectively represent the wealth of an individual or business. Classical
economics regards capital as a factor of production, distinguishing between
financial capital and physical capital.
Fixed Capital: Fixed capital is durable, examples being factories, offices,
plant and machinery. Circulating capital is capital that is used up quickly,
such as raw materials, components and stocks of finished goods waiting for
sale. Private capital is usually owned by individuals and private business
organizations. Social capital is usually owned by the state and is the
infrastructure of the economy, such as roads, bridges, schools and hospitals.
Cost of Capital: The cost of capital is a term used in the field of financial
investment to refer to the cost of a company’s funds (both debt and equity)
or, from an investor’s point of view “the shareholder’s required return on a
portfolio of all the company’s existing securities”.
Debt: Debt is money borrowed, that must be repaid at a set time period
and generates income for the lender over that time period. Lending sources
include not only banks, but also leasing companies, factoring companies
and even individuals.
Equity Capital: Equity capital is money given for a share of ownership of
the company. Equity can be provided by individual investors, sometimes
known as “angels”, venture capital companies, joint venture partners and
the sweat equity and capital contribution of the founders of the company.
Share Capital: Share capital denotes the amount of capital raised by the
issue of shares, by a company. It is collected through the issue of shares
and remains with the company till its liquidation.
Preference Share: Preference share is a stock with dividends that are
paid to shareholders before common stock dividends are paid out. In the
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event of a company bankruptcy, preferred stock shareholders have a right
to be paid company assets first.
Equity Share: Equity share refers to the stock or capital stock of a business
entity which represents the original capital paid into or invested in the business
by its founders. It serves as a security for the creditors of a business since it
cannot be withdrawn to the detriment of the creditors.
Debenture: Debenture refers to a certificate of agreement of loans which
is given under the company’s stamp and carries an undertaking that the
debenture holder will get a fixed return and the principal amount whenever
the debenture matures.
Bond: Bond is an instrument of indebtedness of the bond issuer to the
holders. The most common types of bonds include municipal bonds and
corporate bonds. Bonds can be in mutual funds or can be in private investing
where a person would give a loan to a company or the government.

3.14 SELF-ASSESSMENT QUESTIONS AND
EXERCISES

Short Answer Questions
1. Define the term capital.
2. What do you mean by share capital?
3. What do you mean by subscribed capital?
4. Give the meaning of shares.
5. What is equity share?
6. Give the meaning of non-cumulative preference share?
7. What is participating preference share?
8. What is redeemable preference share?
9. What is debenture?

10. What is secured debenture?
11. What do you mean by bond?
12. What is Demat Account?
13. What do you mean by listing of shares?

Long Answer Questions

1. Explain various types of capital.
2. State the features of shares.
3. Discuss the kinds of shares.
4. State the merits and demerits of preference shares.
5. State the merits and demerits of equity shares.
6. State the features of debentures.
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7. Distinction between share and debenture.
8. State the merits and demerits of debentures.
9. Explain different types of bond.

10. Explain various types of share capital.
11. Discuss various types of preference shares.
12. Why preference share is called a hybrid security? Explain.
13. Explain the terms of issue of share.
14. Discuss various types of debentures.
15. State the merits and demerits of debenture.
16. Discuss SEBI guidelines for issue of shares.
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4.0 INTRODUCTION

Company administration is a collection of resources including company filing,
company records, company meetings and the responsibilities of company
secretaries. The duty of an administrator depends on the company that the
administrator works for. However, general skills exist that apply to most
administrators across varied organizations. One of the primary duties of an
administrator is to ensure that the organization operates with efficiency. This requires
a set of skills that can handle the many different people and situations within the
organization. Specific skills essential to an effective administrator include good
communication and being organized.

The owners or the shareholders of the company elect from amongst
themselves some persons good in management as their representatives to manage
to day-to-day affairs of the company. The persons or representatives elected by
the shareholders to manage or direct the day-to-day affairs of the company are
individually known as “directors”, and are collectively called the “Board of
Directors” or the “Board”.

The Board of Directors entrust the day-to-day management of the company
to a chief executive, who may be a managing director or manager, and delegate to
him the necessary powers. The managing director or manager is the chief executive
of the company. He exercises the powers given to him under the articles and
carries out the duties entrusted to him by the Board of Directors.
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It is true that the managing director or manager looks after the day-to-day
management of the company. But he cannot attend to the work of management
single handed. So, he takes the assistance of several executives or professional
managers. He has a secretary to help him in the day-to-day management of the
company. He has several department heads, such as Production Manager, Purchase
Manager, Sales Manager, Financial Manager, Personnel Manager, etc. to look
after the affairs of their respective departments. He uses the services of an auditor
to report on the financial affairs of the company. He may also use the services of
solicitors on legal matters. Thus, the agencies which control and manage the affairs
of the company are: (1) The Board of Directors, (2) Managing Director,
(3) Secretary, (4) Auditor and (5) Legal Advisor.

4.1 OBJECTIVES

After going through this unit, you will be able to:
Explain the concept of directors and managing directors.
Describe qualifications of whole-time director.
Discuss the appointment, powers, duties and liabilities of directors.
Examine the types of quorum, voting, resolution and minutes.

4.2 QUALIFICATIONS AND APPOINTMENT OF
DIRECTORS

Managing Director

A managing director or MD is a director of a company given special powers by its
articles of association. MD is the person at the head of the executive structure of
an undertaking by virtue of his membership of the Board of Directors, or by virtue
of powers delegated to him by that body.

Whole-time Directors

A Whole-time Director is a director who is in the whole-time employment of the
company, devotes his whole-time of working hours to the company in question
and has a significant personal interest in the company as his source of income.

The Companies Secretary

Company secretary is a person who is a member of the Institute of the Company
Secretaries of India or any other individual possessing the prescribed qualifications,
appointed to perform the duties imposed on him by the Companies Act, the
ministerial or administrative duties and managerial functions that are delegated to
him by the Board.

Chief Financial Officer
The chief financial officer (CFO) or chief financial and operating officer (CFOO)
is a corporate officer primarily responsible for managing the financial risks of the
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corporation. This officer is also responsible for financial planning and record-
keeping, as well as financial reporting to higher management.

Resident Director

A Residence Director is a specially trained full-time employee generally responsible
for the management and daily operations of the organization.

Independent Director
An Independent Director is a director of a board of directors who does not have
a material or pecuniary relationship with company or related persons, except sitting
fees. Independent Directors do not own shares in the company.

Who is a Director?

Director is a person who is in charge of an activity, department, or organization.
He/she is a member of the board of people that manages or oversees the affairs of
a business. In other words, Director is a person who leads, manages or supervises
an organization, program or project.

Definition of Directors

Section 2(13) of the Companies Act defines a director as, “any person occupying
the position of director, by whatever name called”.

If one performs the functions of a director, he would be considered as a
director from the point of law. It is immaterial by what name his is called. Thus, a
director may be defined as a person having control over the direction, conduct,
management and superintendence of the affairs of the company. The directors of a
company who are collectively known as the board of directors or simply a board,
frame the general policy of the company, direct its affairs, appoint the officers of
the company and ensure that they carry out their duties properly. As per Section
253 of the Act, a director of a company can only be a person and not an association
or body corporate.

Roles of a Director

(i) Governing the organization by establishing broad policies and objectives;
(ii) Selecting, appointing, supporting and reviewing the performance of the

chief executive;
(iii) Ensuring the availability of adequate financial resources;
(iv) Approving annual budgets;
(v) Accounting to the stakeholders for the organization’s performance;
(vi) Setting the salaries and compensation of company management.

Qualification of a Director

The qualification requirements can be listed as below:
(i) The person must have completed the age of eighteen or above.
(ii) Nationality can be that of Indian or otherwise.
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(iii) The person should have his own Digital Signature Certificate (DSC)
through which Director’s Identification Number (DIN) shall be obtained.

(iv) The person has to furnish a written declaration expressing his consent to
act in the position of Director and he is not a person who falls under the
category of disqualified members.

(v) There is no academic qualification that needs to be held by the person
who is desirous of obtaining the directorship of a company.

Disqualification of a Director

As per Section 274 of the Act, the following persons are not eligible for being
appointed as directors of any company:

(i) A person found by the court to be of unsound mind.

(ii) An undercharged insolvent.

(iii) A person who has applied to be adjudged an insolvent.

(iv) A person who has been convicted of an offence involving moral turpitude
an sentenced to imprisonment for not less than six months and a period
of five years has not elapsed from the date of expiry of the sentence.

(v) A person who has failed to pay calls for six months from the date when
the calls fell due.

(vi) A person who has been disqualified by an order of the court to act as
director of a company on the ground of fraud or misfeasance in connection
with another company.

Appointment of Director

The directors of the company may be appointed in the following ways:

1. By the Promoters of the Company

At the time of company formation, the promoters generally name the first directors
of company. The promoters select prominent persons to act as the first directors,
and mention their names in the articles of the company.

2. By the Subscribers to the Memorandum

Sometimes, the articles of the company confer a right on the subscribers to the
memorandum, to appoint the directors of the company. The subscribers to the
memorandum shall be deemed to be the first directors of the company until the
directors are appointed at the next general meeting.

3. By the Shareholder in a General Meeting

The first directors are appointed by the promoters or by the subscribers to the
memorandum. The subsequent directors are elected by the shareholders at the
general meeting.
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4. By the Board of Directors

The board of directors may appoint directors in the following ways:
(i) As Additional Directors (Sec. 260): The board of directors may

appoint additional directors within the maximum strength fixed for the
board by the articles. The board can make such an appointment only if
the articles provide for that. The additional directors will hold office till
the holding of the next annual general meeting of the company.

(ii) In a Casual Vacancy (Sec. 262): In case, the office of the director
appointed by the shareholders has fallen vacant before his term of office
expires, the vacancy may be filled up by the board of directors, provided
the articles of the company permit such a procedure. A casual vacancy
may arise due to reasons such as death, resignation, disqualification or
failure of an elected director to accept the office or due to any other
reason.

(iii) As Alternate Directors (Sec. 313): The board of directors can appoint
the alternative director. This alternative director has to act for the original
director during his absence for a period of more than three months. The
alternate director can continue as director only for the period for which
the original was eligible. Further, on the return of the original director,
the alternate director must vacate the office of directorship.

5. By the Central Government (Sec. 408)

The Central Government may appoint the Board of directors when the Company
Law Board decides that it is necessary to safeguard the interests of the company
or the public if:

(i) Not less than 100 members of the company apply to the Company Law
Board to make such an appointment; or

(ii) Members holding not less than one-tenth of the total voting power make
an application to the Company Law Board for making such an
appointment; or

(iii) On its own initiative, they are appointed for a maximum period of three
years. They are not required to hold qualification shares and are not
liable to retire by rotation, but they may be removed by the Central
Government at any time and other persons may be appointed by it in
their place.

6. By Proportional Representation
Normally, directors are appointed on the basis of election in the Annual general
meeting. But section 265 of the Act allows a public company or a private company
which is the subsidiary of a public company to provide in its articles for the
appointment of not less than two-thirds of the total number of directors by the
principle of proportional representation. If the company decides to appoint directors
under this method, the directors must be appointed for a period of three years at
a time.
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7. By Third Parties

Sometimes, the articles give a right to financial corporations, debenture holders
and banking companies which have lent money to the company to nominate
directors on the board of the company with a view to ensuring that the funds
advanced by them are used by the company for the purpose for which they were
borrowed. The number of directors so nominated should not exceed one-third of
the total strength of the board and they are not to retire by rotation.

4.3 POWERS, DUTIES AND LIABILITIES OF
DIRECTORS

Powers of Director

The powers of director are as follows:
1. Power to make calls in respect of money unpaid on shares.
2. Call meetings on suo moto basis.
3. Issue shares, debentures, or any other instruments in respect of the

Company.
4. Borrow and invest funds for the company.
5. Approve Financial Statements and Board Report.
6. Approve bonus to employees.
According to Section 179, CA 2013, the powers of the board of directors

are as follows:
1. Board of Directors can exercise all such powers for which the company

is authorized.
2. Board of Directors can take all actions on matters in which the company

has authority.

Duties of Directors

Fig. 4.1: Duties of Directors

The duties of director may be classified in to two broad categories. They are as
follows:

1. Statutory Duties

Statutory duties of directors refer to all those duties which the directors are required
to perform under the Companies Act. Some of the statutory duties of the directors
of a company are as follows:

       Duties of Directors

1. Statutory Duties 2. General Duties
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(a) To determine the amount of minimum subscription.

(b) To see that all money received from applications for shares is deposited
in a scheduled bank until it is returned to the applicants under Section
69 or until the Certificate to commence business is obtained.

(c) To prepare a statutory report and file a copy of it with the register.

(d) To forward a copy of the statutory report to every member of the
company at least 21 days before the date on which the statutory meeting
is held.

(e) To call an extraordinary general meeting of the company on the requisition
of the specified number of members.

(f) To approve the balance sheet and profit and loss account before they
are submitted to the auditors for their report.

(g) To prepare and place at the annual general meeting an annual report of
the company along with the balance sheet and profit and loss account.

(h) To pay dividends only out of divisible profit of the company.

(i) To exercise only such powers for which they are empowered by the
company, by the memorandum and articles of association.

(j) To manage the affairs of the company efficiently.

(k) To purchase and pay for qualification shares within the specified time.

(l) To see that the board meetings are held at least once in every three
months and four times in a calendar year.

(m) To disclose to the company their interest, if any, in any contract entered
into by the company.

2. General Duties

The general duties of the directors refer to their duties under the general law. The
general duties of the director of a company are:

(a) They must manage the affairs of the company efficiently.

(b) They must act in good faith and in the interest of the company.

(c) They must discharge their duties with reasonable care, skill and diligence.

(d) They must use the company’s property for the benefit of the company
and not for their personal benefit.

(e) They must not be negligent in the discharge of their duties.

(f) They must attend all board meetings.
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Liabilities of Directors

The liabilities of the directors of a company may be considered under the followings
heads:

Fig. 4.2: Liabilities of Directors

1. Liability to Outsiders
The directors may incur personal liability to third parties in consequence of contracts
made on company’s behalf:

(a) If they enter into a contract which is ultra vires the company.
(b) If they enter into a contract which is although within the powers of the

company, is outside the scope of their own authority as defined in the
articles.

(c) If they fail to sign a negotiable instrument without mentioning the
company’s name.

(d) If they act in their own name.
(e) If they have issued a prospectus which does not contain the particulars

required by the Act.
(f) If they have made any mis-statement the prospectus.
(g) If they are guilty of committing a fraud.
(h) If they have made irregular allotment in contravention of the provision of

the Act.
(i) If their ability has been made unlimited in pursuance of Section 322 and

323.
(j) If the court orders that the directors are personally liable for all the or

any of the debts or liabilities of the company for fraudulent trading on
the part of the company.
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3. Liability to the Shareholders

4. Criminal Liability

1. Liability to Outsiders

2. Liability to the Company



Directors

NOTES

Self-Instructional
             Material   143

2. Liability to Company

The directors are liable to the company in the following circumstances:
(a) If they are negligent in the performance of their duties.
(b) If they commit an act which is ultra vires their powers or why they pay

dividend out of the capital
(c) If they commit any illegal act.
(d) If they commit any breach of trust or misfeasance.

3. Liability to Shareholders
The position of directors in respect of the property of the company is that of a
trustee. If they commit any breach of trust and if as result of that, the company
suffers loss, they have to make good that loss. Further, if the directors are negligent
and fail to use reasonable care and skill and because of this, the shareholders
suffer a loss, they have a right to claim damages from the directors.

4. Criminal Liability

Directors may also incur criminal liability under the Companies Act. For example,
directors may be awarded two years imprisonment and a fine of ̀  5,000 for the
filing of prospectus containing, false statement. Similarly, criminal proceeding against
directors may be instituted for fraudulently obtaining credit for the company, for
acting as a director after removal by court, for failure to supply information to
auditor of the company, for improper issue of shares, for failure to lay the balance
sheet before: the annual general meeting, for concealing the name of creditors and
so on.

Position of Director

It is very difficult to define exactly the legal position of the directors of a company.
The directors have at various times been described as agent trustees or managing
partners. Let us discuss their position in detail in each case.

Directors as Agents

As a company is an artificial person, it enters into contract with third parties through
its agents, viz., the directors of the company. Therefore, the relationship between
the company and the directors is that of principal and the agent. The directors, as
agents of the company have certain powers and duties to carry on the business of
the company subject to restrictions imposed by the articles and the Companies
Act. They can make contracts on behalf of the company and are not personally
liable, provided they do not exceed the powers conferred on them. As agents,
they must act in the interest of the company ad must not abuse their position. The
directors, as agents, are also liable to be indemnified for negligent actions falling
within the scope of their authority.

Directors as Trustees

Directors have been described as trustees of their company. As trustees of the
company, the directors must take reasonable care to protect the assets of the
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company. They must act in good faith and cannot make any secret profit for
themselves out of the transactions of the company: The directors should never
misapply the funds of the company and commit and breach of its bye-laws. For
any breach of bye-laws, the directors, are liable for breach of trust. For example,
if the directors misapply the funds of the company, in paying dividends out of the
capital, they are required to refund the amount to the company along with interest.
The directors must act with the utmost good faith in matters such as allotment of
shares and debentures, transfer and transmission of shares and debentures, calls
and forfeiture of shares, and employing funds of the company.

Directors as Managing Partners

As the directors are entrusted with the management of the affairs of the company
by the shareholders, they are described as the managing partners of the company.
They frame the general policy of the company and also direct and manage its
affairs. They also authorized to appoint the company’s officers and advise the
shareholders regarding the distribution of profits.

4.4 QUALIFICATIONS AND APPOINTMENT OF
MANAGING DIRECTORS

Resident Director
Resident Director is defined as one who has stayed in India for at least 182 days
in the previous calendar year. As per provision of Section 149, this need to be
complied with immediately and there is no transition timeline in this. This provision
applies to all companies including private companies.

Section 149(3) of the Companies Act, 2013 (Act) requires every company
to have at least one director who has stayed in India for a total period of not less
than 182 days in the previous calendar year. Government has received requests
from stakeholders for clarification with regard to applicability of these provisions
in the current calendar/financial year.

The matter has been examined. It is clarified that the ‘residency requirement’
would be reckoned from the date of commencement of section 149 of the Act,
i.e., 1st April, 2014 The first ‘previous calendar year’ for compliance with these
provisions would, therefore, be Calendar year 2014. The period to be taken into
account for compliance with these provisions will be the remaining period of
calendar year 2014 (i.e., 1st April to 31st December). Therefore, on a proportionate
basis, the number of days for which the director(s) would need to be resident in
India during calendar year.2014, shall exceed 136 days.

Regarding newly incorporated companies, it is clarified that companies
incorporated between 1st April, 2014 to 30th September, 2014 should have a
resident director either at the incorporation stage itself or within six months of their
incorporation. Companies incorporated after 30th September, 2014 needs to have
the resident director from the date of incorporation itself.
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Independent Director

According to sub-section (6) of Section 149 of the Companies Act, 2013 an
independent director in relation to a company, means a director other than a
managing director or a whole-time director or a nominee director:

(a) who, in the opinion of the Board, is a person of integrity and possesses
relevant expertise and experience;

(b) (i) who is or was not a promoter of the company or its holding,
subsidiary or associate company;

(ii) who is not related to promoters or directors in the company, its
holding, subsidiary or associate company;

(c) who has or had no pecuniary relationship with the company, its holding,
subsidiary or associate company, or their promoters, or directors, during
the two immediately preceding financial years or during the current
financial year;

(d) none of whose relatives has or had pecuniary relationship or transaction
with the company, its holding, subsidiary or associate company, or their
promoters, or directors, amounting to two per cent, or more of its gross
turnover or total income or fifty lakh rupees or such higher amount as
may be prescribed, whichever is lower, during the two immediately
preceding financial years or during the current financial year;

(e) who, neither himself nor any of his relatives:
(i) holds or has held the position of a key managerial personnel or is or

has been employee of the company or its holding, subsidiary or
associate company in any of the three financial years immediately
preceding the financial year in which he is proposed to be appointed;

(ii) is or has been an employee or proprietor or a partner, in any of the
three financial years immediately preceding the financial year in which
he is proposed to be appointed, of:
(A) a firm of auditors or company secretaries in practice or cost

auditors of the company or its holding, subsidiary or associate
company; or

(B) any legal or a consulting firm that has or had any transaction
with the company, its holding, subsidiary or associate company
amounting to ten per cent or more of the gross turnover of such
firm;

(iiii) holds together with his relatives two per cent or more of the total
voting power of the company; or

(iv) is a Chief Executive or director, by whatever name called, of any
non-profit organisation that receives twenty-five per cent or more
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of its receipts from the company, any of its promoters, directors or
its holding, subsidiary or associate company or that holds two per
cent or more of the total voting power of the company; or

(f) who possesses such other qualifications as may be prescribed.
The definition of Independent Director as per Companies Act, 2013 provides

quantitative threshold for evaluation of significance of the relationship and considers
all pecuniary relationship (both material and immaterial).

Position of “Independent Director” in Board Composition

As per sub-section 4 of Section 149 of the Companies Act 2013, every listed
public company is mandatorily required to have at least one-third of the total
number of directors as independent directors.

Unlisted public companies must appoint at least two independent directors
in the following circumstances:

(i) if the paid-up share capital exceeds ̀  10 crores;
(ii) if the turnover exceeds ̀  100 crores;
(iii) if the aggregate of all the outstanding loans, debentures and deposits

exceeds ̀  50 crores.

Qualities of Independent Director

An independent director shall possess appropriate skills, experience and
knowledge in one or more fields of finance, law, management, sales, marketing,
administration, research, corporate governance, technical operations or other
disciplines related to the company’s business.

Broadly, one who wishes to qualify as an Independent Director has to
possess the following unwritten qualities:

1. Impartiality
2. Loyalty
3. Decision- making (judgment)
4. Professional repute
Manner of selection and other procedural requirement has been provided

under Section 150 of Companies (Appointment and Qualification of Directors)
Rules, 2014 which is to be read along with Companies (Appointment and
Qualification of Directors) Amendment Rules, 2015.

Role and Functions of Independent Directors

The role of independent directors is considered to be of a great significance. The
guidelines, role, functions and duties are broadly set out under Code of Conduct
under Schedule IV of the Companies Act, 2013. The code of conduct lays down
the guidelines of professional conduct as well as role, functions and duties of
independent director.
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Role and functions listed under Schedule IV of the Companies Act, 2013
are as under:

The independent directors shall:
1. help in bringing an independent judgment to bear on the Board’s

deliberations especially on issues of strategy, performance, risk
management, resources, key appointments and standards of conduct;

2. bring an objective view in the evaluation of the performance of board
and management;

3. scrutinize the performance of management in meeting agreed goals and
objectives and monitor the reporting of performance;

4. satisfy themselves on the integrity of financial information and that financial
controls and the systems of risk management are robust and defensible;

5. safeguard the interests of all stakeholders, particularly the minority
shareholders;

6. balance the conflicting interest of the stakeholders;
7. determine appropriate levels of remuneration of executive directors, key

managerial personnel and senior management and have a prime role in
appointing and where necessary recommend removal of executive
directors, key managerial personnel and senior management;

8. moderate and arbitrate in the interest of the company as a whole, in
situations of conflict between management and shareholder’s interest.

Managing Director

The Directors of the company do not attend the office of the company every day
and hence they appoint a person amongst the directors for the purpose of carrying
out their policy decision taken at the board meeting. This person is called a managing
director or whole-time director as he is entrusted with substantial powers of
management of the company.

Meaning of Managing Director
A managing director or MD is a director of a company given special powers by its
articles of association. MD is the person at the head of the executive structure of
an undertaking by virtue of his membership of the Board of Directors, or by virtue
of powers delegated to him by that body. In most companies, the managing director
is the senior executive director, subordinate only to the chairman of the board and
he/she controls resources and expenditures.

Definition of Managing Director

The Companies Act defines a managing director Sec. 267 as “a director
who by virtue of an agreement with the company or of a resolution passed by the
company in the general meeting or by the board of directors, or by virtue of its
memorandum or articles of association, is entrusted with substantial powers of
management which would not otherwise be exercisable by him, and includes
director occupying the position of Managing Director by whatever name called”.
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Qualification of Managing Director

Section 269 of the Companies Act, 1956 provides that in the case of a public
company including a private company which is a subsidiary of the public company,
the appointment of a managing director shall not have effect unless approved by
the central government. In the case of a company formed after the commencement
of Companies Act, 1960, the first appointment of the managing director may be
made without such approval, but it will cease to have effect if the approval of the
central government is not obtained within three months of the incorporation of the
company.

The central government shall not grant its approval unless it is satisfied that:
(i) It is in the interests of the company to have a managing director.
(ii) The proposed managing director is a fit and proper person and the

appointment is not against public interest.
(iii) The terms and conditions of appointment are fair and reasonable.

The central government may, if it is of the opinion that it is in the interests of
the company, reduce the period of appointment proposed by the company.

Checklist for Appointment of Managing Director

Please ensure before submitting the application that the following information/
documents have been furnished:

(i) Proper application fee in the manner provided vide GSR No. 501(E),
dated 6-7-1999.

(ii) Copies of public notices in English and in local newspaper in local
language.

(iii) Monetary value of each of the perquisites and allowances and total
remuneration package (in the form of statement annexed) valued as per
actual cost.

(iv) Appropriate and clear resolution in support of the proposal.
(v) In case of appointment as managerial personnel in two or more

companies the manner in which compliance of section 316(2)/(4) has
been made.

(vi) Reasons for loss/inadequacy of profit, steps taken to improve the financial
performance and future projections.

(vii) Full and proper justification for proposed appointment/remuneration.
(viii) The manner in which compliance of section 269(2) of the Companies

Act was met at the time of appointment/reappointment of the managerial
person where midterm increase in remuneration is proposed.

(ix) Application for condemnation of delay under section 637B along with
justification and requisite application fee where the application was not
submitted within 90 days of the date of appointment/re-appointment.
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(x) Monetary value of total remuneration in rupees or rupees equivalent
drawn by the proposed appointee during last three years from the
applicant company or any other company.

(xi) Copy of the directors’ report and the audited accounts of the company
for each of the last five financial years of the company.

(xii) Each column of the application is filled up.
(xiii) Copies of FIPB approvals, in case of foreign collaboration/investment.
(xiv) Each page of application and documents attached is authenticated under

the seal of the applicant company.
Contravention of Section 197A makes a company liable to penalty under

section 629A and the appointment will be invalid. Appointment of managing or
whole-time director or manager of a public company without the approval of the
Central Government When we follow Schedule XIII for appointment of a person
as a managing or whole-time director or manager, there is no need to obtain the
Central Government’s approval. In case of appointment through Schedule XIII, a
return is required to be filed in e-Form 25C with ROC within 90 days of appointment.
As per explanation of Section 269, “the term appointment includes re-appointment”.

Pre-condition for Appointment under Schedule XIII

(a) The person proposed to be appointed does not suffer any disqualification
specified in sub-paragraphs (a) and (b) of Part I of Schedule XIII of the
Act and where necessary the approval of the Central Government has
been obtained.

(b) That he fulfills the requirement of age or where necessary a special
resolution will be passed by the company in general meeting as prescribed
in paragraph (c) of Part I.

(c) That the company is free from any default in repayment of any of its
debts (including public deposits), etc.

Actions to be Taken by the Company after Appointment under Schedule
XIII

(i) File within 30 days of the appointment, e-Form 23 with RoC as desired
by Section 192 in respect of appointment of Managing Director or re-
appointment or variation of the terms.
This provision is not applicable to the appointment of Whole-time
Director and Manager.

(ii) Forward abstract of the appointment and remuneration to the members
of the company within 21 days of the appointment under section 302 in
respect of Managing Director, Whole-time Director or Manager.

(iii) File e-Form 32 with RoC within 30 days of appointment.
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(iv) Where an existing director is appointed as Managing Director or
Manager e-Form32 shall be filed with RoC within 30 days of further
appointment, as there will be change in the position of the existing director.

(v) Make entries in the registers of directors, managers and secretaries.

Restrictions on Managing Director’s Appointment and Re-appointment

(i) The approval of the Central Government is required for the appointment
or re-appointment of a managing director.

(ii) The sanction of the Central Government is required for any change in
the managing director’s agreement in the provisions of the memorandum
or articles relating to his appointment or re-appointment.

(iii) A person cannot be appointed as a managing director for a term
exceeding five years at a time.

(iv) A person cannot be appointed as a managing director of more than two
public companies at a time.

(v) The rule regarding the retirement of directors by rotation is not applicable
to the managing directors. Therefore, he may be called a non-retiring
director so long as he acting as a managing director.

(vi) No person can be appointed as a managing director who is an
undischarged insolvent or who suspends or has at any time suspended
payment to his creditors, or has at any time been convicted by a court
of an offence involving moral turpitude.

(vii) The managing director works in two capacities, one as a director and
another as a manager of the company. The duties assigned to him should
be such as to involve the exercise of substantial powers of management.

(viii) The managing director enters into an agreement with the company. The
agreement provides his terms and conditions of service, powers, duties,
etc.

(ix) As a managing director is also one of the directors of the company,
other provisions of the Act relating to directors will also be applicable to
the managing director.

(x) If a company has a managing director, it cannot have a manager.
(xi) Appointment should be as per the conditions laid down in Schedule

XIII which has been introduced by the Amendment Act of 1988.
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4.5 POWERS, DUTIES AND LIABILITIES OF
MANAGING DIRECTORS

Powers of Managing Director
The powers of an MD derived from one of the source stated in the Companies
Act (CA), although the law does recognize ‘implied powers’; the principal source
of an MD’s powers is the Board of Directors (BOD). This principle carries great
weight with respect liability for defaults and contraventions of law by the company,
because the liability depends on the powers. The powers of Managing Director
are as follows:

(i) To supervise and control the work of the employees of the Federation.
(ii) To conduct, negotiate and make arrangement for the purchase and sale

of goods and their proper storage, etc. as may be entrusted to him by
the Board.

(iii) To sanction expenditure on establishment or for purchase stores subject
to the approval of the Board.

(iv) To perform such other functions that may be delegated by the Board
from time to time.

(v) To sign on behalf of the Federation and to conduct its correspondence.
(vi) To supervise and control staff of the Federation subordinate to him, and

to maintain their confidential files and impose penalties as per staff service
rules.

(vii) To arrange for sale and marketing of commodities, to and on behalf of
its members and the Federation.

(viii) To negotiate with Government and business firms and manufacturers
about the terms and conditions of the business of the Federation and to
place details for negotiations before the Executive Committee or other
sub-committees for consideration.

(ix) To purchase furniture, fixtures and equipment to the office up to a limit
of ̀  20,000 in each case subject to the budget allotment and observing
the normal formalities.

(x) To engage godowns for storage of fertilizers and other commodities at
such rents as the local circumstances demand for a period of 11 months.

(xi) To incur expenditure on books, forms and stationery subject to the budget
allotments.

(xii) To purchase and supply any commodity from any society, company or
any association and government against specific indent or order up to a
limit of ̀  50,000 for each items at a time. It shall not apply to controlled
commodities allotted by Government or semi-government.

(xiii) To move the Government and other competent authorities for disciplinary
action against officials lent by Government.
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(xiv) To incur expenditure in connection with stock verification of commodities
stored in Federation’s godowns, whenever necessary.

(xv) To incur expenditure in connection with re-bagging or standardization
of commodities.

(xvi) To incur expenditure towards repairs and renewal of the office and
godown buildings subject to the budget allotments.

(xvii) To incur expenditure towards maintenance and repairs of the office
vehicles subject to budget allotments.

(xviii) To sanction charge allowance beyond (6) months at one twentieth of
the minimum pay of the post to the employees who are placed in addition
charge of the equivalent or higher posts or placed in independent charge
of higher post.

Duties of Managing Director

1. Bring in New Business

A managing director is responsible for new business development. He helps to
bring new clients to the firm. In this way, the MD is similar to a high level salesperson.
The director sets meetings with potential clients (may be off-site at a dinner, on-
site or at the customer’s business) and presents a proposal in order to win a
client’s business. The managing director stays in touch with potential clients. In
addition to bringing in new work, the managing director must also research and
implement new strategies that could help increase his company’s (and the
stockholders’) profits.

2. Keep Clients Happy

Once a new client comes on board, the managing director must also nurture this
new business relationship. The managing director helps make the transition smoother
and addresses the client’s major concerns on an ongoing basis. She must stay
abreast of new developments in the client’s industry so that she can recommend
new strategies and focuses for the company.

3. Recruit and Retain Employees

The managing director oversees the recruitment and retention of employees. He is
responsible for finding the best talent and bringing new team members, particularly
top-tier executive level workers, on board at his company. He stays in contact
with top employees to assure that they are happy with the company and work
environment.

4. Report to Board of Directors

One of the most important roles of a managing director is to meet with and report
information about the company’s overall performance to the board of directors of
the company regularly. The board of directors makes recommendations regarding
the company based on the managing director’s reports. The managing director is
responsible for either implementing these suggestions or going in a different
direction, but either way he is held accountable for the results.
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Responsibilities of Managing Director

(i) Implement the Board’s policies and strategies.

(ii) Develop and present the strategic and annual business plans to the Board
for approval.

(iii) Report to the Board on progress against the strategic and annual business
plans on a regular basis. Typically, reporting against the annual plan will
be monthly, while reporting against the strategic plan will be less frequent,
although it should be at least two or three times a year.

(iv) Manage the day-to-day operations of the company.
(v) Manage, motivate, develop and lead members of the Management Team.
(vi) Manage resources efficiently and effectively to achieve the company’s

objectives.
(vii) Chair Management Team meetings.
(viii) Take a leadership role in establishing or developing the company’s culture

and values.
(ix) Ensure that there is a fit between strategy and culture, and the company’s

processes and structure.
(x) Ensure that appropriate internal audit processes and procedures are in

place.
(xi) Develop and implement a risk management plan.
(xii) Ensure that there is a succession plan in place.

Necessary Resolution

1. Board Resolutions

(i) For Appointment as Additional Director:

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to section 260 of the Companies Act, 1956 and
other applicable provisions of the Act and Article ________ of Article of
Association of the Company Mr. A be and is hereby appointed as Additional
Director of the Company to hold the office up to next Annual General Meeting
and be eligible for reappointment at next Annual General Meeting.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT necessary return in the office of the Registrar
of Companies be filed to intimate the above appointment.”

(ii) For Appointment as Managing Director:

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to provisions of Section 269 read with Schedule
XIII of the Companies Act ,1956 and sub to provisions of Sections 198, 309 and
314 and other applicable provisions, if, any of the Companies Act, 1956 and
further subject to approval of shareholders, sanction be and is hereby accorded to
the re-appointment of Mr. A as Managing Director of the Company for a period
of 1 (one) year with effect from 1st April, _________ and to the payment of the
following remuneration:
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(a) Salary Basic                                           `  __________ PM

(b) Conveyance on actual up to a limit of      ̀   __________ PM

(c) House Rent                                            `  __________ PM

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT in the event of loss or inadequacy of profits
during the tenure of service of the Managing Director, the payment of salary,
commission, perquisites and other allowances shall be governed by the limits
prescribed under Section II of Part II of Schedule XIII to the Companies Act,
1956.”

2. Explanatory Statement (Forming Annexure to Notice)

The Board, subject to the approval of shareholders in the General Meeting,
appointed Mr. A as Managing Director of the Company effective 1st April,
_____________, for a period of one year on terms and conditions set out in the
Resolution. He is a partner of _______________, an associate concern of the
Company and Director in ________________ Ltd.

Distinction between Director and Managing Director

The main points of distinction between a director and managing director are as
follows:

Director

1. The directors take responsibility for framing the policy of the company.
2. The directors do not take part in the day-to-day affairs of management

of the company.
3. The directors are appointed by the shareholders of the company at the

general meeting.
4. The maximum number of companies for which a person can act as director

at a time is 15.
5. For all companies, public and private, the appointment of directors is

compulsory.
6. The directors are appointed for a period not exceeding three years at a

time.
7. The directors are subject to retirement by rotation.
8. The directors are considered as agents of the shareholders of the

company.
9. The directors do not hold any office of profit but only receive honorarium

for attending meeting.
10. Directors do not enter into any agreement with the company regarding

their powers, duties, etc.
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Managing Director

1. The managing director takes responsibility for implementing it.
2. The managing director actually takes part in the daily management of

the company.
3. The managing directors are appointed by the directors at the board

meeting.
4. The maximum number in the case of a managing director is only two.
5. The appointment of a managing director is not compulsory.
6. The managing director is appointed for a period not exceeding five years

at a time.
7. The managing director is exempted from this provision.
8. The managing director is considered as an agent of the board of directors.
9. The managing director holds a regular office of profit and receives a

regular salary.
10. The managing director enters into an agreement with the company which

provides for the terms and conditions of service, his powers, duties, etc.

Distinction between Managing Director and Whole-time Director

According to the explanation given in the Amendment Act 1974, Whole-time
director includes “a director in the whole-time employment of the company”. For
example, if a director is appointed as “controller of finance accounts’ of the company,
he becomes a whole- time director. Thus, the Act itself makes a distinction between
a managing director and a whole-time director. They differ from each other in the
following respects:

Managing Director
1. A managing director is entrusted with substantial powers of management.
2. The appointment of a managing director does not require the consent of

the shareholders.
3. A company cannot appoint a managing director and manager

simultaneously.
4. A managing director can act as such in two companies, at the same

time.
5. A managing director can be appointed for a maximum period of five

years at a time.

Whole-time Director

1. Whole-time director is just an employee of the company and does not
enjoy substantial powers of management.

2. The appointment of a whole-time director requires the sanction of
shareholders by means of a special resolution.
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3. It can appoint a whole-time director along with a managing director or
a manager.

4. A whole-time director cannot act as a whole-time director in more than
one company.

5. There is no such restriction in the case of whole-time director.

Liabilities of Managing Director

1. Liability for illegal acts
Where directors have used their powers to part with money of their company in a
manner or for a purpose which the law forbids, it is not a defense to proceedings
to make them liable for their act to plead merely that they acted in ignorance of the
law. A bookshop was owned by a company. A person designated as assistant
manager had day to day responsibility for running the shop. He was giving no
input into policy matters like implementation of proper health and safety procedure
as required by statute. He was held to be not a manager for this purpose of being
prosecuted when the company was found to be guilty of breaching the statute.

2. Issue of duplicate shares

Where with a view to combating a takeover bid the directors of the company
issue duplicate share certificates in respect of original shares which to other
knowledge were under a pledge and transferred them to a person and transferred
them to a person who himself was not a bona fide purchaser for value, it was held
that the remedy of such a transferee for recovering his price would be against the
directors personally and not against the company.

3. Director receiving secret commission or bribe

A similar prohibition would also exist against the director obtaining any secret
commission or any illegal gratification for the award of a contact with the company.
A company can recover from its director any money received by him by way of a
bribe in fraud of the company and the company can also sue him and the person
giving the bribe for any loss sustained through entering a disadvantageous contract
or the company may rescind the contract. The director will be liable for the amount
as a debt only, and the company cannot follow the profit or bribe as trust property.

4. Director’s authority to give bribes

The managing director of a company withdraw a sum of money from the company’s
account and used it to pay bribes to a contract awarding authority, and when sued
by the company, contended that the company had benefited by having substantial
contacts awarded to it. The court said that, as a director of the company, he had
authority to use the company’s money to pay bribes and the fact that the company
may have benefited from the payment of the bribes did not provide the director
with any defense.

5. Criminal liability of managing director for misappropriation by company
Where it was alleged in a criminal complaint that the company had accepted the
company sent by drafts but did not make supplies ordered and was, therefore,
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guilty of criminal misappropriation, the court said that the Managing Director could
not be made liable unless it could be shown that he was a party to the fraud, which
was not the case here.

4.6 QUALIFICATIONS AND APPOINTMENT OF
WHOLE-TIME DIRECTOR

For appointment of whole-time director, the provisions of section 196 read with
Schedule V are required to be complied with. As the services are rendered whole
time, logically, a director cannot be in whole-time employment in more than one
company. However, the Act does not prohibit a person who is already a whole-
time director of another company to be appointed as a director of another company.
When the whole-time director is a key managerial person under the provisions of
section 203, he may be appointed as a whole-time director in a subsidiary company
as provided in sub-section (3) of Section 203.

A whole-time director is a member of a board of directors for an organization,
but the meaning of the term varies between countries and their statutes. It varies
from company to company and their roles and responsibility allotted to them.

The Companies Act, 2013 defines that such class of companies (we will
discuss later which class of companies) to have director in full time employment
nothing regarding their power. Hence, it is the discretion of management why they
are appointed in a company.

Generally are person with rich experience and expertise in fields for which
they are appointed in a company.

As per Section 204 of the Companies Act, 2013, below given companies
are required to appoint a Whole-time Director:

1. Every listed company
2. Every other public company having a paid-up share capital of ten crore

rupees or more.

4.7 POWERS, DUTIES AND LIABILITIES OF
WHOLE-TIME DIRECTOR

Powers of Whole-time Director
(a) Power to make calls in respect of money unpaid on shares.
(b) Call meetings on suo moto basis.
(c) Issue shares, debentures, or any other instruments in respect of the

company.
(d) Borrow and invest funds for the company.
(e) Approve Financial Statements and Board Report.
(f) Approve bonus to employees.
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Duties of Whole-time Director

A whole-time director is a director rendering his services on whole-time basis to
the company. Further, a whole-time employee, when appointed as a director of
the company, will be occupying the position as the whole-time director.

(a) Determining the company’s strategic objectives and policies.
(b) Monitoring progress towards achieving the objectives and policies.
(c) Appointing senior management.
(d) Accounting for the company’s activities to relevant parties, e.g.,

shareholders.

Liabilities of Whole-time Director
1. Breach of fiduciary duty: As the directors hold the office of trust

along with power they are expected to exercise this power in the best
interest of the company. Whenever there comes dishonesty in fulfilling
this duty, there is a breach of fiduciary duty. There is always a possibility
of a conflict of interests but should such a conflict arise the concerned
director should make complete disclosure and try to obtain the confidence
of stakeholders in the general meeting.

2. Ultra vires act: Directors have powers subject to Companies Act,
Memorandum and Articles of association. Whenever they exceed these
limits they are personally liable for the act being ultra vires. But if acts
are intra vires the company such acts can be subsequently ratified by
the shareholders in the general meeting, otherwise, if a company suffers
a loss on ultra vires acts of its directors, the company can claim such
loss from the directors.

3. Negligence: As long as the Directors exercise reasonable care and
due diligence, they are fulfilling their duties to the company. But as soon
as there is the failure to exercise such care and precaution, they are
deemed to be negligent in their conduct and are personally liable for the
consequent damages.

4. Malafide acts: Directors are the trustees for the money and property
of the company. They hold an office of trust and if they misuse their
powers they will be liable for breach of trust and may be required
indemnify the losses incurred due to. They need to make regular
disclosures on their profits, if any, earned in course of the performance
of duties. Director can also be held liable for misconduct, provided it is
not willful.

Check Your Progress

1. Explain various types of Directors.
2. Discuss important roles of a Director.
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4.8 COMPANY MEETINGS

A meeting is a gathering of two or more people that has been convened for the
purpose of achieving a common goal through verbal interaction, such as sharing
information or reaching agreement. Meetings may occur face to face or virtually,
as mediated by communications technology, such as a telephone conference call,
a skipped conference call or a video conference.

Thus, a meeting may be distinguished from other gatherings, such as a chance
encounter, a sports game or a concert, a party or the company of friends and a
demonstration whose common goal is achieved mainly through the number of
demonstrators present, not verbal interaction and the consumption of doughnuts.

Commercially, the term is used by meeting planners and other meeting
professionals to denote an event booked at a hotel, convention center or any
other venue dedicated to such gatherings. In this sense, the term meeting covers a
lecture one presentation, seminar typically several presentations, small audience,
one day, conference mid-size, one or more days, congress large, several days,
exhibition or trade show with manned stands being visited by passers-by, workshop
smaller, with active participants, training course, team-building session and kick-
off event.

For the smooth functioning of the company, it is essential that the shareholders
meet as often as possible and discuss various matters of common interest and take
significant decisions. Meetings give a place for productive contribution where
liberated and frank arguments and discussions take place. The decisions taken at
the meetings usually become satisfactory and are met with slightest confrontation.

Meaning of Meeting

Meeting refers to a formal or informal deliberative assembly of individuals called
to debate certain issues and problems, and to take decisions. Formal meetings are
held at definite times, at a definite place, and usually for a definite duration to
follow an agreed upon agenda. It is a gathering of two or more persons who come
together for important discussion and decision on lawful matters.

Definition of Meeting

Meeting can be defined as “an official gathering to concerned persons who
come together in required number, in order to discuss and arrive at decisions,
required for the functioning of an organization”.

Types of Meeting

Company meetings may largely be divided into various categories according to
their need and purpose for the business they are as follows:

1. Statutory Meeting

The first meeting of creditors is called by the interim trustee to elect a permanent
trustee and commissioners. This meeting is the first meeting of the shareholders of



Directors

NOTES

Self-Instructional
160 Material

a public company. It is held once it the life time of any public company. Section
165 of the Companies Act states that every company limited by shares or limited
by guarantee and having a share capital must hold a general meeting of members
of the company within a period of not less than one month and not more than six
months from the date on which the company becomes entitled to commence
business. It is called ‘statutory meeting’. Therefore, it must be specifically stated in
the notice calling it. It is not necessary for a private company to hold a statutory
meeting.

Purpose of Statutory Meeting

The main objective to hold a statutory meeting is to notify the share regarding the
facts involving to the development of the company, shares taken up, money
received, contracts entered into, preliminary expenses, etc. It is an opportunity to
the associates to discuss subject related to the development of the company. This
enables them to identify the situation and future projection of the company. It
helps the members to meet the directors and they can assure themselves that the
money invested by them is appropriately used.

Board of directors will make a list of members showing the names, addresses
and occupations along with the number of shares held by them.

The members in the meeting are open to talk about any matter related to the
formation of the company or arising out of the statutory report. The resolutions
can be passed only in accordance with the provisions of the Act. A public company
limited by shares or a guarantee company having share capital is required to hold
a statutory meeting. Such a statutory meeting is held only once in the lifetime of the
company. Such a meeting must be held within a period of not less than one month
or within a period not more than six months from the date on which it is entitled to
commence business, i.e., it obtains certificate of commencement of business.

The purpose of the meeting is to enable members to know all important
matters pertaining to the formation of the company and its initial life history. The
matters discussed include which shares have been taken up, what money has
been received, what contracts have been entered into, what sums have been spent
on preliminary expenses, etc. The members of the company present at the meeting
may discuss any other matter relating to the formation of the company or arising
out of the statutory report also, even if no prior notice has been given for such
other discussions but no resolution can be passed of which notice have not been
given in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

A notice of at least 21 days before the meeting must be given to members
unless consent is accorded to a shorter notice by members, holding not less than
95% of voting rights in the company. A statutory meeting may be adjourned from
time to time by the members present at the meeting.

The Board of Directors must prepare and send to every member a report
called the “Statutory Report” at least 21 days before the day on which the meeting
is to be held. But if all the members entitled to attend and vote at the meeting
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agree, the report could be forwarded later also. The report should be certified as
correct by at least two directors, one of whom must be the managing director,
where there is one, and must also be certified as correct by the auditors of the
company with respect to the shares allotted by the company, the cash received in
respect of such shares and the receipts and payments of the company. A certified
copy of the report must be sent to the Registrar for registration immediately after
copies have been sent to the members of the company.

A list of members showing their names, addresses and occupations together
with the number shares held by each member must be kept in readiness and
produced at the commencement of the meeting and kept open for inspection during
the meeting.

If default is made in complying with the above provisions, every director or
other officer of the company who is in default shall be punishable with fine up to
` 500. The Registrar or a contributory may file a petition for the winding up of the
company if default is made in delivering the statutory report to the Registrar or in
holding the statutory meeting on or after 14 days after the last date on which the
statutory meeting ought to have been held.

Contents of Statutory Report must provide the following particulars:

(a) The total number of shares allotted, distinguishing those fully or partly
paid up, otherwise than in cash, the extent to which partly paid shares
are paid up, and in both cases, the consideration for which they were
allotted.

(b) The total amount of cash received by the company in respect of all
shares allotted, distinguishing as aforesaid.

(c) An abstract of the receipts and payments up to a date within 7 days of
the date of the report and the balance of cash and bank accounts in
hand, and an account of preliminary expenses.

(d) Any commission or discount paid or to be paid on the issue or sale of
shares or debentures must be separately shown in the aforesaid abstract.

(e) The names, addresses and occupations of directors, auditors, manager
and secretary, if any, of the company and the changes which have taken
place in the names, addresses and occupations of the above since the
date of incorporation.

(f) Particulars of any contracts to be submitted to the meeting for approval
and modifications done or proposed.

(g) If the company has entered into any underwriting contracts, the extent,
if any, to which they have not been carried out and the reasons for the
failure.

(h) The arrears, if any, due on calls from every director and from the manager.
(i) The particulars of any commission or brokerage paid or to be paid, in

connection with the issue or sale of shares or debentures to any director
or to the manager.
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2. Annual General Meeting (AGM)

An annual general meeting is a meeting that official bodies, and associations involving
the public including companies with shareholders, are often required by law. An
annual meeting called by the directors of a company that allow shareholders to
stay informed and involved with company decisions and workings.

Annual general meeting must be held by every type of company, public or
private, limited by shares or by guarantee, with or without share capital or unlimited
company, once a year. Every company must in each year hold an annual general
meeting. Not more than 15 months must elapse between two annual general
meetings. However, a company may hold its first annual general meeting within 18
months from the date of its incorporation. In such a case, it need not hold any
annual general meeting in the year of its incorporation as well as in the following
year only.

In the case there is any difficulty in holding any annual general meeting (except
the first annual meeting), the Registrar may, for any special reasons shown, grant
an extension of time for holding the meeting by a period not exceeding 3 months
provided the application for the purpose is made before the due date of the annual
general meeting. However, generally delay in the completion of the audit of the
annual accounts of the company is not treated as “special reason” for granting
extension of time for holding its annual general meeting. Generally, in such
circumstances, an AGM is convened and held at the proper time all matters other
than the accounts are discussed. All other resolutions are passed and the meeting
is adjourned to a later date for discussing the final accounts of the company.
However, the adjourned meeting must be held before the last day of holding the
AGM.

A notice of at least 21 days before the meeting must be given to members
unless consent is accorded to a shorter notice by members, holding not less than
95% of voting rights in the company. The notice must state that the meeting is an
annual general meeting. The time, date and place of the meeting must be mentioned
in the notice. The notice of the meeting must be accompanied by a copy of the
annual accounts of the company, director’s report on the position of the company
for the year and auditor’s report on the accounts. Companies having share capital
should also state in the notice that a member is entitled to attend and vote at the
meeting and is also entitled to appoint proxies in his absence. A proxy need not be
a member of that company. A proxy form should be enclosed with the notice. The
proxy forms are required to be submitted to the company at least 48 hours before
the meeting.

The AGM must be held on a working day during business hours at the
registered office of the company or at some other place within the city, town or
village in which the registered office of the company is situated. The Central
Government may, however, exempt any class of companies from the above
provisions. If any day is declared by the Central Government to be a public holiday
after the issue of the notice convening such meeting, such a day will be treated as
a working day. A company may, by appropriate provisions in its articles, fix the
time for its annual general meeting and may also by a resolution passed in one
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annual general meeting fix the time for its subsequent annual general meetings.
Companies licensed under Section 25 are exempt from the above provisions
provided that the time, date and place of each annual general meeting are decided
upon beforehand by the Board of Directors having regard to the directions, if any,
given in this regard by the company in general meeting.

In case of default in holding an annual general meeting, the following are the
consequences:

1. Any member of the company may apply to the Company Law Board.
The Company Law Board may call, or direct the calling of the meeting,
and give such ancillary or consequential directions as it may consider
expedient in relation to the calling, holding and conducting of the meeting.
The Company Law Board may direct that one member present in person
or by proxy shall be deemed to constitute the meeting. A meeting held in
pursuance of this order will be deemed to be an annual general meeting
of the company. An application by a member of the company for this
purpose must be made to the concerned Regional Bench of the
Company Law Board by way of petition in Form No. 1 in Annexure II
to the CLB Regulations with a fee of rupees fifty accompanied by:
(i) affidavit verifying the petition and (ii) bank draft for payment of
application fee.

2. Fine which may extend to ̀  5,000 on the company and every officer of
the company who is in default may be levied and for continuing default,
a further fine of ̀  250 per day during which the default continues may
be levied.

Business to be Transacted at Annual General Meeting

At every AGM, the following matters must be discussed and decided. Since such
matters are discussed at every AGM, they are known as ordinary business. All
other matters and business to be discussed at the AGM are special business.

The following matters constitute ordinary business at an AGM:
(i) Consideration of annual accounts, director’s report and the auditor’s

report.
(ii) Declaration of dividend.
(iii) Appointment of directors in the place of those retiring.
(iv) Appointment of and the fixing of the remuneration of the statutory

auditors.
In case any other business has to be discussed and decided upon, an

explanatory statement of the special business must also accompany the notice
calling the meeting. The notice should also give the nature and extent of the interest
of the directors or manager in the special business, as also the extent of the
shareholding interest in the company of every such person. In case approval of
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any document has to be done by the members at the meeting, the notice must also
state that the document would be available for inspection at the Registered Office
of the company during the specified dates and timings.

3. Extraordinary General Meeting

An Extraordinary General Meeting, commonly abbreviated as EGM, is a meeting
of members of an organization, shareholders of a company, or employees of an
official body, which occurs at an irregular time.

Every general meeting (i.e., meeting of members of the company) other
than the statutory meeting and the annual general meeting or any adjournment
thereof, is an extraordinary general meeting. Such meeting is usually called by the
Board of Directors for some urgent business which cannot wait to be decided till
the next AGM. Every business transacted at such a meeting is special business.
An explanatory statement of the special business must also accompany the notice
calling the meeting. The notice should also give the nature and extent of the interest
of the directors or manager in the special business, as also the extent of the
shareholding interest in the company of every such person. In case approval of
any document has to be done by the members at the meeting, the notice state that
the document would be available for inspection at the Registered Office of the
company during the specified dates and timings.

The Articles of Association of a Company may contain provisions for
convening an extraordinary general meeting. It may provide that “the board may,
whenever it thinks fit, call an extraordinary general meeting” or it may provide that
“if at any time there are not within India, directors capable of acting who are
sufficient in number to form a quorum, any director or any two members of the
company may call an extraordinary general meeting”.
Extraordinary General Meeting on Requisition
The members of a company have the right to require the calling of an extraordinary
general meeting by the directors. The board of directors of a company must call
an extraordinary general meeting if required to do so by the following number of
members:

(i) Members of the company holding at the date of making the demand for
an EGM not less than one-tenth of such of the voting rights in regard to
the matter to be discussed at the meeting; or

(ii) If the company has no share capital, the members representing not less
than one-tenth of the total voting rights at that date in regard to the said
matter.

The requisition must state the objects of the meetings and must be signed by
the requisitioning members. The requisition must be deposited at the company’s
registered office. When the requisition is deposited at the registered office of the
company, the directors should within 21 days, move to call a meeting and the
meeting should be actually be held within 45 days from the date of the lodgment of
the requisition. If the directors fail to call and hold the meeting as aforesaid, the
requisitionists or any of them meeting the requirements at (a) or (b) above, as the
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case may be, may themselves proceed to call meeting within 3 months from the
date of the requisition, and claim the necessary expenses from the company. The
company can make good this sum from the directors in default. At such an EGM,
any business which is not covered by the agenda mentioned in the notice of the
meeting cannot be voted upon.

Procedure for Application under Section 186

An application by a director or a member of a company for this purpose is required
to be made to the Regional Bench of the Company Law Board before whom the
petition is to be made in Form No. 1 specified in Annexure II to the CLB Regulations
with a fee of ̀  200. The petition must be accompanied with the following documents:

(i) Evidence in proof of status of the applicant.
(ii) Affidavit verifying the petition.
(iii) Bank draft evidencing payment of application fee.
(iv) Memorandum of appearance with copy of the Board’s resolution or

executed Vakalat Nama, as the case may be.

Notice of General Meeting

A meeting cannot be held unless a proper notice has been given to all persons
entitled to attend the meeting at the proper time, containing the necessary information.
A notice convening a general meeting must be given at least 21 clear days prior to
the date of meeting. However, an annual general meeting may be called and held
with a shorter notice, if it is consented to by all the members entitled to vote at the
meeting. In respect of any other meeting, it may be called and held with a shorter
notice, if at least members holding 95% of the total voting power of the company
consent to a shorter notice. Notice of every meeting of company must be sent to
all members entitled to attend and vote at the meeting. Notice of the AGM must
be given to the statutory auditor of the company. Accidental omission to give
notice to, or the non-receipt of notice by, any member or any other person on
whom it should be given will not invalidate the proceedings of the meeting. The
notice may be given to any member either personally or by sending it by post to
him at his registered address, or if there is none in India, to any address within
India supplied by him for the purpose. Where notice is sent by post, service is
affected by properly addressing, pre-paying and posting the notice. A notice may
be given to joint holders by giving it to the joint holder first named in the register of
members. A notice of meeting may also be given by advertising the same in a
newspaper circulating in the neighborhood of the registered office of the company
and it shall be deemed to be served on every member who has to registered
address in India for the giving of notices to him.

A notice calling a meeting must state the place, day and hour of the meeting
and must contain the agenda of the meeting. If the meeting is a statutory or annual
general meeting, notice must describe it as such. Where any items of special business
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are to be transacted at the meeting, an explanatory statement setting out all materials
facts concerning each item of the special business including the concern or interest,
if any, therein of every director and manager is any, must be annexed to the notice.
If it is intended to propose any resolution as a special resolution, such intention
should be specified.

A notice convening an AGM must be accompanied by the annual accounts
of the company, the director’s report and the auditor’s report. The copies of these
documents could, however, be sent less than 21 days before of the date of the
meeting if agreed to by all members entitled to vote at the meeting.

Provisions of Minutes of Board Meetings under Companies Act,
2013

Types of Recording the Minutes of the Board Meetings

The Board meeting minutes are basically of two types, as stated below:

1. Minutes of Narration, and
2. Minutes of Decisions or Resolutions

1. Minutes of Narration

As the expression “Minutes of Narration” itself indicates, the minutes of narration
mean minutes, which are in a descriptive or narrative form. They contain preamble
to formal resolutions or record of directors/members present, record of leave of
absence, confirmation of minutes of previous meeting, proposal as to vote of thanks
to chair, etc.

These are records of events or items of business, which do not require
formal resolutions to establish them. In general, they consist of:

(a) Recording names of those who are present at the meeting;
(b) Recording of the reading and signing of the minutes of the previous

meeting;
(c) Recording of leave of absence;
(d) Recording of the tabling and consideration of correspondence received;
(e) Taking note of financial statements, reports, plans, etc., tabled and

considered;
(f) Taking note of the receipt of disclosure notice from directors;
(g) Declaration of closure of meeting.

2. Minutes of Decisions or Resolutions

These are records of formal decisions of the directors of the company at duly
convened meeting and are prefixed by the word ‘Resolved’. Minutes of resolution
may be recorded in various ways. They may be simply set down as a statement of
what was resolved. Alternatively, they may be accompanied by a statement
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indicating the mover and seconded and how the resolution was carried. Either
form of recording the resolution is acceptable. Some advocate that the latter form
should be used in respect of minutes of general meetings of members and the
former in respect of Board meetings. But that is entirely a matter of opinion. A
third type of recording, which is desirable in cases where the recitals are numerous
and/or lengthy, is one which prefixes a recital to the resolution. A recital is a short
explanation of why it is necessary or expedient to pass the resolution. It is generally
not necessary, and in fact brought with the risk of unpredictable consequences, to
record the discussion which led up to the adoption of a certain resolution or making
of a certain decision. Only the decisions or resolutions actually taken and the
names of the persons proposing and seconding those decisions or resolutions,
should, therefore, be recorded. However, motions carried through or ruled upon
by the chairman are on the same footing as resolutions for the purpose of recording
the minutes.

Contents of the Minutes of Board Meeting

The Board meeting minutes should contain the following details:
(a) Date, time and place of the Board meeting;
(b) Names of the directors present in the meeting;
(c) Name of the person on the chair;
(d) Granting of leave of absence to the directors;
(e) Confirmation of previous meeting’s minutes;
(f) Confirmation of minutes of committee meetings;
(g) Recording the resolutions passed by circulation during the period of the

previous Board meeting to the date of the current Board meeting, if any;
(h) Various items of agenda discussed at the meeting;
(i) The names of directors, if any, who have dissented from any resolution

passed at the meeting;
(j) Appointment of officers made at the meeting;
(k) The fact of unanimity of decision of directors as required by sections

316, 372A and 386;
(l) Reading of notice given by the directors for disclosure of their interest,

other directorship and their shareholdings and non-disqualification for
their appointment under section 274 of the Act;

(m)Vote of thanks to the chair;
(n) Signature of the chairman with date in his own hand.
Time-limit for Recording and Signing of Minutes of Board meetings:

company shall cause minutes of all proceedings of every meeting of its Board of
directors, to be kept by making within thirty days of the conclusion of every such
meeting concerned, entries thereof in the books kept for that purpose with their
pages consecutively numbered.
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Correction in the Minutes of the Board Meetings: Minutes once
recorded and signed cannot be changed materially, subsequently. If a correction
involves a major departure from the earlier minutes, the proper procedure is to
pass a resolution at a subsequent meeting and mention the fact of the resolution in
the old minutes as a cross reference.

Adoption of Minutes of Board Meetings: It is the general practice to
draft the Board meetings minutes and get it approved by the chairman and thereafter
it is recorded in the minutes book. Simultaneously, copy of the draft minutes is
circulated to all the directors either before or at the time of circulating the agenda
for the next meeting. At the next meeting, the minutes of the earlier meeting recorded
in the book, are adopted by the Board and in token thereof, the chairman signs
the minutes with the date. It would be more appropriate to record that ‘the Board
approved the minutes of the previous meeting of the Board held on’ instead of
saying that ‘the Board confirmed minutes of the last meeting’.

Action on Any Resolution Can be Taken After Conclusion of the
Meeting: Action on any resolution or any matter approved by the Board at a
meeting can be taken immediately on the conclusion of the meeting. It is not
necessary to wait till the minutes are recorded, approved and adopted at the next
meeting. It must be ensured that the extracts of the resolution passed has the
approval of the chairman.

Provisions Relating to Annual General Meeting as per Companies Act,
2013

As per Section 96 of the Companies Act, 2013, every company, other than One
Person Company (OPC), must hold a general meeting in each year apart from
other meetings as Annual General Meeting (AGM). The AGM must be held within
six months from the closing date of financial year. A notice of 21 days has to be
sent to all members.

Every company, apart from OPC, must have to hold in addition to other
meetings, by giving a notice about the meeting, not more than 15 months in between
the date of AGM to the next. A company may hold its first AGM within the period
of 9 months from closing of its first financial year otherwise in other cases within
the period of 6 months [Section 96(1) of the Companies Act, 2013]. As per the
above, if a company holds its meeting, then it has no need to call an AGM in the
year of its incorporation.

Approval of Financial Statements At AGM

According to Section 129(2), at every AGM, Board of Directors of the company
shall lay before the meeting financial statement for the financial year.

Moreover, Section 129(3) says, where the company has one or more
subsidiaries, then they have to prepare in addition to the statement under section
129(2) a consolidated financial statement and of all subsidiaries in same format
and also present before the AGM of the company with the prescribed statement
under section 129(2).
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Business to Be Transacted at AGM

As per section 102(2) of the Companies Act, 2013, the following businesses may
be transacted during AGM:

1. Ordinary Business [Section 102(2)], i.e.,
(a) Consideration of financial statements and reports of board of directors

and auditors.
(b) Declaration of any dividend.
(c) Appointment of directors in place of retiring one.
(d) Appointment of and Fixation of the remuneration of the auditors.

2. Special Business [Section 102(b)]: Apart from the above businesses,
the rest are deemed to be a special business, transacted during the AGM.

Defaulting in Holding Annual General Meeting

If a company not holding an Annual General Meeting as per Section 96, or not
complying with any direction of the Central Government, then the company and its
every officer come in the Category under Section 99 of the Companies Act, 2013
and punishable with fine which may extend to ̀  1,00,000 and in case of continuing
default, it may extend to ̀  5,000 for every day.

Further, Section 97 of the Companies Act, 2013, provides for the power of
the Tribunal to call AGM if the company fails to hold Annual General Meeting.
Any member of the company can request to NCLT for calling AGM.

Extension for Holding AGM

The Registrar of Companies (ROC) may extend the period within which the AGM
(not being the first AGM) shall be held, not exceeding 3 months under section
96(1).

There is no provision for extension of 1st AGM but in other cases it can be
extended for period of three months by RoC [Second proviso to Section 96 of
the Companies Act, 2013]. However, if such first AGM is not held, NCLT can
order holding of General Meeting under section 97 of the Act.

Application for extension of time should be submitted electronically in
e-Form GNL-1.

Provisions Relating to Extraordinary General Meetings as per Companies
Act, 2013

1. Section 100(1) of Companies Act, 2013 and Regulation 43(i) of
Table F: The Board of Directors may whenever it thinks fit call an
Extraordinary general meeting. For this, Board resolution is required.
Thus, general meeting need to be called only on the authority of board
resolution.
If a managing director, manager, secretary or other officer calls a general
meeting without prior approval of the Board of Directors, it will have no
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effect unless the Board ratifies the convening of general meeting before
it is held.

2. Regulation 43(ii) of Table F, Calling of Extraordinary General
Meeting by Any Director or Any Two Members: If at any time
directors capable of acting sufficient in number to form a quorum, any
one director or any two members of the company may call an
Extraordinary General Meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible
as that in which such a meeting may be called by the board.

3. Section 100 of Companies Act, 2013 Calling of Extraordinary
General Meeting on Requisition: The demand of members to
convene a meeting is called requisition. It shall set out the matters for
consideration of which the meeting is to be called.
The number of members entitled to requisition a meeting in regard to
any matter shall be:
(i) In case company having a share capital, members holding at least

one-tenth of such paid-up capital of the capital which carries a right
voting in regard to that matter.

(ii) In case company not having share capital, members holding at least
one-tenth of total voting power of all the members who have a right
to vote to that matter.

On receipt of requisition the Board of Directors shall proceed to call
Extraordinary General Meeting within 21 days from the date of the deposit
of requisition, on a date, which shall not be later than 45 days of the
date of deposit of requisition.
The Board of Directors shall be said to have failed in calling the meeting
if:
(i) It does not call the meeting within 21 days of the deposit of

requisition.
(ii) It calls the meeting on a day which is later than 45 days from the

date of deposit of requisition.
(iii) It convenes a meeting to transact only a part of the business specified

in the requisition.
(iv) Where the Board fails to call a meeting, the meeting may be called

by the requsitionists themselves within a period of 3 months from
the date of the deposit of requisition.

(v) Any reasonable expenses incurred by the requsitionists in calling a
meeting shall be reimbursed to the requsitionists by the company
and the same so paid shall be deducted from any fee or other
remuneration payable to such of the directors who were in default
in calling the meeting.
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Notice of the Meeting
Notice shall be given in writing or through electronic mode at least before
21 clear days to the proposed date of extraordinary general meeting.
The notice calling meeting shall specify the place, date, day and hour of
the meeting and shall contain the business to be transacted at the meeting.
Requistionists should convene meeting at Registered office or in the same
city or town where Registered office is situated. Further, such meeting
should be convened on any day except national holiday.
No explanatory statement as required under section 102 need be
annexed to the notice of an extraordinary general meeting convened by
the requistionists and the requistionists may disclose the reasons for the
resolutions which they propose to move at the meeting.
The notice of the meeting shall be given to those members whose names
appear in the Register of members of the company within three days on
which the requistionists deposit with the company a valid requisition for
calling an extraordinary general meeting.
The notice of the meeting shall be given by speed post or registered
post or through electronic mode. Any accidental omission to give notice
to, or the non-receipt of such notice by any member shall not invalidate
the proceedings of the meeting.

4. Section 98 of Companies Act, 2013 Calling of Extraordinary
General Meeting by Tribunal: If for any reason company could not
call, hold or conduct meeting. The National Company Law Tribunal
may order a meeting of the company to be called, held or conducted in
such manner as it thinks fit.

The directions given under this section include that one member of the
company present in person or by proxy shall be deemed to constitute a
meeting.
The tribunal may do so either on its own motion or on the application of
any director of the company or on the application of any member of the
company who would be entitled to vote at the meeting.

Provisions relating to Board Meeting as per Companies Act, 2013

Section 173 of Companies Act, 2013 provides for meeting of board of directors
where they exercise their powers and functions. This is to ensure that board of
directors supervise the company efficiently.

1. First board meeting: The first meeting should be held within 30 days
of the incorporation of the company. The board of directors use their
expertise and knowledge and discuss strategies to run the company.

2. Time and due date: In a year, not less than 4 meetings are to be held
and not more than 4 months should pass between two meetings. In
other words, every board meeting has to be held within 3 months to
complete the required provision.
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3. Presence of directors: The directors are not required to physically
present in every meeting, they can be present through other video or
audio means. But there may be certain matters which cannot be discussed
through video conferencing or audio visual means and in such cases
central government may prohibit the use of the same. Also, a director
can only remain absent if granted permission by the chairman.

4. Notice: Every director has to be pre notified about the meeting at his
registered address and notice should be given in not less than 7 days.
Moreover, the decisions of the meetings are to be notified to directors
who were absent from it. If the person responsible for notifying defaults
from his duty, he is liable to be penalized. Compliance with the law is
ascertained when directors are notified.

5. Quorum: A definite number of members or directors have to be present
in the meeting according to Section 174. The board meeting is to
comprise of one-third of total members or two directors (whatever is
feasible).

6. Other meetings: There are certain other kinds of meetings that take
place in a company. There are no well-defined sections for such meetings
but have been part of company law through various judicial cases and
interpretation.

7. Creditor’s meetings: Under section 230[xvi] of the Act, companies
can make arrangements with creditors. Such arrangements are often
discussed in meeting between the directors, board and creditors. It is
known as meeting of creditors. In some cases, the judiciary may also
play an important role in calling meeting of the creditors.

8. Meeting of debenture holders: Companies are entitled to issues
debentures and to implement the same it calls meeting of debenture
holders. It is between the board of directors and debenture holders to
discuss the rights and responsibilities related to debentures.

9. Audit committee meetings: Section 177 of Companies Act provides
that companies can have audit committee comprising of directors of
companies similar to the main company. These auditors have their own
meeting to deliberate upon various issues in meetings of audit committee.

Requisites of a Valid Meeting

The following conditions must be satisfied for a meeting to be called a valid meeting:

1. Proper authority: The proper authority to convene a general meeting
of a company is Board of Directors who should pass a resolution to call
the meeting, at a duly convened Board meeting.

2. Notice of meeting: Proper notice of the meeting should be given to
the members by giving at least 21 days notice in writing to the members.

3. Quorum of meeting: The quorum is generally fixed by the Articles.
Quorum means the minimum number of members who must be present
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in order to constitute a meeting and transact business thereat. If the
quorum is not present, there is no meeting and the proceedings held
thereat are invalid.

4. Chairman of meeting: A chairman is necessary to conduct a meeting.
5. Minutes of meeting: Every company must keep a record of all

proceedings of every meeting.

Essentials for a Meeting

The following are essential for any valid meeting to be recognized as such by law:

 Fig. 4.3: Essentials for a Meeting

1. Notice
Notice is a legal communication about the day, date, time and venue of the meeting.
Under Company law, there should be a 21 days clear notice to hold a meeting of
the members of the company, whereas a seven-day notice is required to hold a
meeting of the board of directors. In the case of joint holders, notice is sent to the
address of the first joint holder. The company is not obliged to send notices to
other joint holders. Under certain circumstances, the members may decide for a
notice of less than 21 days also. The onus on the company is to send the notice,
(normally by ordinary post). It is not necessary for the company to ensure that the
same is received by the member.
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2. Agenda

Agenda refers to the business to be transacted at the meeting. In the case of
meeting of members, there would be a few matters to be discussed. Therefore,
the agenda is built into the notice itself.

The agenda for a meeting of shareholders could be ordinary business or
special business. The agenda for an annual general meeting is well set. The agenda
for other meetings is to be drafted to cover the points to be discussed. A note ‘any
other item with the permission of the chair’ is added to permit taking up any last-
minute inclusions. But in the case of meetings of board of directors, there could be
several items to be deliberated upon. Therefore, a separate note containing the
details of business to be transacted (the agenda) is sent, along with the notice of
meeting, to each of the directors at the address available with the company. To
apprise the directors of the deliberations, support papers, notes and briefs are
also sent with the notice.

The concept of corporate governance has come to stay. Companies are
now professionally managed and the Securities and Exchange Board of India
(SEBI) requires that committees be formed. The members of every committee,
the number of meetings held by such committees, etc. should be disclosed in the
annual report of the company.

There should be a notice and an agenda for the meetings of various
committees of board of directors, meetings of a class of people, etc.

3. Quorum

Quorum refers to the minimum number of members who must be present at a
meeting in order to constitute a valid meeting. A meeting without the minimum
quorum is invalid and decisions taken at such a meeting are not binding. The
articles of a company may provide for a quorum without which a meeting will be
construed to be invalid. Unless the articles of a company provide for larger quorum,
5 members personally present (not by proxy) in the case of a public company and
2 members personally present (not by proxy) in the case of a private company
shall be the quorum for a general meeting of a company.

It has been held by Courts that unless the articles otherwise provide, a
quorum need to be present only when the meeting commenced, and it was
immaterial that there was no quorum at the time when the vote was taken. Further,
unless the articles otherwise provide, if within half an hour from the time appointed
for holding a meeting of the company, a quorum is not present in the person, the
meeting:

(i) If called upon the requisition of members, shall stand dissolved;
(ii) In any other case, it shall stand adjourned to the same day in the next

week, at the same time and place, or to such other day and time as the
Board of Directors may determine.



Directors

NOTES

Self-Instructional
             Material   175

If at the adjourned meeting also, the quorum is not present within half an
hour from the time appointed for holding the meeting, the members present shall a
quorum. In case the Company Law Board calls or directs the calling of a meeting
of the company, when default is made in holding an annual general meeting, the
government may give directions regarding the quorum including a direction that
even one member of the company present in person, or by proxy shall be deemed
to constitute a meeting. Similarly, the Company Law Board may, direct a meeting
of the company (other than an annual general meeting) to be called and held where
for any reason it is impracticable to call a meeting and direct that even one member
present in person or by proxy shall be deemed to constitute a meeting.

4. Proxy
Where a member is not able to personally attend a meeting, he can depute another
person to attend the meeting on his behalf. The member is required to fill in a form
giving the particulars of his share holding and of the proxy. Proxy forms are to be
deposited with the company sufficiently in advance before the commencement of
the meeting. These proxies have restricted rights and are not to be counted for
quorum.

In case of a company having a share capital and in the case of any other
company, if the articles so authorize, any member of a company entitled to attend
and vote at a meeting of the company shall be entitled to appoint another person
(whether a member or not) as his proxy to attend and vote instead of himself.
Every notice calling a meeting of the company must contain a statement that a
member entitled to attend and vote is entitled to appoint one proxy in the case of
a private company and one or more proxies in the case of a public company and
that the proxy need not be member of the company.

A member may appoint another person to attend and vote at a meeting on
his behalf. Such other person is known as “Proxy”. A member may appoint one or
more proxies to vote in respect of the different shares held by him, or he may
appoint one or more proxies in the alternative, so that if the first named proxy fails
to vote, the second one may do so, and so on. The member appointing a proxy
must deposit with the company a proxy form at the time of the meeting or prior to
it giving details of the proxy appointed. However, any provision in the articles
which requires a period longer than forty eight hours before the meeting for
depositing with the company any proxy form appointing a proxy, shall have the
effect as if a period of 48 hours had been specified in such provision.

A company cannot issue an invitation at its expense asking any member to
appoint a particular person as proxy. If the company does so, every officer in
default shall be liable to fine up to ` 1,000. But if a proxy form is sent at the
request of a member, the officer shall not be liable. Every member entitled to vote
at a meeting of the company, during the period beginning 24 hours before the date
fixed for the meeting and ending with the conclusion of the meeting may inspect
proxy forms at any time during business hours by giving 3 days notice to the
company of his intention to do so.
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The proxy form must be in writing and be signed by the member or his
authorized attorney duly authorized in writing or if the appointer is a company, the
proxy form must be under its seal or be signed by an officer or an attorney duly
authorized by it.

The proxy can be revoked by the member at any time, and is automatically
revoked by the death or insolvency of the member. The member may revoke the
proxy by voting himself before the proxy has voted, but once the proxy has exercised
the vote, the member cannot retract his vote. Where two proxy forms by the same
shareholder are lodged in respect of the same votes, the last proxy form will be
treated as the correct proxy form. A proxy is not entitled to vote except on a poll.
Therefore, a proxy cannot vote on show of hands.

5. Chairman

The chairman is the head of the meeting. Generally, the chairman of the Board of
Directors is the Chairman of the meeting. Unless the articles otherwise provide,
the members present in person at the meeting elect one of themselves to be the
chairman thereof on a show of the hands. If there is no Chairman or he is not
present within 15 minutes after the appointed time of the meeting or is unwilling to
act as chairman of the meeting, the directors present may elect one among
themselves to be the chairman of the meeting. If, however no director is willing to
act as chairman or if no director is present within 15 minutes after the appointed
time of the meeting, the members present should choose one among themselves to
be chairman of the meeting. If, after the election of a chairman on a show of hands,
poll is demanded and taken and a different person is elected as chairman, then
that person will be the chairman for the rest of the meeting.

Duties of the Chairman
Without a chairman, a meeting is incomplete. The chairman is the regulator of the
meeting. His duties include the following:

(i) He must ensure that the meeting is properly convened and constituted,
i.e., that proper notice has been given, that the required quorum is present,
etc.

(ii) He must ensure that the provisions of the act and the articles in regard to
the meeting and its procedures are observed.

(iii) He must ensure that business is taken in the order set out in agenda and
no business which is not mentioned in the agenda is taken up unless
agreed to by the members.

(iv) He must impartially regulate the proceedings of the meeting and maintain
discipline at the meeting.

(v) He may exercise his powers of adjournment of the meeting, should be
in good faith feel that such a step is necessary. The chairman has the
power to adjourn the meeting in case of indiscipline at the meeting. A
chairman however does not have the power to stop or adjourn the
meeting at his own will and pleasure. If he adjourns the meeting
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prematurely, the members present may decide to continue the meeting
and elect another chairman and proceed with the business for which it
was convened.

(vi) He must exercise his power to order a poll correctly and must order it
to be taken when demanded properly.

(vii) He must exercise his casting vote bonafide in the interest of the company.

6. Voting and Demand for Poll

Initially, matters are decided at a general meeting by a show of hands. If the majority
of the hands raise their hands in favour of a particular resolution, then unless a poll
is demanded, it is taken as passed. Voting by a show of hands operates on the
principle of “One Member-One Vote”. However, since the fundamental voting
principle in a company is “One Share-One Vote”, if a poll is demanded, voting
takes place by a poll. Before or on declaration of the result of the voting on any
resolution on a show of hands, the chairman may order of his own motion that a
poll be taken. However, when a demand for poll is made, he must order the poll
be taken. The chairman may order a poll when a resolution proposed by the
Board is lost on the show of hands or if he is of the opinion that the decision taken
on the show of hands is likely to be reversed by poll. When a poll is taken, the
decision arrived by poll is final and the decision on the show of hands has no
effect. A poll is allowed only if the prescribed number of members demands a poll.

7. Amendment

Amendment means any modification to a motion before it is put to vote for adoption.
Amendment may be proposed by any member who has not already spoken on
the main motion or has not previously moved an amendment thereto. There can be
an amendment to an amendment motion also. A motion must be in writing and
signed by the mover and put to the vote of the meeting by the chairman. An
amendment must not raise any question already decided upon at the same meeting
and must be relevant to the main motion which it seeks to amend. The chairman
has the discretion to accept or reject an amendment on various grounds such as
inconsistency, redundancy, irrelevance, etc. If the amendment is adopted on a
vote by the members, it is incorporated in the body of the main motion. The altered
motion is then discussed and put to vote and if passed, becomes a resolution.

8. Adjournment

Adjournment means suspending the proceedings of a meeting for the time being
so that the meeting may be continued at a later date and time fixed in that meeting
itself at the time of such adjournment or to decide later on. Only the business not
finished at the original meeting can be transacted at the adjourned meeting.

The majority of members at a meeting may move an adjournment motion at
a meeting. If the chairman adjourns the meeting, ignoring the views of the majority,
the remaining members can continue the meeting. The chairman cannot adjourn
the meeting at his own discretion without there being a good cause for such an
adjournment. Where the chairman, acting bona fide within his powers, adjourns
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the meeting as per the view of the majority, the minority members cannot to continue
with such meeting and, if they do the proceedings there will be null and void.

An adjourned meeting is merely the continuation of the original meeting and
therefore, a fresh notice is not necessary, if the time, date and place for holding the
adjourned meeting are decided and declared at the time of adjourning it. If a
meeting is adjourned without stipulation as to when it will be continued, fresh
notice of the adjourned meeting must be given.

Postponement of a Meeting

Postponement of a meeting means deferring the holding of the meeting itself at a
later date. Postponement is done by the Board of Directors or by the person
convening the meeting. In case of adjournment, it is the decision of the majority of
the members present at the meeting itself.

Dissolution of a Meeting

Dissolution of a meeting means termination of a meeting. The meeting no longer
exists once it has been dissolved. If within half an hour after the time appointed for
holding a general meeting; the quorum is not present, the meeting shall stand
dissolved if it was called on requisition by members.

Minutes of Meeting

The minutes of a meeting are a summarized written record of what occurs, and is
said, at a meeting. They typically describe the events of the meeting, starting with
a list of attendees, a statement of the issues considered by the participants, and
related responses or decisions for the issues.

Minutes may be created during the meeting by a typist or court recorder,
who may use shorthand notation and then prepare the minutes and issue them to
the participants afterwards. Alternatively, the meeting can be audio recorded or a
group’s appointed or informally assigned Secretary may take notes, with minutes
prepared later.

It is usually important for the minutes to be terse and only include a summary
of discussion and decisions. A verbatim report is typically not useful. The minutes
of certain groups, such as a corporate board of directors, must be kept on file and
are important legal documents. While there is not one universally applied format
for how to document the minutes, the meeting minutes generally consist of the
following information:

(i) Date of the meeting
(ii) Subject or purpose of the meeting
(iii) A list of the attendees (if there is a large organization, then the main

members will be listed)
(iv) Administrative issues discussed and the name of the individual(s)
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(v) Concerns/opposition/questions raised by meeting attendees
(vi) Closure

A Minutes book should be maintained separately for meetings of the members
and of the board of directors. The chairman of the meeting should initial each page
of the Minutes book and affix his full signature at the end of each meeting.

4.9 TYPES OF QUORUM

Section 174 of the Act provides the quorum for a board meeting.

Section 174 (1) states:

– The quorum for a board meeting must be one-third of the total number
of directors or 2 directors whichever is the higher number. Therefore, in
case, there are only three directors in a company, then at least two must
be present even though one-third would entail that only one director
needs to be present.

– If the directors are not physically present but take part in the meeting via
any audio-visual means, they too shall be considered part of the quorum.

Section 174(2) states:

– In the case where the quorum for a board meeting is not present, the
directors may only take two courses of action:
1. They may act for the purpose of increasing the number of directors

to that fixed for the quorum or,
2. They may act to summon a general meeting.

Section 174(3) states:

– Where the number of interested directors, i.e., directors who have
invested in the company, exceeds or is equal to two-third of the board
of directors, the number of not interested directors present at the meeting
has to be at least two for the quorum.

Section 174(4) states:

– In the case where the board meeting could take due to the lack of the
quorum, the board meeting shall be adjourned. This is subject to the
Articles of Association of the company. Therefore, as long as the articles
of the company do to state, otherwise the meeting will be adjourned.

– The meeting will be adjourned to the same time and place as the original
meeting on the same day the following week.

– In the case where the adjourned date is a national holiday, then the
board meeting will be held at the same place and time on the following
day.
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4.10 VOTING

The word vote has come from the Latin word votum which means a vow or wish.
Voting means formally expressing pinion or wish in response to a proposed decision
or as an indication of approval or disapproval of a proposal or candidate for
office.

At a meeting voting takes place for both the purposes:
(a) Expressing opinion in favour or disfavour of a proposal and
(b) Choosing a candidate for office. Voting is also known as ascertaining

the sense of the house. House means all the members present taken
together.

Importance of Voting

Importance of voting at a meeting is very great. It is a common feature of a meeting.
The members come to a meeting to exercise their voting rights. On voting, the
entire democratic process of decision-making depends.

The chairman has one of the major responsibilities to see that voting takes
place in the most fair and free manner. The secretary helps the chairman in making
the arrangement for voting and in counting of votes. Unless the voting takes place
in the proper manner, decisions taken at a validly convened and constituted meeting
shall not be bidding on the members.

Features of Voting

1. It is an integral part of a meeting.
2. Every member of in association, company, committee, etc. has his voting

rights. Such rights may, however, vary according to some principles.
For example, in a company, the preference shareholders (if any) have
disproportionate voting rights while the equity shareholders have
proportionate voting rights. The Companies Act provides special rules
with regard to voting right in respect of shares held by trusts to be
exercised by the public trustee (Secs. 153A, 153B and 187B).

3. There are different types of votes.
4. There are different procedures as well as methods of voting.
5. Sometimes, a member loses his voting right. For example, an association

in its bye-laws may provide that a member who has not paid his
subscription for some time shall be debarred from exercising his voting
right.

6. Voting will be effective (generally) provided it takes place when quorum
is present.
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Types of Votes

There are two types of votes:
(a) Deliberative: This is the common type of vote. Every member has the

right of casting his deliberative vote on any issue. Deliberative vote means
the opinion arrived at by an individual after due deliberation or thinking
on the merits and demerits of an issue.

(b) Casting: The bye-laws of an association or the Articles of a company
may provide a special voting right for the chairman. When deliberative
votes have been cast on an issue and votes cast in favor and votes cast
against are equal, there is a deadlock. It is called a ‘tie’. In order to
break the ‘tie’ and to come to a positive or negative decision, the
chairman may exercise his right of casting vote. The chairman, however,
shall use the right very carefully and that in the interest of the institution.
The chairman might have already cast his deliberative vote as a member.
He can exercise his casting vote, if permitted, even though there is a ‘tie’
on voting by poll at a company meeting. The chairman should use the
right of casting vote when there is an urgency and a decision has to be
taken on the issue. Otherwise, if there is a tie the matter may be taken
up again at the next meeting. The chairman should not preferably use the
right of casting vote on an issue of great importance to the association.

4.11 RESOLUTION

Resolution
A resolution is the legal form of a decision taken at a meeting. There are different
types of resolutions. In the case of a meeting of shareholders, it could be an ordinary
or a special resolution. Certain matters of importance are to be resolved by a
postal ballot. Any decision taken with a simple majority at a meeting of shareholders
is called an ordinary resolution. Certain matters of greater importance, such as
amendments to the Articles of Association, fresh issue of capital, etc. can be done
only by passing a special resolution.

Resolution is a corporate action, sometimes in the form of a legal document
that will be voted on or has been voted on at a meeting of the board of directors
for a corporation. The resolution could also be in the form of a “corporate action”
which has the same binding effect as an action taken at a duly called meeting. For
a corporate action, if allowed by state law and by the bye-laws of the corporation,
the board of directors may use a written document to waive formal notice of a
meeting and unanimously consent to a resolution.

The resolution could be on just about any subject. One common subject,
because it is required by banks and securities firms to open accounts, is to define
which individuals are authorized to act on behalf of a corporation. This form of
corporate resolution is also required by title agencies when selling corporate owned
real estate. The form and structure of this document varies depending on the state
in which the corporation is organized.
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Essentials of Resolutions

The essentials to constitute a special resolution are as follows:
(i) Notice to the meeting should state that the resolution shall be passed as

a special resolution.
(ii) A 14-day special notice to be given to all shareholders.
(iii) An explanatory note, stating the circumstances and provisions of law as

to why the resolution should be a special resolution, should be appended
to the notice of the meeting.

(iv) The resolution shall be passed by a majority of not less than 75% of the
members present in person.

(v) Law provides that if an ordinary resolution is passed where a special
resolution is required, it is deemed that no resolution has been passed.

(vi) Any decision to be taken by the board of directors shall be by way of a
board resolution. Board resolution could also be a circular resolution.
A resolution passed by a committee of the directors shall be valid as a
board resolution.

Types of Resolutions

Company decisions are made by passing resolutions. Resolutions are passed both
by the company’s members and by its directors. In either case, resolutions may be
passed at meetings or by written resolution: (1) Member’s Resolutions and
(2) Director’s Resolutions.

1. Member’s Resolutions

There are now just two types of resolution, ordinary resolutions (passed by a
simple majority) and special resolutions (passed by a 75% majority). Two types
of resolution (extraordinary and elective) required in certain circumstances by the
1985 Act have now been abolished, though a company’s articles may still refer to
these.

The Companies Act, 2006 provides

Section 282 – Ordinary Resolutions

1. An ordinary resolution of the members (or of a class of members) of a
company means a resolution that is passed by a simple majority.

2. A written resolution is passed by a simple majority if it is passed by
members representing a simple majority of the total voting rights of eligible
members.

3. A resolution passed at a meeting on a show of hands is passed by a
simple majority if it is passed by members representing a simple majority
of:

(a) the members who, being entitled to do so, vote in person on the
resolution, and
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(b) the persons who vote on the resolution as duly appointed proxies of
members entitled to vote on it.

4. A resolution passed on a poll taken at a meeting is passed by a simple
majority if it is passed by members representing a simple majority of the
total voting rights of members who (being entitled to do so) vote in
person or by proxy on the resolution.

5. Anything that may be done by ordinary resolution may also be done by
special resolution.

Section 283 – Special Resolutions

1. A special resolution of the members (or of a class of members) of a
company means a resolution passed by a majority of not less than 75%.

2. A written resolution is passed by a majority of not less than 75% if it is
passed by members representing not less than 75% of the total voting
rights of eligible members.

3. Where a resolution of a private company is passed as a written
resolution:

(a) the resolution is not a special resolution unless it stated that it was
proposed as a special resolution, and

(b) if the resolution so stated, it may only be passed as a special resolution.
4. A resolution passed at a meeting on a show of hands is passed by a

majority of not less than 75% if it is passed by not less than 75% of:
(a) the members who, being entitled to do so, vote in person on the

resolution, and
(b) the persons who vote on the resolution as duly appointed proxies of

members entitled to vote on it.
5. A resolution passed on a poll taken at a meeting is passed by a majority

of not less than 75% if it is passed by members representing not less
than 75% of the total voting rights of the members who (being entitled to
do so) vote in person or by proxy on the resolution.

6. Where a resolution is passed at a meeting:
(a) the resolution is not a special resolution unless the notice of the meeting

included the text of the resolution and specified the intention to propose
the resolution as a special resolution, and

(b) if the notice of the meeting so specified, the resolution may only be
passed as a special resolution.

2. Director’s Resolutions

At board meetings, there are no different types of resolution (unless, very
exceptionally, the company’s articles specify to the contrary). All resolutions are
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passed by a simple majority. There are no statutory provisions so any rules must
be found in the company’s articles.

Directors to Take Decisions Collectively

1. The general rule about decision-making by directors is that any decision
of the directors must be either a majority decision at a meeting or a
decision taken in accordance with article 8.

2. If — (a) the company only has one director and (b) no provision of the
articles requires it to have more than one director, the general rule does
not apply, and the director may take decisions without regard to any of
the provisions of the articles relating to director’s decision-making.

Unanimous Decisions

1. A decision of the directors is taken in accordance with this article when
all eligible directors indicate to each other by any means that they share
a common view on a matter.

2. Such a decision may take the form of a resolution in writing, copies of
which have been signed by each eligible director or to which each eligible
director has otherwise indicated agreement in writing.

3. References in this article to eligible directors are to directors who would
have been entitled to vote on the matter had it been proposed as a
resolution at a director’s meeting.

4. A decision may not be taken in accordance with this article if the eligible
directors would not have formed a quorum at such a meeting.

Resolution Requiring Special Notice

There are certain matters specified in the Companies Act, 1956 which may be
discussed at a general meeting only if a special notice is given regarding the proposal
to discuss these matters at a meeting. A special notice enables the members to be
prepared on the matter to be discussed and gives them time to indicate their views
on the resolution. In case special notice of resolution is required by the Companies
Act, 1956 or by the articles of a company, the intention to propose such a resolution
must be notified to the company at least 14 days before the meeting. The company
must within 7 days before the meeting gives the notice of the proposed resolution
to its members. Notice of the resolution is required to be given in the same way in
which notice of a meeting is given, or if that is not practicable, the company may
give notice by advertisement in a newspaper having an appropriate circulation or
in any other manner allowed by the articles, not less 7 days before the meeting.
The following matters requiring Special Notice before they are discussed before
the meeting:
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(i) To appoint at an annual general meeting appointing an auditor a person
other than a retiring auditor.

(ii) To resolve at an annual general meeting that a retiring auditor shall not
be reappointed.

(iii) To remove a director before the expiry of his period of office.

(iv) To appoint another director in place of removed director.

(v) Where the articles of a company provide for the giving of a special
notice for a resolution, in respect of any specified matter or matters.

Preparation of Agenda

(Company Name) PRIVATE LIMITED

AGENDA

FOR THE FIRST BOARD MEETING

Date                :

Day                :

Time               :

Venue              : (Address)

Board Members:

1. (Name of the Director) – Director

2. (Name of the Director) – Director

INDEX

Sr. No. Description Page No.

1. Leave of absence, if any

2. To elect the Chairman of the meeting

3. To take note of Certificate of Incorporation issued by
the Registrar of Companies

4. To adopt the common seal of the company

5. To consider for applying Permanent Account Number
for the company

6. To take note of appointment of first directors

7. Taking note of the printing of new stationery and
painting of new name plates as per the requirement of
Section 12(3) of Companies Act, 2013

8. Taking note of the duties of Directors u/s 166 read
with relevant rules of Companies Act, 2013
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10. To authorize Mr. (Name) of keep safe custody of
Statutory Register

11. To discuss about the uniform financial year and pass
necessary Board resolution for change in financial year,
if necessary, as per provisions of Companies Act, 2013

12. To take note of the registered office of the company

13. To appoint first auditors of the company

14. To consider and approve the preliminary expenses
incurred in connection with the incorporation of the
company

15. To consider and authorize for signing of various forms
and returns in electronic mode under digital signatures
in future

16. To authorize an officer of the company to sign the
contracts or any other document or proceedings
requiring authentication by a company as per
Section 21 of Companies Act 2013

17. To take note of the Promoter of the company

18. To consider for opening the current account of the
company in ______________ Bank Limited

19. To register the company under Shops & Establishment
Act in the state of Delhi

20. To consider and approve the format of the Share
Certificate of the company

21. Any other matter with the permission of Chairman

4.12 MINUTES

Minutes of Meeting

The minutes of a meeting are a summarized written record of what occurs, and is
said, at a meeting. They typically describe the events of the meeting, starting with
a list of attendees, a statement of the issues considered by the participants, and
related responses or decisions for the issues.

Minutes may be created during the meeting by a typist or court recorder,
who may use shorthand notation and then prepare the minutes and issue them to
the participants afterwards. Alternatively, the meeting can be audio recorded or a
group’s appointed or informally assigned Secretary may take notes, with minutes
prepared later.
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It is usually important for the minutes to be terse and only include a summary
of discussion and decisions. A verbatim report is typically not useful. The minutes
of certain groups, such as a corporate board of directors, must be kept on file and
are important legal documents. While there is not one universally applied format
for how to document the minutes, the meeting minutes generally consist of the
following information:

(i) Date of the meeting

(ii) Subject or purpose of the meeting

(iii) A list of the attendees (if there is a large organization, then the main
members will be listed)

(iv) Administrative issues discussed and the name of the individual(s)

(v) Concerns/opposition/questions raised by meeting attendees

(vi) Closure

A Minutes book should be maintained separately for meetings of the members
and of the Board of Directors. The Chairman of the meeting should initial each
page of the Minutes book and affix his full signature at the end of each meeting.

Guide for Making an Effective Minutes

The following is a guide for making this task easier:

(i) Make sure that all of the essential elements are noted, such as type of
meeting, name of the organization, date and time, name of the chair or
facilitator, main topics and the time of adjournment. For, formal and
corporate meetings include approval of previous minutes, and all
resolutions.

(ii) Prepare an outline based on the agenda ahead of time, and leave plenty
of white space for notes. By having the topics already written down,
you can jump right on to a new topic without pause.

(iii) Prepare a list of expected attendees and check off the names as people
enter the room. Or, you can pass around an attendance sheet for everyone
to sign as the meeting starts.

(iiv) To be sure about who said what, make a map of the seating arrangement,
and make sure to ask for introductions of unfamiliar people.

(v) Don’t make the mistake of recording every single comment, but
concentrate on getting the gist of the discussion and taking enough notes
to summarize it later. Remember that minutes are the official record of
what happened, not what was said, at a meeting.

(vi) Use whatever device is comfortable for you, a notepad, a laptop
computer, a tape recorder, a steno pad or shorthand. Many people
routinely record important meetings as a backup to their notes.
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(vii) Be prepared! Study the issues to be discussed and ask a lot of questions
ahead of time. If you have to fumble for understanding while you are
making your notes, they won’t make any sense to you later.

(viii) Don’t wait too long to type up the minutes, and be sure to have them
approved by the chair or facilitator before distributing them to the
attendees.

(ix) Don’t be intimidated, you may be called upon many times to take minutes
of meetings, and the ability to produce concise, coherent minutes is
widely admired and valued.

Minutes of Proceedings of Meeting

Every company must keep minutes of the proceedings of general meetings and of
the meetings of board of directors and its committees. The minutes are a record of
the discussions made at the meeting and the final decisions taken thereat.

Every company must keep minutes containing details of all proceedings at
the meetings. The pages of the minute books must be consecutively numbered
and the minutes must be recorded therein within 30 days of the meeting. They
have to be written directly on the numbered pages. Pasting or attaching of papers
is not allowed. Each page of every such minute’s books must be initialed or signed
and last page of the record of proceedings of each meeting in such books must be
dated and signed by:

(i) In the case of the meeting of the Board of Directors or committee thereof,
by the Chairman of that meeting or that of the succeeding meeting, and

(ii) In the case of a general meeting, by the Chairman of the same meeting
within the aforesaid 30 days or in the event of the death or inability of
that Chairman within the period, by a director duly authorized by the
Board of Directors for the purpose.

Check Your Progress

3. Discuss various types of Meeting.
4. Explain the features of Voting.
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4.13 ANSWERS TO ‘CHECK YOUR PROGRESS’

1. Explain various types of Directors.

(i) Managing Director: A managing director or MD is a director of a
company given special powers by its articles of association. MD is
the person at the head of the executive structure of an undertaking
by virtue of his membership of the Board of Directors, or by virtue
of powers delegated to him by that body.

(ii) Whole-time Director: A Whole-time Director is a Director who is
in the whole-time employment of the company, devotes his whole-
time of working hours to the company in question and has a significant
personal interest in the company as his source of income.

(iii) Resident Director: A Residence Director is a specially trained
full-time employee generally responsible for the management and
daily operations of the organization.

(iv) Independent Director: An Independent director is a director of a
board of directors who does not have a material or pecuniary
relationship with company or related persons, except sitting fees.
Independent Directors do not own shares in the company.

2. Discuss important roles of a Director.

Roles of a Director:

(i) Governing the organization by establishing broad policies and
objectives;

(ii) Selecting, appointing, supporting and reviewing the performance of
the chief executive;

(iii) Ensuring the availability of adequate financial resources;

(iv) Approving annual budgets;

(v) Accounting to the stakeholders for the organization’s performance;

(vi) Setting the salaries and compensation of company management.

3. Discuss various types of Meeting.

(i) Statutory Meeting: The first meeting of creditors is called by the
interim trustee to elect a permanent trustee and commissioners. This
meeting is the first meeting of the shareholders of a public company.
It is held once it the life time of any public company. Section 165 of
the Companies Act, states that every company limited by shares or
limited by guarantee and having a share capital must hold a general
meeting of members of the company within a period of not less than
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one month and not more than six months from the date on which the
company becomes entitled to commence business. It is called
‘statutory meeting’ therefore it must be specifically stated in the notice
calling it. It is not necessary for a private company to hold a statutory
meeting.

(ii) Annual General Meeting (AGM): An annual general meeting is
a meeting that official bodies, and associations involving the public
including companies with shareholders, are often required by law.
An annual meeting called by the directors of a company that allow
shareholders to stay informed and involved with company decisions
and workings.

(iii) Extraordinary General Meeting: An Extraordinary General
Meeting, commonly abbreviated as EGM, is a meeting of members
of an organization, shareholders of a company, or employees of an
official body, which occurs at an irregular time.

4. Explain the features of Voting.

(i) It is an integral part of a meeting.

(ii) Every member of in association, company, committee, etc. has his
voting rights. Such rights may, however, vary according to some
principles. For example, in a company the preference shareholders
(if any) have disproportionate voting rights while the equity
shareholders have proportionate voting rights. The Companies Act
provides special rules with regard to voting right in respect of shares
held by trusts to be exercised by the public trustee (Secs. 153A,
153B and 187B).

(iii) There are different types of votes.

(iv) There are different procedures as well as methods of voting.

(v) Sometimes, a member loses his voting right. For example, an
association in its bye-laws may provide that a member who has not
paid his subscription for some time shall be debarred from exercising
his voting right.

(vi) Voting will be effective (generally) provided it takes place when
quorum is present.

4.14 SUMMARY

Company administration is a collection of resources including company filing,
company records, company meetings and the responsibilities of company
secretaries. The duty of an administrator depends on the company that the
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administrator works for. However, general skills exist that apply to most
administrators across varied organizations. The Board of Directors entrust
the day-to-day management of the company to a chief executive, who may
be a managing director or manager, and delegate to him the necessary
powers. The managing director or manager is the chief executive of the
company. He exercises the powers given to him under the articles and carries
out the duties entrusted to him by the Board of Directors.

A managing director or MD is a director of a company given special powers
by its articles of association. MD is the person at the head of the executive
structure of an undertaking by virtue of his membership of the Board of
Directors, or by virtue of powers delegated to him by that body.

A Whole-time Director is a Director who is in the whole-time employment
of the company, devotes his whole-time of working hours to the company
in question and has a significant personal interest in the company as his
source of income.

Company secretary is a person who is a member of the Institute of the
Company Secretaries of India or any other individual possessing the
prescribed qualifications, appointed to perform the duties imposed on him
by the Companies Act, the ministerial or administrative duties and managerial
functions that are delegated to him by the Board.

The chief financial officer (CFO) or chief financial and operating officer
(CFOO) is a corporate officer primarily responsible for managing the financial
risks of the corporation. This officer is also responsible for financial planning
and record-keeping, as well as financial reporting to higher management.

A Residence Director is a specially trained full-time employee generally
responsible for the management and daily operations of the organization.

An Independent director is a director of a board of directors who does not
have a material or pecuniary relationship with company or related persons,
except sitting fees. Independent Directors do not own shares in the company.

A meeting is a gathering of two or more people that has been convened for
the purpose of achieving a common goal through verbal interaction, such as
sharing information or reaching agreement. Meetings may occur face-to-
face or virtually, as mediated by communications technology, such as a
telephone conference call, a skipped conference call or a video conference.

Thus, a meeting may be distinguished from other gatherings, such as a chance
encounter, a sports game or a concert, a party or the company of friends
and a demonstration whose common goal is achieved mainly through the
number of demonstrators present, not verbal interaction and the consumption
of doughnuts.
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Meeting refers to a formal or informal deliberative assembly of individuals
called to debate certain issues and problems, and to take decisions. Formal
meetings are held at definite times, at a definite place, and usually for a
definite duration to follow an agreed upon agenda. It is a gathering of two
or more persons who come together for important discussion and decision
on lawful matters.

The first meeting of creditors is called by the interim trustee to elect a
permanent trustee and commissioners. This meeting is the first meeting of
the shareholders of a public company. It is held once it the lifetime of any
public company. Section 165 of the Companies Act, states that every
company limited by shares or limited by guarantee and having a share capital
must hold a general meeting of members of the company within a period of
not less than one month and not more than six months from the date on
which the company becomes entitled to commence business. An annual
general meeting is a meeting that official bodies, and associations involving
the public including companies with shareholders, are often required by
law. An annual meeting called by the directors of a company that allow
shareholders to stay informed and involved with company decisions and
workings.

An Extraordinary General Meeting, commonly abbreviated as EGM, is a
meeting of members of an organization, shareholders of a company, or
employees of an official body, which occurs at an irregular time.

Notice is a legal communication about the day, date, time and venue of the
meeting. Under Company law, there should be a 21 days clear notice to
hold a meeting of the members of the company, whereas a seven-day notice
is required to hold a meeting of the board of directors. In the case of joint
holders, notice is sent to the address of the first joint holder. The company
is not obliged to send notices to other joint holders. Under certain
circumstances, the members may decide for a notice of less than 21 days
also. The onus on the company is to send the notice, (normally by ordinary
post). It is not necessary for the company to ensure that the same is received
by the member.

Agenda refers to the business to be transacted at the meeting. In the case of
meeting of members, there would be a few matters to be discussed.
Therefore, the agenda is built into the notice itself.

The agenda for a meeting of shareholders could be ordinary business or
special business. The agenda for an annual general meeting is well set. The
agenda for other meetings is to be drafted to cover the points to be discussed.

Quorum refers to the minimum number of members who must be present at
a meeting in order to constitute a valid meeting. A meeting without the
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minimum quorum is invalid and decisions taken at such a meeting are not
binding. The articles of a company may provide for a quorum without which
a meeting will be construed to be invalid. Unless the articles of a company
provide for larger quorum, 5 members personally present (not by proxy) in
the case of a public company and 2 members personally present (not by
proxy) in the case of a private company shall be the quorum for a general
meeting of a company.

The minutes of a meeting are a summarized written record of what occurs,
and is said, at a meeting. They typically describe the events of the meeting,
starting with a list of attendees, a statement of the issues considered by the
participants, and related responses or decisions for the issues.

A resolution is the legal form of a decision taken at a meeting. There are
different types of resolutions. In the case of a meeting of shareholders, it
could be an ordinary or a special resolution. Certain matters of importance
are to be resolved by a postal ballot. Any decision taken with a simple
majority at a meeting of shareholders is called an ordinary resolution. Certain
matters of greater importance, such as amendments to the Articles of
Association, fresh issue of capital, etc. can be done only by passing a special
resolution.

4.15 KEY TERMS

Company Administration: Company administration is a collection of
resources that including company filing, company records, company meetings
and the responsibilities of company secretaries. The duty of an administrator
depends on the company that the administrator works for.

Managing Director: A managing director or MD is a director of a company
given special powers by its articles of association. MD is the person at the
head of the executive structure of an undertaking by virtue of his membership
of the Board of Directors, or by virtue of powers delegated to him by that
body.

Whole-time Directors: A Whole-time Director is a Director who is in the
whole-time employment of the company, devotes his whole-time of working
hours to the company in question and has a significant personal interest in
the company as his source of income.

Resident Director: A Residence Director is a specially trained full time
employee generally responsible for the management and daily operations of
the organization.

Independent Director: An Independent Director is a director of a board
of directors who does not have a material or pecuniary relationship with
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company or related persons, except sitting fees. Independent Directors do
not own shares in the company.

Company Meetings: A meeting is a gathering of two or more people that
has been convened for the purpose of achieving a common goal through
verbal interaction, such as sharing information or reaching agreement.
Meetings may occur face-to-face or virtually, as mediated by communications
technology, such as a telephone conference call, a skipped conference call
or a video conference.

Meeting: Meeting refers to a formal or informal deliberative assembly of
individuals called to debate certain issues and problems, and to take
decisions. Formal meetings are held at definite times, at a definite place,
and usually for a definite duration to follow an agreed upon agenda.

Annual General Meeting (AGM): An annual general meeting is a meeting
that official bodies, and associations involving the public including companies
with shareholders, are often required by law. An annual meeting called by
the directors of a company that allow shareholders to stay informed and
involved with company decisions and workings.

Extraordinary General Meeting: An Extraordinary General Meeting,
commonly abbreviated as EGM, is a meeting of members of an organization,
shareholders of a company, or employees of an official body, which occurs
at an irregular time.

Notice: Notice is a legal communication about the day, date, time and
venue of the meeting. Under Company law, there should be a 21 days clear
notice to hold a meeting of the members of the company, whereas a seven-
day notice is required to hold a meeting of the board of directors. In the
case of joint holders, notice is sent to the address of the first joint holder.
The company is not obliged to send notices to other joint holders.

Agenda: Agenda refers to the business to be transacted at the meeting. In
the case of meeting of members, there would be a few matters to be
discussed. Therefore, the agenda is built into the notice itself.

Quorum: Quorum refers to the minimum number of members who must be
present at a meeting in order to constitute a valid meeting. A meeting without
the minimum quorum is invalid and decisions taken at such a meeting are
not binding.

Resolution: Resolution is the legal form of a decision taken at a meeting.
There are different types of resolutions. In the case of a meeting of
shareholders, it could be an ordinary or a special resolution. Certain matters
of importance are to be resolved by a postal ballot.
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4.16 SELF-ASSESSMENT QUESTIONS AND
EXERCISES

Short Answer Questions

1. Who is a director?

2. Who is Board of Director?

3. Give the meaning of Managing director.

4. What whole-time director?

5. Who is chief financial officer?

6. Who is resident director?

7. Who is independent director?

8. Give the meaning of meeting.

9. Define the term meeting.

10. What is statutory meeting?

11. What is annual general meeting?

12. What is extraordinary meeting?

13. What is resolution?

14. What is quorum?

Long Answer Questions

1. Discuss the role of Director.

2. State the powers of Board of Directors.

3. Discuss the duties of Board of Directors.

4. State the responsibilities of Board of Directors.

5. State the powers of Managing Director.

6. Mention the duties of Managing Director.

7. Explain the appointment procedure of Directors.

8. Discuss the duties of Secretary.

9. Explain the powers, duties and responsibilities of Managing Director.

10. Discuss the requisites of a valid meeting.

11. Explain the duties and powers of Chairman of company meeting.

12. Discuss the purposes of statutory meeting.

13. Discuss the requisition of extraordinary general meeting.

14. Explain the essentials of resolution.
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5.0 INTRODUCTION

Winding up of company is the process in which the company ceases to exist
anymore as a legal unit and its possessions are managed in order to discharge the
claims of its creditors and members. A supervisor, called liquidator, is appointed
and he takes the charge of the company, liquidates its assets, payoff its debts and
distributes the surplus if any among the members in accordance as per respective
their claims. In the words of Pennington, “winding up or liquidation is the process
which the management of company’s affairs is taken out of its director’ hands, its
assets are realized by a liquidator a then its debts and liabilities are discharged out
the proceeds of realization and any surplus of assets remaining is returned to its
members or shareholders. At the end of the winding up of the company will have
no assets or liabilities and it will therefore be simply a formal step for it to be
dissolved that is for its legal personality as a corporation to be brought to an end.”

A company carries out its business under the regulations of the Act, needs
to follow the provisions of the act and work as per the memorandum and articles
of association of the company. It has to act in accordance with the interests of its
owners, creditors and the public. If the company over look any of the provisions
of the act, it can cause winding up of the company. A company may have to face
winding up under many circumstances. The company may be wound up either by
a tribunal or voluntarily by the members of the company. An unproductive or a
sick or probably sick company can file a petition for voluntary winding up of
company. The company must ask for permission for closure from the government.
A company referred to the Board of Financial and Industrial Reconstruction can
be wound up after the order is passed by the board. Once the amount final
settlement (assets minus liabilities) is determined, the permission of RBI is taken to
make the final settlement to the owners of the company.
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5.1 OBJECTIVES

After going through this unit, you will be able to:
Explain the majority powers and minority rights.
Describe the prevention of oppression and mismanagement.
Discuss the winding up of companies.
Examine the types and methods winding up of companies.

5.2 MAJORITY POWERS AND MINORITY
RIGHTS

In corporate world, all democratic choices and control of an organization are
made with the majority rule that is deemed to be truthful and justified. The majority
rule of decision-making, quite often than not overlooks the views of minority
shareholders. Majority power has exquisite importance in the running of a
corporation and the Courts will now not generally interfere at the instance of the
shareholder in matters of internal management.

It follows that the general public of the participants enjoy the splendid
authority to exercising the powers of the organization and commonly to govern its
affairs and the minority shareholders must concede to most people choice. This,
however, may result in a opportunity that the individuals having majority vote may
additionally have a tendency to be oppressive towards the minority shareholders
misusing their majority strength.

To overcome this problem faced by the minority, the Companies Act, 2013
came up with the solution to tackle the problems which are usually faced by the
minority shareholders.

Majority Powers
According to section 47 of the Companies Act, 2013, holding any equity shares
shall have a proper to vote in respect of such capital on every decision placed
before the company. Member’s proper to vote is recognized because the proper
of assets and the shareholder can also workout it as he thinks in shape consistent
with his interest and preference. A special resolution requires a majority of 3/4th
of these votes at the meeting. Consequently, wherein the act or the articles require
a unique resolution for any cause, a 3/4th majority is important and a simple majority
isn’t sufficient. The resolution of a majority of shareholders handed at a duly
convened and held general meeting, upon any question with which the business
enterprise is legally competent to deal, is binding upon the minority and consequently
upon the company.

The Principle of Non-Interference (Rule in Foss v. Harbottle)
The principle that the will of the majority should prevail over the will of the minority
in matters of internal administration of the company was founded in the case of
Foss v. Harbottle which is today known as the rule in Foss v. Harbottle.
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According to this principle, the courts will not intervene at the instance of
the shareholders, in the management of a company it directs so long as they are
acting within the powers conferred on them by the articles of the company.

In nutshell, the company cannot confirm, any act which is ultra vires the
company or illegal, any act which is fraud on the minority, any act passed with
simple majority which requires special majority, any wrong act done by those who
are in control, any act infringes the personal membership rights, any act which
amounts to breach of duty by directors, any act which amounts to oppression of
minority or mismanagement of the company.

Minority Rights

Many provisions of Companies Act, 2013 deals with the situations where minority
shareholders rights have been protected and the same can be divided into various
major heads.

The protection for the minority shareholders from oppression and
mismanagement have been provided under section 397 (an application to be made
to company law board for relief in cases of oppression) and section 398 (an
application to be made to company law board for relief in cases of oppression).

Therefore, right to apply to the company board for the oppression and
mismanagement is provided under the section 399 that is, meeting 10% of
shareholding or hundred members or one-fifth member’s limit. However, relevant
government under their discretionary powers has allowed any numbers of
shareholders to apply for the company board for the relief under Sections 397
and 398, whereas, on the other hand, under Companies Act, 2013, the relief from
the oppression and mismanagement has been provided under Sections 241-246.

In addition, under section 245 of Companies Act, 2013, the new concept
of class action has been introduced which was non-existent in Companies Act,
wherein it provides for class movement suits to be instituted against the company
as well as towards the auditors of the company.

Protection of Minority Shareholders – Steps Taken by Companies

Piggy Backing – This provision states that if the majority sells their shares then
the minority shareholder right has to be included in the deal. Moreover, “Piggy
Backing” requires the party to consider the purchase of the business to sell 100%
of the outstanding shares to ensure the compulsory provisions of the minority
shareholders.

5.3 PREVENTION OF OPPRESSION AND
MISMANAGEMENT

According to Lord Keith, “Oppression means, lack of morality and fair dealings in
the affairs of the company which may be prejudicial to some members of the
company”.

The term mismanagement refers to the process or practice of managing
ineptly, incompetently, or dishonestly.
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However, it is to be noted that the terms are not defined under the Companies
Act and is left to the discretion of the court to decide on the facts of the case
whether there is oppression or mismanagement of minority or not.

Instances Which Can be Termed as Mismanagement
1. Preventing directors from functioning
2. Violations of statutory provisions
3. Violations of provisions of MoA and AoA of the company
4. Misuse of funds, etc.
A company is a distinct entity separate from the owners of the company

where management and ownership is separated by a thin line of roles and
responsibilities bestowed upon themselves. In a broad sense it is a group of persons
who have come together or who have contributed money for some common
purpose and have incorporated themselves into distinct legal entity. The whole
scheme of the Companies Act is to ensure proper conduct of the affairs of the
company in public interest and preservation of image of country in public interest.

The section which covers oppression and mismanagement is 241 of
Companies Act, 2013 and Chapter XVI which corresponds to a clubbed section
of 397 and 398.

As India is a democratic country, the companies being a legal citizen also
bestow in itself the power of democracy. Corporate democracy is more vulnerable
to it because it is reckoned with the number of shares and not with number of
individuals involved. The rule of majority has been made applicable to the
management of the affairs of the company. The members pass resolution on various
subjects either by simple or three-fourth majority. Once resolution is passed by
majority, it is binding on all members. As a result, court will not ordinarily intervene
to protect the minority interest affected by resolution. However, there are exceptions
to this rule – Prevention of Oppression and mismanagement being one such ground.

Hence, it is to be noted that this section can be invoked whenever there is
oppression of the minority or there is mismanagement of the affairs of a company
which is prejudicial to the public interest or to the interest of the company and its
members. Thus, where a director is oppressed he does not have remedy under
this section unless he is also a shareholder of the company. This section also specifies
the circumstances in which an application may be made to the Tribunal by an
member of a company or by the central Government for relief in cases of oppression
and mismanagement.

Check Your Progress

1. Discuss about Majority Powers and Minority Rights.
2. Explain about the Prevention of Oppression and Mismanagement.
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5.4 WINDING UP OF COMPANIES

Meaning of Winding Up

Winding up of a company is a process of putting an end to the life of a company.
It is a proceeding by means of which a company is dissolved and in the course of
such a dissolution its assets are collected, its debts are paid off out of the assets of
the company or from contributions by its members, if necessary. If any surplus is
left, it is distributed among the members in accordance with their rights.

Definition of Winding Up

The process of selling all the assets of a business, paying off creditors, distributing
any remaining assets to the principals or parent company, and then dissolving the
business. Winding up can refer to such a process either for a specific business line
of a corporation or to the dissolution of a corporation itself.

5.5 TYPES AND METHODS

There are three modes of winding up of a company. These are:
(A) Compulsory winding up by the court.
(B) Voluntary winding up.
(C) Winding up under the supervision of the court.

(A) Winding Up by Court

A company may be wound up by an order of the court. This is called compulsory
winding up. Section 433 lays down the following grounds for the winding up of a
company by the court.

1. Special Resolution of the Company
If the company has by a special resolution resolved, then it may be wound up by
the court. The power of the court in such a case is discretionary. The court may
refuse to order winding up where it is opposed to public or company’s interest.

2. Default in Holding Statutory Meeting
If a company makes a default in delivering the statutory report to the registrar or in
holding the statutory meeting, the court may order winding up of the company
either on the petition of the register or on the petition of the contributory. The
petition for winding up must not be filed before the expiration of 14 days after the
last day on which the statutory meeting ought to have been held. However, the
court may instead of making a winding up order, direct the statutory report shall
be delivered or that meeting shall be held.

3. Failure to Commence or Suspension of Business
Where a company does not commence its business within a year from its
incorporation, or suspends its business for a whole year, the court may order for
its winding up. The power of the court is discretionary and will be exercised only
where there is a fair indication that the company has no intension to carry on the
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business. Where the suspension of the business is temporary or can be satisfactorily
accounted for, the court will refuse to make an order. A company will not be
wound up if it abandons one of its several businesses, unless that business is the
main object of the company.

4. Reduction of Members below Minimum

Where the number of members is reduced below 7 in the case of public company
and below 2 in case of a private company, the court may order the winding up of
the company. This provision is for the protection of existing members against
unlimited liability.

5. Inability to Pay Debts
The court may order for the winding up of a company if it is unable to pay its
debts. The basis of an order for winding up under this clause is that the company
has ceased to be commercially solvent, i.e., it is unable to meet its current demands,
although the assets when realized may exceed its liabilities. According to Section
434 of the Act, a company shall be deemed to be unable to pay its debts in the
following cases:

(a) If a creditor to whom the company owes a sum of ̀  500 or more has
served on the company a notice for payment and the company has for
three weeks neglected to pay or otherwise satisfy him. But where the
company bonafide disputes the debt and the court is satisfied with the
defense of the company, the court will not order for its winding up.

(b) If execution or other process issued on a decree or order of any court in
favor of a creditor is returned unsatisfied in whole or in part.

(c) If it is proved to the satisfaction of the court that the company is unable
to pay its debts and in determining whether a company is unable to pay
its debts, the court will take into account the contingent and the
prospective liabilities of the company. What has to be proved under this
clause is not whether the company’s assets exceed its liabilities, but
whether it is unable to meet its current demands. If a company is unable
to meet its current liabilities, it is commercially insolvent and liable to be
bound up.

6. Just and Equitable

The last ground on which the court can order the winding up of a company is
when the court is of the opinion that it is just and equitable that the company
should be wound up. This clause gives the court a very wide power to order
winding up wherever the court considers it just and equitable to do. The court will
consider such grounds to wind up a company for just and equitable reasons as are
not covered by the preceding fie clauses.

The following are the instances where the courts have exercised their
discretion under this clause:

(i) Where there is a deadlock in the management.
(ii) Where it is impossible to carry on the business of the company except

at a loss.
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(iii) Where the company has ceased to carry on its authorized business and
is engaged in an illegal business.

(iv) Where the object for which the company is formed is impossible of
further pursuit.

(v) Where the minority is being disregarded or oppressed.
(vi) Where there is lack of confidence in directors.
(vii) Where a company has been conceived and brought forth in fraud.

Cases

1. Madhusudan Gordhard & Co. v. Madhu Woollen Industries (P) Ltd.
(1972) 42 Omp. Case 125
When a sum is due, it cannot be said to be ‘debt’. The expression ‘sum due’ as
referred to in Sec. 434 (1)(a) must mean what has fructified and cannot merely be
a contingent liability or deferred payment. If the liability has not fructified within 21
days from the date of service of statutory notice, it cannot be said to be a ‘debt’
which company is unable to pay in order that the court could find a justification for
winding up the company. Therefore, the justification for applying for winding up
the company will have to be seen whether the debt has become payable on the
date when the statutory notice was issued or any time after receipt within twenty
one days from the date of demand.

2. Priyaraj Electronics Ltd. v. Motorola India (P) Ltd. (2009) 93 CLA
(Snr.) 1 (P&H)?

The machinery for winding up of a company cannot be allowed to be utilized
merely as a means for realizing debts due from a company and if the debt is
bonafide dispute and the defense is a substantial one, the court will not wind up the
company.

3. Windson International v. HM Electricals (P) Ltd. (2009) 93 CLA
(Snr.) 2 (Ori)?

From the above discussions, it is clear that, an order of winding up under Sec.
433(e) is a discretionary one and the machinery for winding up should be allowed
to be utilized as a means for realizing debts due from the company and if that debt
is bonafide disputed and the defense is a substantial one, the court will not wind up
the company.

(B) Voluntary Winding Up

A company may, voluntary wind up its affairs, if it is unable to carry on its business
or if it was formed only for a limited purpose or if it is unable to meet its financial
obligation, etc. A company may voluntary wind up itself under any of the two
modes:

1. Member’s voluntary winding up
2. Creditor’s voluntary winding up
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1. Member’s Voluntary Winding Up

Liquidation of a solvent firm by adoption of a resolution for voluntary winding up of
the business by its shareholders who also choose and appoint the liquidator. Since it
is not an insolvency procedure, it requires a statutory declaration of solvency by the
firm’s Board of Directors. Although the involvement of a court is not required, a
qualified liquidator must be appointed after the resolution. If it is discovered that the
firm’s assets will not be sufficient to cover its debts, the unsecured creditors can take
charge of the liquidation process which is then termed a compulsory liquidation.
Also called member’s voluntary winding up or just voluntary winding up.

Directors of the company shall call for a Board of Directors Meeting, and
make a declaration of winding up, accompanied by an affidavit, stating that:

(a) The company has no debts to pay or
(b) The company will repay its debts if any, within 3 years from the

commencement of winding up, as specified in declaration (488).
(i) What is a member’s voluntary winding up?
This is the process of winding up a solvent company. It is done when the members
no longer wish to retain the company structure. There can be a number of reasons
for the members wanting to do this, but usually it is because the company has
reached the end of its useful life? If the company is wound up at a meeting of its
members, it is called a voluntary winding up. If the company is solvent when it is
wound up, it is a called member’s voluntary winding up.
(ii) Why choose a member's voluntary winding up?
This is the only process for fully winding up the affairs of a solvent company. It
ensures that outstanding creditors are paid in full and protects the members’ interests
while the company structure is dismantled and any surplus assets are distributed
to its members.
(iii) When is a company solvent?
Usually, a company is only considered solvent if it can pay all of its debts as and
when they fall due? This strict definition does not apply to member’s voluntary
winding up. A company is deemed solvent if it will be able to pay its creditors
within 12 months after the appointment. The liquidator must convert the members’
voluntary winding up to a creditor’s voluntary winding up if they form the opinion
that all creditors will not be paid in full within that 12 month period

(iv) Who shall carry out the winding up procedure? And what shall be
the procedure?

The company shall appoint one or more liquidators, in a general meeting, who
shall look after the affair of winding up procedure, and distribution of assets [Sec.
490(1)].

The liquidator so appointed, shall be paid remuneration for his services,
which shall also be fixed in general meeting [Sec. 490(2)].

The company shall also give notice of appointment of liquidator to the
registrar within ten days of appointment [Sec. 493].
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Once the company has appointed liquidator, the powers of Board of
Directors, Managing Director and Manager shall cease to exist [Sec. 491].

The liquidator is generally given a free hand, to carry out the winding up
procedure, in such a manner, as he thinks best in the interest of creditors and
company.

In case, the winding up procedure, takes more than one year, then liquidator
will have to call a general meeting, at the end of each year and he shall present, a
complete account of the procedure and position of liquidator [Sec. 496].

(v) When affairs of company are fully wound up?

The liquidator shall take the following steps, when affairs of the company are fully
wound up:

Call a general meeting of the members of the company, a lay before it,
complete picture of accounts, winding up procedure and how the properties of
company are disposed of.

The meeting shall be called by advertisement, specifying the time, place and
object of the meeting.

The liquidator shall send to, the Registrar and official Liquidator copy of
account, within one week of the meeting.

If from the report, official liquidator comes to the conclusion, that affairs of
the company are not being carried in manner prejudicial to the interest of its members
or public, then the company shall be deemed to be dissolved from the date of
report to the court.

However, if official liquidator comes to a finding, that affair have been carried
in a manner prejudicial to interest of member or public, then court may direct the
liquidator to investigate furthers

2. Creditor’s Voluntary Winding Up

Where the resolution for winding up has been passed, but the Board of Directors
are not in a position to give a declaration on the liability of company, they may call
a meeting of creditors, for the purpose of winding up [Sec. 500].

It is the duty of Board of Directors, to present a full statement of company’s
affairs, and list of creditors along with their dues, before the meeting of creditors
[Sec. 500(3)].

Whatever resolution, the company passes in creditor's meeting, shall be
given to the Registrar within ten days of its passing [Sec. 501].

(i) Who shall carry out the winding up procedure? And what shall be the
procedure?

Company in the general meeting in which resolution for winding up is passed and
the creditors in their meeting, appoint liquidator. They may either agree on one
liquidator, or if two names are suggested, then liquidator appointed by creditor
shall act [Sec. 502].

Any director, member or creditor may approach the court, for direction
that:
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1. Liquidator appointed in general meeting shall act, or
2. He shall act jointly with liquidator appointed by creditor, or
3. Appointing official liquidator, or
4. Some other person to be appointed as liquidator [Sec. 502(2)]
The remuneration of liquidator shall be fixed by the creditors, or by the

court [Sec. 504].
On appointment of liquidator, all the power of Board of Directors shall

cease [Sec. 505].
In case the winding up procedure takes more than one year, then he will

have to call a general meeting, and meeting of creditors, at the end of each year
and he shall present, a complete account of the procedure and the status/position
of liquidation [Sec. 505].

(C) Winding Up under the Supervision of the Court

Winding up subject to supervision of court, is different from “Winding up by court”.
Here, the court only supervises the winding up procedure. Resolution for winding
up is passed by members in the general meeting. It is only for some specific reasons,
that court may supervise the winding up proceedings. The court may put up some
special terms and conditions also.

However, liberty is granted to creditors, contributories or other to apply to
court for some relief [Sec. 522].

The court may also appoint liquidators, in addition to already appointed, or
remove any such liquidator. The court may also appoint the official liquidator, as a
liquidator to fill up the vacancy.

Liquidator is entitled to do all such things and acts, as he thinks best in the
interest of company. He shall enjoy the same powers, as if the company is being
wound up voluntarily.

The court also may exercise powers to enforce calls made by the liquidators,
and such other powers, as if an order has been made for winding up the company
altogether by court.
Dissolution by Winding Up by or Under Supervision of Court

1. The foregoing provisions of this Part of this Act shall have effect without
prejudice to the operation of this section or of any other enactment
under which societies can be wound up.

2. A society may be dissolved by winding up, either voluntarily subject to
the supervision of the Court or by the Court, if the Court so orders, on
the petition of any member authorized by special resolution to present
the petition on behalf of the society.

3. A society may be dissolved by winding up by the Court, if the Court so
orders, on the petition of any judgment creditor for a sum exceeding.

4. A society may be dissolved by winding up by the Court, if the Court so
orders, on the petition of the Registrar acting in the exercise of any
power conferred on him by any provision of this Act.
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5. Subject to the provisions of this Act and of any regulations made
thereunder, a society shall be deemed for the purposes of any winding
up under this section to be a company, and the provisions of the
Companies Act, 1955 relating to the winding up of companies, so far as
they are applicable and with the necessary modifications, shall apply
accordingly.

6. Where in the exercise of any power conferred by this Act the Registrar
presents a petition for the winding up of a society under the Companies
Act, 1955, the Court may, if it thinks fit, having regard to the interests of
those members of the society (if any) who were not responsible for the
relevant default, and to all the other circumstances, refuse to make an
order for winding up, and may make its refusal subject to any conditions.

7. The conditions that the Court may impose under subsection (6) of this
section, or under section 250 of the Companies Act, 1955 (which
authorizes the Court to stay proceedings after the making of an order
for winding up), may include conditions for ensuring:
(a) That the society be dissolved under section 114 or section 115 of

this Act; or
(b) That the society unite under section 32 of this Act with another society

or that it transfer its engagements to another society under section
33 of this Act and may also include conditions for ensuring that the
relevant default be made good and that the costs of the proceedings
on the petition be defrayed by the person or persons responsible for
that default.

8. In this section, the expression “the relevant default”, in relation to a
petition for winding up, means the default that was the occasion of the
petition being presented.

Commencement of Winding Up

The Companies Act, 1956 provides for Winding up of the company. The winding
up may be voluntary winding up or winding up under supervision of the Court. The
voluntary winding up may be members voluntary winding up or creditors voluntary
winding up.

The procedure for members voluntary Winding up under Section 484 of the
Companies Act, 1956 (“hereinafter called the Act”) is given below:

1. First to convene a Board Meeting, the directors have to make a Declaration
of Solvency in Form 149 of the Companies (Court) Rules and forms
under section 488 of the Act in a non-judicial stamp paper of requisite
value along with a duly verified affidavit which should be signed by two
directors or a majority of them. A statement of assets and liabilities at
estimated realizable values as on the date of Declaration of Solvency should
also be prepared and signed as above. The Declaration should be
accompanied by an audited Balance Sheet and Profit and Loss Account
as on nearest practicable date before date of declaration along with
Auditor’s Report. The Form 149 and affidavit should be duly notarized
and e-Form 62 to be filed with Declaration of Solvency with RoC, the
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time limit for such filing being 5 weeks before the date of passing of the
Special Resolution for winding up in a general meeting of members.

2. Next, the company has to pass at its General Meeting a Special
Resolution called Resolution for Voluntary Winding Up and appointment
of Liquidator(s).

3. To publish a public notice regarding voluntary winding up (Sec. 485)
and the appointment of liquidator(s) and fix their remuneration.

4. Publication of text of Special Resolution and Form 151 (Notice of
appointment of Liquidator) in the Official Gazette and in two newspapers
circulating in the district, where the registered office of the company is
situated – one in English and another in regional language. Though the Act
does not stipulate two papers, this has been the normal existing practice.
This is required to be made within 14 days of passing of Special Resolution.

5. Form 23 to be filed for Special Resolution passed and Liquidator
appointment 30 days.

6. Form 62 category – Intimation of Liquidator appointment – Sec. 493,
10 days from appointment.

7. Form 62 – Form 152 – Intimation by Liquidator – 30 days from
appointment date.

8. In the above forms, Gazette notice copy, newspaper cuttings, EGM
notice, true copy of SR passed have to be attached.

9. To obtain a Statement of Affairs of the Company in Form 57 duly verified
by Affidavit in Form 58 from the Directors within 21 days of
commencement of winding up to the liquidator.

The statement of affairs primarily includes:
1. Details of assets, liabilities and debts due to the company. A liquidator

to take steps determines the creditors/liabilities of the company and
discharges the same out of the funds available with the company and to
call for a General Meeting to do the process of collection from assets
and payments to creditors.

2. The liquidator is then required to do the following things namely speedy
realization of assets, preparation of list of creditors, admission of proof,
statement of list of contributories, making of such calls as are necessary,
payment to secured creditors of costs including the liquidator’s own
remuneration, payment of preferential claims and distribution of surplus after
meeting all the claims of creditors and after adjusting all rights and claims.

3. The Liquidator to intimate about the commencement of liquidation
process of the company to the Income Tax Department under section
178 of the Income Tax Act, 1961.

4. The liquidator has to file various forms under The Companies (Court)
Rules, 1959 in connection with member’s voluntary winding up with
RoC in Form 62 electronically. The details of the forms are given below
which are to be filed before final meeting are:
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(a) Form 149 – Declaration of Solvency – Statement of Assets and
Liabilities.

(b) Form 152 – Notice of appointment of Liquidator.

After Commencement of Winding Up
1. Liquidator to realize all assets and pay of all liabilities possible and

distribute the available surplus to all existing members proportionately.
2. If winding up extends beyond one year of passing Special Resolution,

Liquidator to file the following returns:
(i) Form 153 – Statement of Accounts to be filed only if winding up is

not completed within a year.
(ii) Form 154 – Affidavit verifying the account – only if required, Form

153 is filed.

Final Meeting

After winding up is completed, the liquidator should convene final meeting of
members to lay Liquidation Account to dispose of books and accounts and to
explain the winding up procedure to the members. Advertisement about the meeting
shall be published not less than one month before the meeting in the Official Gazette
and also in some newspaper circulating in the district where the registered office of
the company is situated (Sec. 497).

1. Form 155 – Notice for convening final meeting: To be published both in
Official Gazette and two newspapers – English and regional language –
at least 30 days before final meeting.

2. Form 156 – Liquidator to prepare Statement of Account of the Winding
up – Member’s voluntary winding up: Liquidator to hold the final meeting
of members.

After Final Meeting
1. Form 62 – Form 156.
2. Form 62 – Form 157 – Return of Winding up.
3. Form 23 – Resolutions passed at the final meeting along with minutes of

meeting.
4. In the above forms, Gazette notice copy and newspaper cuttings have

to be attached.
5. Liquidator has a duty in accordance with Section 496 of the Act to call

a General Meeting at the end of each year.
6. To submit documents, books and accounts to Official Liquidator for

verification.
7. Official Liquidator has to verify the statements and submit his report to

the court.
8. The High Court will issue the order for liquidation of the company.
9. To file copy of order of High Court in Form 21 with RoC within 30 days

from the receipt of order from the High Court and with this the liquidation
process is over.
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10. To check the status of the company in MCA to find out and confirm the
status of the company is changed to liquidated.

Consequences of Winding Up Order
The consequences of winding up by the Court are as follows:

1. Intimation to Official Liquidator and Registrar (Sec. 444): Where
the Court makes an order for the winding up of a company, it shall
intimate the Official Liquidator and the Registrar regarding the order of
winding up.

2. Copy of winding up order should be filed with the Registrar [Secs.
455(1)(1A) and (2)1]: Once the winding up order is made, it is the
duty of the petitioner and of the company to file within 30 days a certified
copy of the order with the Registrar.

3. Order for winding up as a notice of discharge [Sec. 455(3)]: The
order for winding up shall be treated as a notice of discharge to the
officers and employees of the company, until otherwise the company is
continue to carry on its business. In the case of an employee who works
for the company on contract basis, he is eligible for damages due to
wrongful discharge if the company received winding up order before
the expiry of such a contract.

4. Suits stayed [Sec. 446(1)]: When a winding up order has been made,
no suit or other legal proceeding shall be commenced against the
company except by leave of the Court. Similarly, pending suits shall not
be proceeded with except by leave of the Court.

5. Powers of the Court [Secs. 446(2) and (3)]: The Court which is winding
up the company shall have jurisdiction to entertain or dispose of:
(i) any suit or proceeding by or against the company;
(ii) any claim made or against the company;
(iii) any application made under section 391 for compromise with

creditors and/or members;
(iv) any question of priorities or any other question whatsoever, whether

of law or fact, which may relate to or arise in course of the winding
up of the company.

6. Effect of winding up order (Sec. 447): An order for winding up a
company shall operate in favor of all the creditors and of all the
contributories of the company as if it had been made on their joint petition.

7. Official Liquidator to be Liquidator (Sec. 449): On a winding up
order being made in respect of a company, the Official Liquidator shall,
by virtue of his office, become the liquidator of the company.

Consequences of Voluntary Winding Up
1. A voluntary winding up shall be deemed to commence from the date or

the passing of the resolution to that effect (Sec. 486).
2. From the commencement of voluntary winding up, the company ceases

to carry on its business, except so far as may be required for the beneficial
winding up thereof (Sec. 487).
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3. The possession of the assets of the company vests in the liquidator for
realization and distribution among the creditors. The corporate state
and powers of the company shall, however, continue until it is dissolved
(Secs. 456 and 487).

4. A resolution to wind up voluntarily operates as notice of discharge to
the employees of the company, except when the business is continued
by the Liquidator for the beneficial winding up of the company, or when
the liquidation is only with a view to ‘reconstruction’. But where an
employee has been appointed on contract basis and the term of contract
has not expired on the date of winding up, the resolution will operate as
a wrongful discharge of the employee and hence the company shall
believable for damages for the breach of contract (Reigate v. Union
Manufacturing Co.).

5. On the appointment of the Liquidator, all the powers of the Board of
Directors, Managing Director or Manager shall come to an end except:
(a) for the purpose of giving notice to the Registrar about any vacancy
occurring in the office of Liquidator and of the name of the Liquidator
appointed to fill such vacancy, or (b) insofar as the company in general
meeting or the Liquidator or the Committee of Inspection or the creditors
in a creditor’s voluntary winding up, may sanction the continuance of
their powers (Secs. 491 and 505).

6. The company’s creditors cannot file suits or continue any pending suits
against the company. They are required to lodge their claims and prove
their debts to the Liquidator. In case of disputed claims, however, a
voluntary winding up does not operate as a stay of any existing
proceedings or prevent the institution of new proceedings.

8. All transfers of shares or alterations in the status of the members, made
after the commencement of the winding up of the company, shall be
void, except when it is made with the permission of the Liquidator (Sec.
536).

Who Can Apply for Voluntary Winding Up

An application for the winding up of a company can be filed by:
1. Company itself.
2. Creditor.
3. Member.
4. Registrar of companies.
5. Liquidator

1. By the Company Itself

A company can file an application (petition) for its winding up, for which the members
of the company have passed a special resolution. Under section 484 of the Act,
companies can apply for winding up order only when its members pass a special
resolution for voluntary winding up. At the same time where the directors find the
company is insolvent (bankrupt) due to certain conditions which have to be examined
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by the court can formally request for winding up order on behalf of the company.
In such circumstances, a director may make a petition even without obtaining the
permission of the general meeting of the company.

2. By the Creditors of the Company

A creditor has a right to apply for winding up, if he can prove that the company
has failed to discharge his debt. The word ‘creditor’ includes secured creditor,
debenture holder and a trustee for debenture holder. Winding up can also be
obtained by secured or unsecured creditor. A creditor petition is generally based
on the ground that company is unable to pay its debt. A creditor is not supposed
to argue that a winding up order should be made on the ground that goodwill of
the company is gone which is usually the concern of the company’s shareholder.

3. By any Member or a Contributory

A member or a ‘contributory’ means any person who holds fully paid shares of the
company and in the winding up, who is liable to contribute to the assets of a
company. A member can apply for winding up on the following grounds:

(i) The number of members is reduced below the statutory minimum of seven
members in case of public company and two in case of private company.

(ii) If the shares in respect of which he is contributory or some of them
were originally allotted to him or have been held by him and registered
in his name for at least six out of the 18th months preceding the
commencement of the winding up or have developed upon him through
the death of the former holder.

As per Sec. 493(3), “A contributory shall be entitled to present a petition
for winding up a company notwithstanding that he may be the holder of fully paid
up shares, or that the company may have no assets at all or may have no surplus
assets left for distribution among the shareholder after the satisfaction of the liabilities”.

4. By the Registrar of a Companies

The registrar can file a petition where:
(i) A default is made in delivering the statutory report to him or in holding

the statutory meeting.
(ii) The company has not commenced its business within a year from its

incorporation.
(iii) The number of its member has fallen below the statutory minimum.
(iv) The financial condition of the company as disclosed in the balance sheet

or from the report of a special auditor appointed u/s 235 to 237 it appears
that it is unable to pay its debts.

(v) It is a just and equitable that the company be wound up.
(vi) There has arisen a default contemplated u/s 433.

5. By the Official Liquidator

An official liquidator can also apply for winding up of a company by the court or
even suggest a voluntary winding up subject to the supervision of the court. The
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court however shall not make a winding up order unless it is satisfied that the
voluntarily winding up or winding up subject to the supervision of the court in the
interest of the creditors or contributors or both.

Sec. 448 of the Act state that there shall be an official liquidator with each
High Court appointed by the Central Government, who is a whole-time officer.

In the case of K. Satish Kumar v. Official Liquidator, the Court has held
that a company cannot compel official liquidator to carry out any act, not considered
to be performed by him as a liquidator. Once liquidation commences, disposing of
the company’s property are generally void and legal action involving the company
should be avoided. Even after receiving such a petition, it is in the favor of the
court to pass the order of the winding up or not. The court can discharge the
application if it finds that the applicant is deliberately abstaining from an alternate
course of action. The Court while ordering for the winding up appoints an official
receiver, and one or more liquidators, and has general powers to discharge claims
of creditors and contributories. The creditors and contributories can nominate a
person for the appointment of liquidator and a supervisory liquidation committee
by conducting a meeting of themselves.

5.6 OFFICIAL LIQUIDATOR

Once the court passes winding up order of a company, the official liquidator who
is with the High court or district court act as the liquidator of the company. The
official liquidator looks after winding up and all the other functions as the court
may enforce. Once it receives a petition, the Court may also appoint a temporary
liquidator in order to study the exact situation, before making a winding up order.
Before making such appointment, the Court should give reasonable chance to the
company to clarify its position regarding the winding up petition. As per Sec. 454,
within 20 days of appointment from the date of appointment, the company has to
submit its statement of affairs to the official liquidator. Once the liquidator receives
statement of affairs, he has to give report on financial situation of the company
within six months.

Duties of Liquidator
1. The liquidator shall conduct the proceedings in winding up the company

and perform duties imposed by the Court [Secs. 451(1) and (3)].
2. As per Sec. 455(1), the Official Liquidator shall as soon as possible

after receipt of the statement of affairs of the company (to be submitted
u/s 454), and not later than 6 months from the date of the order of
winding up submit a preliminary report to the Court. The report shall
contain particulars:
(a) As to the amount of the capital issued, subscribed and paid-up and

the estimated amount of assets and liabilities;
(b) If the company has failed, as to the cause of the failure; and
(c) Whether, in his opinion, further inquiry is desirable as to any matter

relating to the promotion, formation or failure of the company or the
conduct of business thereof.
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3. As per Sec. 456 where a winding up order has been made or where a
provisional liquidator has been appointed, the liquidator/provisional
liquidator shall take into his custody all the property, effects and actionable
claims to which the company is entitled. So long as there is no liquidator,
all the property and effects of the company shall be deemed to be in the
custody of the Court.

4. Sec. 460 directs that the liquidator can exercise his powers in the
administration of the assets of the company and the distribution the same
among creditors, has to observe any directions which may be given by
resolution of the creditors or contributories at any general meeting or by
the committee of inspection. Any directions by the creditors or
contributories at any general meeting shall dominate any directions given
by the committee of inspection.

5. The liquidator may call for general meetings of the creditors or contributories
in order to ascertain their claims. He shall summon such meetings when
1/10th in value of the creditors or contributories, as the case may be by
resolution direct, or whenever requested in writing to do so.

6. The liquidator may apply to the Court for directions in relation to any
particular matter arising in winding up. He shall also use his own discretion
in the administration of the assets of the company and in the distribution
thereof among the creditors.

7. Sec. 461 states that the liquidator shall keep proper books for making
entries or recording minutes of the proceedings at meetings and such
other matters as may be prescribed for a creditor or contributory may,
subject to the control of the Court, inspect any such books personally
or by his agent.

8. According to section 462, the liquidator shall, at such times as may be
prescribed but at least twice each year during his tenure of office present
to the Court an account of his receipts and payments as liquidator. The
account shall be in the prescribed form, shall be made in duplicate, and
shall be duly verified. The Court shall cause the account to be audited.
For the purpose of the audit the liquidator shall furnish the Court with
such vouchers, information and the books as the Court may require.
One copy of the audited accounts shall be filed and kept by the Court.
The other copy of the account shall be delivered to the Registrar for
filing. Each copy shall be open to the inspection of any creditor,
contributory or person interested.
The liquidator shall cause the audited account or its summary to be
printed. He shall send a printed copy of the account or its summary by
post to every creditor and to every contributory. The Court may dispense
with compliance with this provision.

9. The Court as per Sec. 464 may at the time of making an order for the
winding up of a company, or at any time thereafter, direct that there shall
be appointed a committee of inspection to act with the liquidator.

10. The liquidator shall, as per Sec. 551, within 2 months of the expiry of
each year from the commencement of winding up, file a statement duly
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audited by a qualified auditor of the company with respect to the
proceedings in, and position of the liquidation. The statement shall be
filed:
(a) in the case of a winding up by or subject to the supervision of the

Court in Court; and
(b) In the case of a voluntary winding up, with the Registrar.
When the statement is filed in the Court, a copy shall simultaneously be
filed with the Registrar and shall be kept by him along with the other
records of the company.

Powers of Liquidator

1. Powers exercisable with the sanction of the Court [Sec. 457(1)]:
The liquidator in a winding by the Court shall have power, with the
sanction of the Court:
(a) To institute or defend suits and other legal proceedings, civil or

criminal, in the name and on behalf of the company.
(b) To carry on the business of the company so far as may be necessary

for the beneficial winding up of the company.
(c) To sell the immovable and movable property and its actionable

claims with power to transfer the whole or sell the same in parcels.
(d) To raise money on the security of the company’s assets – The assets

include all contributions which the liquidator is entitled to get from
the members, past or present as well as all assets which have been
misappropriated as against creditors [Stringer’s Case (1869)].

(e) To do all such other things as may be necessary for winding up the
affairs of the company and distributing its assets.

2. Powers exercisable without the sanction of the Court [Sec. 457(2)]:
The liquidator in a winding up by the Court shall have power, without
the sanction of the Court:
(a) To do all acts and to execute documents and deeds on behalf of the

company under its seal.
(b) To inspect the records and returns of the company or the files of the

Registrar without payment of any fee.
(c) To prove, rank and claim in the insolvency of any contributory for

any balance against his estate and to receive dividends.
(d) To draw, accept, make and endorse any bill of exchange, hundi or

promissory note on behalf of the company in the course of its business.
(e) To take out, in his official name, letters of administration to any

deceased contributory, and to do any other act necessary for obtaining
payment of any money due from a contributory or his estate.

(f) To appoint an agent to do any business which he is unable to do
himself.



Majority Powers and
Minority Rights

NOTES

Self-Instructional
216 Material

3. Powers exercisable in case of onerous contracts (Sec. 535): The
term ‘onerous’ means a right to property, e.g., a lease, in which the
obligations attaching to it exceed the advantage to be derived from it.
The liquidator may with the leave of the Court disclaim onerous contracts,
and properties.

Check Your Progress

3. Discuss about winding up of companies.

4. Explain various types of wnding up of companies.

5.7 ANSWERS TO ‘CHECK YOUR PROGRESS’

1. Discuss about Majority Powers and Minority Rights.
According to Sec. 47 of the Companies Act, 2013, holding any equity
shares shall have a proper to vote in respect of such capital on every decision
placed before the company. Member’s proper to vote is recognized because
the proper of assets and the shareholder can also workout it as he thinks in
shape consistent with his interest and preference. A special resolution requires
a majority of 3/4th of these votes at the meeting. Consequently, wherein the
act or the articles require a unique resolution for any cause, a 3/4th majority
is important and a simple majority isn’t sufficient.
Many provisions of Companies Act, 2013 deals with the situations where
minority shareholders rights have been protected and the same can be divided
into various major heads.
Therefore, right to apply to the company board for the oppression and
mismanagement is provided under section 399 that is, meeting 10% of
shareholding or hundred members or one-fifth members limit. However,
relevant government under their discretionary powers has allowed any
numbers of shareholders to apply for the company board for the relief under
Sections 397 and 398.

2. Explain about the Prevention of Oppression and Mismanagement.
According to Lord Keith, “Oppression means, lack of morality and fair
dealings in the affairs of the company which may be prejudicial to some
members of the company.
The term mismanagement refers to the process or practice of managing
ineptly, incompetently, or dishonestly. However it is to be noted that the
terms are not defined under the Companies Act and is left to the discretion
of the court to decide on the facts of the case whether there is oppression
or mismanagement of minority or not.
A company is a distinct entity separate from the owners of the company
where management and ownership is separated by a thin line of roles and
responsibilities bestowed upon themselves. In a broad sense it is a group of
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persons who have come together or who have contributed money for some
common purpose and have incorporated themselves into distinct legal entity.
The whole scheme of the Companies Act is to ensure proper conduct of the
affairs of the company in public interest and preservation of image of country
in public interest.

3. Discuss about Winding up of companies.
Winding up of a company is a process of putting an end to the life of a
company. It is a proceeding by means of which a company is dissolved and
in the course of such a dissolution its assets are collected, its debts are paid
off out of the assets of the company or from contributions by its members,
if necessary. If any surplus is left, it is distributed among the members in
accordance with their rights.
The process of selling all the assets of a business, paying off creditors,
distributing any remaining assets to the principals or parent company, and
then dissolving the business. Winding up can refer to such a process either
for a specific business line of a corporation or to the dissolution of a
corporation itself.

4. Explain various types of Winding up of companies.
(i) Compulsory Winding Up by Tribunal: Section 271 of the

Companies Act provides that a Tribunal may pass an order to wind
up a Company under the following cases, as explained under Section
271(1) of the Companies Act, 2013.

(ii) Voluntary Winding Up: There are two statutory circumstances
under section 304 of the Companies Act, 2013, under which a
company can be voluntarily wound up.

5.8 SUMMARY

According to Sec. 47 of the Companies Act, 2013, holding any equity
shares shall have a proper to vote in respect of such capital on every decision
placed before the company. Member’s proper to vote is recognized because
the proper of assets and the shareholder can also workout it as he thinks in
shape consistent with his interest and preference. A special resolution requires
a majority of 3/4th of these votes at the meeting. Consequently, wherein the
act or the articles require a unique resolution for any cause, a 3/4th majority
is important and a simple majority isn’t sufficient.
Many provisions of Companies Act, 2013 deals with the situations where
minority shareholders rights have been protected and the same can be divided
into various major heads.
Therefore, right to apply to the company board for the oppression and
mismanagement is provided under section 399, i.e., meeting 10% of
shareholding or hundred members or one-fifth members’ limit. However,
relevant government under their discretionary powers has allowed any
numbers of shareholders to apply for the company board for the relief under
Sections 397 and 398.
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According to Lord Keith, “Oppression means, lack of morality and fair
dealings in the affairs of the company which may be prejudicial to some
members of the company”.
The term mismanagement refers to the process or practice of managing
ineptly, incompetently, or dishonestly. However, it is to be noted that the
terms are not defined under the Companies Act and is left to the discretion
of the court to decide on the facts of the case whether there is oppression
or mismanagement of minority or not.
A company is a distinct entity separate from the owners of the company
where management and ownership is separated by a thin line of roles and
responsibilities bestowed upon themselves. In a broad sense, it is a group
of persons who have come together or who have contributed money for
some common purpose and have incorporated themselves into distinct legal
entity. The whole scheme of the Companies Act is to ensure proper conduct
of the affairs of the company in public interest and preservation of image of
country in public interest.
Winding up of a company is a process of putting an end to the life of a
company. It is a proceeding by means of which a company is dissolved and
in the course of such a dissolution its assets are collected, its debts are paid
off out of the assets of the company or from contributions by its members,
if necessary. If any surplus is left, it is distributed among the members in
accordance with their rights.
The process of selling all the assets of a business, paying off creditors,
distributing any remaining assets to the principals or parent company, and
then dissolving the business. Winding up can refer to such a process either
for a specific business line of a corporation or to the dissolution of a
corporation itself.
Companies Act provides that a Tribunal may pass an order to wind up a
Company under the following cases, as explained under Section 271(1) of
the Companies Act, 2013.
Voluntary Winding Up – There are two statutory circumstances under section
304 of the Companies Act, 2013 under which a company can be voluntarily
wound up. They are;
If the company in general meeting passes a resolution requiring the company
to be wound up voluntarily as a result of the expiry of the period for its
duration, if any, fixed by its articles or on the occurrence of any event in
respect of which the articles provide that the company should be dissolved;
or if the company passes a special resolution that the company be wound
up voluntarily.

5.9 KEY TERMS

Majority Powers: Majority power is a decision rule that selects alternatives
which have a majority, that is, more than half the votes. It is the binary
decision rule used most often in influential decision-making bodies, including
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all the legislatures of democratic nations. It follows that the majority of the
members enjoy the supreme authority to exercise the powers of the company
and generally to control its affairs and the minority shareholders have to
concede to the majority decision.
Minority Rights: Minority rights are based on the recognition that minorities
are in a vulnerable situation in comparison to other groups in society, namely
the majority population, and aim to protect members of a minority group
from discrimination, assimilation, prosecution, hostility or violence, as a
consequence of their status
Oppression: Oppression means lack of morality and fair dealings in the
affairs of the company which may be prejudicial to some members of the
company
Mismanagement: The term mismanagement refers to the process or
practice of managing ineptly, incompetently, or dishonestly. However, it is
to be noted that the terms are not defined under the Companies Act and is
left to the discretion of the court to decide on the facts of the case whether
there is oppression or mismanagement of minority or not.
Winding up of a Company: Winding up of a company is a process of
putting an end to the life of a company. It is a proceeding by means of which
a company is dissolved and in the course of such a dissolution its assets are
collected, its debts are paid off out of the assets of the company or from
contributions by its members, if necessary. If any surplus is left, it is distributed
among the members in accordance with their rights.
Voluntary Winding Up: There are two statutory circumstances under
section 304 of the Companies Act, 2013 under which a company can be
voluntarily wound up.

5.10 SELF-ASSESSMENT QUESTIONS AND
EXERCISES

Short Answer Questions
1. Give the meaning of winding up.
2. Define of winding up.
3. What is compulsory winding up by the court?
4. What is voluntary winding up?
5. What is winding up under the supervision of the court?
6. What is a member’s voluntary winding up?
7. Why choose a member's voluntary winding up?
8. Who shall carry out the winding up procedure?
9. Who is an official liquidator?
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Long Answer Questions

1. Discuss about Majority Powers and Minority Rights.
2. Explain the needs for corporate social responsibility.
3. Explain the nature of corporate social responsibility.
4. Explain various modes of winding up company.
5. Write note on commencement of winding up.
6. What are the consequences of winding up order?
7. Give the duties and powers of liquidator.
8. Explain reasons for the winding up.

5.11 FURTHER READING

Rup Ram Gupta and Vidya Saran Gupta (1989), Indian Company Law,
Agra Book Store.
Madhu Tyagi and Arun Kumar (2006), Company Law, Atlantic Publishers
& Distribution.
Shubham Sinha (2015), The Company Law of India – Business Law:
Indian Law Series, Indian Law. Create Space Independent Publishing
Platform.
Shri G. Sekar (2014), The Companies Act 2013: Companies Act 2013
(New Companies Act), Shree Guru Kripa’s Institute of Management.
Nolakha Ratan (2015), Company Law and Practice, Vikas Publishing
House.
Taxmann (2021), Taxmann’s Companies Act with Rules, Taxmann
Publications Private Limited.
A.K. Majumar and Dr. G.K. Kapoor (2009), Company Law and
Practice, Taxmann Publications Private Limited.


